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AN OVERVIEW OF MTC’S 2020 INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT

A SNAPSHOT OF MTC

HOW WE GOVERN MTC

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S STRATEGIC OVERVIEW

Welcome to the integrated annual report of Mobile Telecommunications Limited (MTC). The report
explains how MTC creates value for its stakeholders over the short, medium and long term as a
telecommunications provider, a taxpayer, an employer and a social investor.

This report’s scope and boundary

Forward-looking statements

MTC is a public company registered in terms of the Companies Act,
2004 (Act 28 of 2004), as amended (Companies Act). MTC is wholly
owned by Namibia Post and Telecom Holdings Limited (NPTH), a
government entity. MTC plans to apply for a listing on the Namibian
Stock Exchange (NSX), and the Communications Regulatory Authority
of Namibia (CRAN) extended the listing process to be within 24 months,
ending September 2022.
This report is intended for current and potential future shareholders
and other interested stakeholders. It reports on the performance of
MTC’s operations for the period 1 October 2019 to 30 September 2020
and includes relevant, material developments between 1 October 2020
and the date of publication.
The following laws, regulations and frameworks informed the
preparation of this report:
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•

Companies Act

•

Corporate Governance Code for Namibia (NamCode)

•

King Report on Corporate GovernanceTM for South Africa, 20161
(King IV)

•

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)

An enhanced focus on material matters, which are defined as the
matters that have or could materially impact MTC’s ability to create
value in the short, medium and long term (page 42)

•

Enhanced disclosure on MTC’s risk management process and how it is
aligned with strategy development and implementation (page 39)

•

Improved disclosure on MTC’s governance approach and practices,
including the milestones achieved in preparing MTC for the role of
a listed company (page 13)

1
2

Mobile
Telecommunications
Limited

MTC does not undertake any obligation to publicly update or revise any
of its opinions or forward-looking statements, whether to reflect new
data or future events or circumstances. The financial information on
which the forward-looking statements are based has not been audited
or reported on by MTC’s independent external auditors.

100%

How MTC ensured the accuracy and
completeness of this report

MTC increased its adoption of selected elements of the IIRC <IR>
Framework2 in the preparation of the report and will continue its
reporting journey towards full compliance with the Framework. The
2020 report includes several areas of improvement, most notably:
•

100%

This report contains certain forward-looking statements on the results
and operations of MTC. These are based on estimates and assumptions
made by MTC. Although MTC believes that these are reasonable, they
are inherently uncertain and may not eventuate. Factors which may
cause the actual results, performance or achievements to be materially
different from any future results, performance or achievements
expressed or implied in those statements or assumptions, include
matters not yet known to MTC or not currently considered material
by MTC.

Namibia Post
and Telecom
Holdings Limited

Jurgens
Thirty Four
Proprietary Limited

Windhoek
General Administrators
Proprietary Limited

100%

100%*

Stakeholders
•
•
•
•

Shareholder and potential
shareholders
Employees
Customers
Distributors

* Dormant

Copyright and trademarks are owned by the Institute of Directors in South Africa NPC and all of its rights are reserved.
International Integrated Reporting Council’s (IIRC) Integrated Reporting (<IR>) Framework.

•
•
•
•

Smart partners
Regulators and local authorities
Media
Civil society

The 2020 integrated annual report was reviewed by each member of
MTC’s Executive Committee (Exco), internal audit and the Audit, Risk
and IT Governance Committee, and approved by the Board.

BOARD APPROVAL
The Board of Directors (Board) has taken responsibility for ensuring
the integrity and completeness of this report. With the support
of the Board committees, the Board assessed the content of the
report and believes it fairly represents MTC’s performance and
prospects. The Board approved the 2020 integrated annual report on
7 December 2020.

Theofelus Mberirua
Chairperson

Licky Erastus
Chief Executive Officer (CEO)
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HOW WE GOVERN MTC

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S STRATEGIC OVERVIEW

MTC AT A GLANCE
MTC is the largest mobile telecommunications operator in Namibia, with 2.6 million active customers. For 26 years, MTC has grown revenue and
retained customers by providing voice and data services and solutions to postpaid and prepaid individual and business customers through its extensive
telecommunications transmission and distribution network.

23.3% of revenue
N$340 ARPU1

60% businesses | 40% individual
38 service plans, including Netman,
Mobiz and ShartShare packages

•

10 LTE data packages

•

15 Business solution packages

1

ARPU (N$)

400

385

406

•

Multiple Aweh

•

Taamba Advance

•

Taamba Gifting

•

Taamba Transfer

ARPU (N$)
60

402

55

346
350

340

56
51

51

2016

2017

52

54

50
45

300
2016

2017

2018

2019

2020

26 of these networks

with roaming partner networks
across

allow for prepaid roaming

146 countries

12.3% of total revenue
(handsets 10.9% | roaming 1.8%)2
2

2020 revenue was significantly impacted by COVID-19
lockdowns. In 2019, roaming and handsets contributed
9% of revenue (handsets 5%, roaming 4%).

ROAMING AND
HANDSETS

334 agreements

NEW REVENUE
STREAMS

4

450

60.4% of total revenue
N$56.3 ARPU

Innovative new offerings

Average revenue per user.

POSTPAID

•

2.421 million
subscribers

PREPAID

154 129 subscribers

2018

2019

2020

Digitally enabled value-added services
•

Content via web, SMS and other messaging technologies

•

Premium video content via smartphones and internet-enabled feature phones

Fixed services for businesses
•

Fibre to the office and home

•

Secure cloud and private branch exchange (PBX) hosted solutions

0.2% of total revenue,

and projected to grow to 1.57% of revenue by 2021

Serviced by an extensive distribution network, 35 mobile homes, 29 dealerships (airtime sellers and distributors), 24-hour customer contact centre, digital
channels and a network management and technical quality centre (immediate response to customer complaints).
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WHAT SETS MTC APART

A LEADER IN INNOVATION

Leading market position
91% mobile market share in the Namibian telecommunications market

MTC has smart partnerships with industry leaders to keep up with technology
and bring new concepts and services to Namibia.

Extensive transmission and distribution networks
97% population coverage now and 100% planned by 2023 as a shared
commitment to increase access to all Namibians for social and economic
prosperity

The company’s position at the forefront of innovation is demonstrated by its
track record as the first to:
•

Establish a 24-hour contact centre in Namibia

•

Strong customer relationships drive brand value and revenue growth
MTC is the most admired Namibian brand (Brand Africa, 2020)

Take to market a prepaid subscription service that bundles voice, SMS and
data with its seven-day Aweh offerings

•

Respected, fully Namibian Board, experienced executive team and
670 employees serving 2.6 million customers

Design and market unique data advancing, sharing and gifting options with
the Taamba range

•

Solid financial position allows nimble response to customer needs
• No gearing and cash generative

Commercially launch LTE in Africa and launch commercial use of LTEadvanced (LTE-A) and 4.5G LTE in Africa

•

Successfully trial 4.5G technology in Africa

•

Deploy self-help kiosks or vending machines for its products and services

•

Open an Innovation Centre and foster a collaborative innovation drive with
tertiary institutions and entrepreneurs

•

Stable earnings

•

Strong shareholder returns

REVENUE (N$ MILLION)

RETURN ON EQUITY (%)
50

2 750
2 500

2 614
2 324

2 421

2 683

45.1

47.2

45

41.6

2 498
40

34.5

35

2 250

OUR VISION
To be the best digital enabler that
meets customer needs

1
OUR MISSION
To improve the lives of our
customers through innovative
digital solutions and highly skilled
human capital

Details of the performance are discussed later in the report.

3 000

CORPORATE INFORMATION

36.4

2

30

2 000
2016

2017

2018

2019

2016

2020

2017

2018

EBITDA1 (N$ MILLION)

DIVIDENDS PAID (N$ MILLION)

1 600

1 000

2019

2020

3

978

1 496
1 500

1 397

1 403

Integrity (trust, transparency)
481

1 305

489

475

1 300

374

Customer centricity

413

Stakeholder inclusivity
Innovation

300

1 200
2016
1

WHAT WE VALUE

650

1 345

1 400

825

2017

2018

2019

2020

2016

2017

2018

2019

2020

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation.
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S STRATEGIC OVERVIEW

FROM PIONEER TO MARKET LEADER
As a wholly owned subsidiary of Namibia Post and Telecom Holdings Limited (a wholly owned subsidiary
of the Namibian government) and a dominant participant in Namibia’s telecommunications market, MTC is
positioned to be a digital enabler of change. MTC’s mobile network covers 97% of Namibia’s population and
87.4% of Namibians have access to mobile broadband.
We are committed to covering 100% of the Namibian population and improving the lives of customers through
innovative digital solutions that will enable us to be the best digital provider that meets customer expectations.
We are fulfilling our commitments through innovative digital solutions, the expansion of MTC’s services to
Namibians in remote rural areas and our continued efforts to ensure our infrastructure supports the needs of
customers. MTC is the most admired brand in Namibia (Brand Africa, 2020).

1 million

500 000
6

100 000
Subscriber numbers

1998

2000

2001

2002

•

MTC upgraded its 3G network to higher
speeds (2006)

•

MTC’s revenue doubled between 2006
and 2011

•

By 2011 MTC held 97% of market share,
90% market penetration

2006

2007

2008

2009

1994 – 2004

2005 – 2011

MTC was established in 1994 in a joint venture between the Namibian government (through NPTH which held a 51%
majority) and two Swedish entities, Telia and Swedfund.

In 2006 Portugal Telecom acquired a 34% shareholding in MTC. Portugal Telecom (through its subsidiary
Africatel) delivers fixed, mobile, multimedia, data and corporate solutions.

In 2004, Swedfund and Telia sold their 49% shareholding to NPTH.

MTC’s initial strategy was based on providing mobile services (first wave of the information era). The
company realigned its strategy in response to growing demand for web and ecommerce services during
the internet era (second wave).
After 2006, the third wave heralded smart phones, mobile applications and cloud services.
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2.5 million

2 million

1.5 million

2010

2011

2012

•

Internet penetration increased but mobile voice slowed down

•

4G LTE launched in Windhoek; extended to coast and north in 2013

•

4G LTE roll-out required major investments to provide additional
bandwidth (West Africa Cable System (WACS))

•

Convergent offerings such as SmartShare boosted internet and
mobile services on customers’ phones

2013

2014

2018

•

MTC was first to trial 4.5G in Africa (2016)

•

In 2017, 081Every1 was launched – MTC’s
largest investment project to date at a
cost of N$1 billion

•

Launched cloud and fibre-to-the-x (FTTX)
(2018)

•

By 2019 MTC held an estimated 91% of
mobile market share, with estimated
111% (CRAN, December 2018)

•

By 2020, MTC grew its market share of
the fixed-line services market – a new
revenue line – and offers a total solution
to the subscribers

•

MTC prepares to list on the NSX

09/2019

7

09/2020

2012 – 2015

2016 – 2020

MTC maintained its market leadership position in Namibia and was at the forefront of
telecommunications development. In 2012 MTC was the second operator in Africa, after Angola,
to launch 4G.

Oi Brazil acquired Portugal Telecom in 2017 and became Africatel’s controlling shareholder. However,
Samba DutchCo took control of the shareholding as Portugal Telecom held MTC under a subsidiary,
Samba DutchCo, and agreed to sell the shares to NPTH. The shares were eventually transferred to NPTH
subject to licence conditions, and MTC was once again a wholly owned subsidiary of NPTH.

To prepare for the anticipated growth in demand for mobile data services, MTC invested
USD15 million in the WACS in 2012 to ensure increased internet capacity and connectivity for
its business and customers.

Since 2016, MTC has invested in technology, systems and infrastructure to deliver the 081Every1 project
and cloud and FTTX solutions for individual and business customers.
MTC is now an advanced Namibian entity, preparing to broaden Namibian ownership of its shares.
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ENABLING NAMIBIA
Information communication technology (ICT) is one of the fastest growing industries and creates millions of jobs worldwide. ICT enables innovation,
development and economic growth. As Namibia’s largest telecommunications provider, we leverage our network and market position to enable the
country and help stakeholders to build a sustainable future together.
Connecting all Namibians

Supporting homegrown technology

The 081Every1 project to extend MTC’s network to
100% of Namibians is bridging the divide between
urban and rural communities and stimulating
economic inclusion and development in rural areas.
In addition, we continue to increase coverage at
schools (84%) and hospitals (87%).

Through MTC’s new Innovation Centre and
smart partnerships, we are advancing Namibian
technology. Our collaborations with academia and
innovators are providing platforms to showcase
the ideas and innovations that will drive the next
generation of telecommunications experiences for
Namibians.

Read more on page 56 to 57.

connect with
who matters most

8

MTC Innovation Centre’s first product, the SaveMyCity
application (app), allowed the government to engage
with citizens during the COVID-19 lockdown.
Read more on page 30.

Creating sustainable employment

Contributing to public finances

We are committed to creating opportunities for
670 employees to fulfil their potential. We also
seek solutions for new entrants to the job market
by enabling work experience and opportunities
through MTC’s National Internship programme.

As a leading Namibian business and responsible
corporate citizen, we support Namibia’s economic
and social development by contributing to the
tax base (N$345.9 million in 2020). We also pay
a significant portion of profit in dividends to our
government-owned shareholder.

Read more on page 68.

Read more on page 51.
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How we govern MTC
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CHAIRPERSON’S MESSAGE
Despite the significant economic and COVID-19-related risks Namibia experienced during 2020, we
continued on the journey of preparing MTC for listing, aligning our governance with that of a public
company and fulfilling our vision of being a digital enabler.
Although Namibia experienced a relatively low COVID-19 health
impact, actions taken to prevent the spread of the virus worsened an
already weak economy, particularly the tourism and related sectors.
This impacted the financial position of customers who lost work and
income during the lockdown.
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However, the telecommunications industry experienced a surge in
demand for mobile and fixed-line services as work and lifestyle patterns
changed, increasing the reliance of individuals and businesses on digital
connectivity. Our teams worked relentlessly to enable customers to
continue working, transacting, learning across school and tertiary levels
and connecting socially from the comfort of their homes. This enabled us
to strengthen brand loyalty, retain and grow our valuable customer base
and maintain our track record of sound financial performance.

Listing MTC on the Namibian Stock
Exchange
The planned listing of MTC’s shares on the NSX was interrupted by
COVID-19 restrictions which impacted financial markets, reduced
investor appetite and stalled the local and cross-border investor
engagement programme.
To ensure a successful listing that allows MTC to achieve its objectives
of a broader shareholder base, including broad-based Namibian
ownership in MTC, and an acceptable return for our current
shareholder, MTC was granted permission to delay the listing to no
later than September 2022. MTC’s intention is to list as per the set
requirements, but the decision will be based on market conditions and
MTC’s fulfilment of the NSX’s requirements.

Embedding good governance
The MTC Board is unreservedly committed to applying the fundamental
principles of good governance – transparency, integrity, accountability
and responsibility, and fairness – in all dealings by, in respect of and
on behalf of MTC.

We continued to enhance the fundamental principles of good
governance during 2020, embedding the governance policies
and listing rules of the NSX incrementally ahead of the listing and
adopting the principles of King IV as appropriate. Some of the NSX
policies require shareholder approval, notably changes to the articles
of association and the dividend policy, exemption from the Public
Enterprises Governance Act, 2019 (Act 1 of 2019) (PEGA) which governs
state-owned enterprises, and an staff share scheme. We have submitted
our proposed amendments to the shareholder for consideration.
The Board worked with management to review and continuously
strengthen MTC’s governance structures, policies and processes. In
addition, the Board completed the following key actions during 2020:
• Inducted two new Non-executive Directors appointed by

the shareholder, both of whom are women, and rotated the
chairmanship. These appointments strengthened the independence
of our leadership and improved diversity of skills and expertise, age
and gender.
•

Appointed the CEO, Chief Commercial Officer (CCO) and Chief
Technical and Information Officer (CTIO).

•

Reviewed the Board Charter and each Board committee’s terms of
reference.

•

Reviewed and revised the delegation of authority to ensure the
correct levels of delegation.

•

Reviewed and refined the business strategy in consultation with
management to maintain its governance oversight for strategic
direction and performance.

The Board regularly reviews risk and opportunity in MTC’s internal and
external environment and ensures that comprehensive, appropriate
internal controls are in place to manage and mitigate the impact of
risks and capitalise on opportunities. During 2020, the Board refined
its risk assessment process to align it with the strategy. For more
information on the risks we manage, refer to page 38.
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Stakeholder engagement is routinely examined to ensure that MTC responds appropriately to stakeholder expectations and concerns and that we
build strong relationships to create lasting value together. For more information on stakeholder engagement, refer to page 36.

Changing our leadership
On 21 November 2019, Minister Simataa announced my appointment as Independent Non-executive Chairman. Taschiona !Gawaxab and
Rosalia Shipiki were appointed Independent Non-executive Directors, broadening the skills diversity and bringing valuable IT and legal expertise
to the Board. At the same time, the Minister announced the end of tenure for Tulimeke Munyika and Lorna Mbwale. My colleagues and I welcome
Ms !Gawaxab and Ms Shipiki and wish Ms Munyika and Ms Mbwale well in their future careers.
Dr Licky Erastus was appointed CEO from 1 December 2019. On 1 November 2019, Melvin Angula, previously MTC’s General Manager: Enterprise
Solutions, was appointed CCO and Ms Monica Nehemia was appointed CTIO with effect from August 2020.
The Board met eight times during the year under review. During the COVID-19 lockdown we conducted meetings virtually.

Creating value for stakeholders

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Taking care of our communities
During the COVID-19 lockdown, MTC focused on joining hands with the
City of Windhoek to provide humanitarian relief to the most vulnerable
communities in Namibia. We approved funding of N$1 million for
several emergency interventions to provide food, water and shelter
to informal settlements and homeless people in Windhoek. The newly
established MTC Innovation Centre developed the SaveMyCity app to
allow Namibia’s national government to engage with citizens during
the lockdown. We partnered with the Ministry of Health and Social
Services to distribute educational messages and advice on COVID-19
to our 2.6 million subscribers. MTC also introduced the Triple my Data
campaign to ensure that customers were supported in their remote
work environments.

Empowering our employees

Enhancing shareholder returns
The Board declared dividends of N$977.8 million, comprising an ordinary dividend of N$211 million and a special dividend of N$400 million which
were paid in December 2019 and an ordinary dividend of N$366.8 million paid in June 2020. Having paid dividends of 100% of net profit after tax
(NPAT) in 2020 after considering MTC’s positive cash balances and targeted return on equity, the Board recommended an amended dividend policy
for approval by the shareholder. The recommendation is a dividend declaration of a minimum of 50% of NPAT.
Over the past decade, MTC has distributed an accumulated N$6.345 billion in dividends to shareholders.

MTC recognises the critical role employees play in retaining customer
loyalty. In addition to employee training and development programmes,
we equipped employees to work from home during the lockdown and
focused on talent management and succession planning to ensure
that we continue to meet our human resource requirements in a
competitive skills market. Specific interventions, including a mentorship
programme, were implemented to retain talented employees and
prepare them to take up more senior positions in future.

DIVIDENDS PAID (N$ MILLION)
6 345

7 000
5 250
3 500
1 750
0

2 626

3 088

3 610

4 091

4 580

4 954

5 367

1 901

2 242

364

341

384

462

522

481

489

374

413

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

Accumulated dividends paid

978
2020

Annual dividends paid
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My first year as
Chairperson was
turbulent, but it was
also an important period

HOW WE GOVERN MTC

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S STRATEGIC OVERVIEW

Acknowledgement

Looking ahead

My sincere appreciation goes to our management and employees
who are to be highly commended for maintaining MTC’s strong and
stable operational and financial performance during difficult market
conditions. I am also deeply grateful to my fellow Board members and
the Board committees for the guidance they provided throughout the
year to ensure that we addressed the COVID-19 risks proactively and
effectively, while maintaining the normal running of the company. The
continuing support we receive from customers, service providers and
other partners, and the robust but professional engagement with the
regulator, is also greatly appreciated.

In 2020, we navigated a challenging external environment as we
strengthened MTC’s position in new growth markets, improved our
customer service and experience and fulfilled our national mandate.
During the year ahead, the Board will focus on:
•

Concluding the first external independent evaluation of the Board,
Board committees, individual directors and the Chairperson

•

Establishing a Nominations Committee to nominate directors for
Board approval

confirmation that there

•

Conducting Board training to enhance understanding of the roles
and responsibilities of directors and ensure governance compliance

is as much opportunity

•

Continuing to strengthen the integrated reporting processes to
improve consistency and accuracy, inform decision-making and
provide balanced reporting to stakeholders

•

Strengthening business planning processes, in consultation with
management, to improve the accuracy of the valuation of MTC

•

Developing a structure to accommodate smart partnerships

of introspection and

as there is risk for the
12
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industry during periods
of disruption.

Information on MTC’s outlook is included in the Going forward chapter
on page 69.

Theofelus Mberirua
Chairperson
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GOVERNANCE
As a public company with a mandate from government to contribute to economic inclusion and growth
in Namibia, MTC has a responsibility for good governance. The Board is committed to the highest
standards of governance, business integrity, ethical conduct and professionalism, and recognises that
these principles underpin its ability to create value.
The Board complies with the Companies Act and continues to make progress in its journey to implement the principles of good governance as set
out in NamCode and King IV.

Governance milestones

2018

2019

2020

•

The Board reassessed governance after the sale of privately held MTC shares to
NPTH (the shareholder)

•

Embarked on a two-year journey to enhance fundamental principles of
governance and prepare MTC for listing

•

Established committees to assist the Board in its oversight role

•

Reviewed and updated the Board Charter to formalise the delegation of authority between NPTH, the Board and Exco

•

Approved various Board committees’ terms of reference

•

Separated roles of legal advisory and company secretary to strengthen the governance focus

•

Embarked on an integrated reporting journey with publication of the first integrated annual report to stakeholders

•

Made progress with listing preparation, including submission of proposals for NSX compliance to NPTH for approval

•

Developed and implemented new risk management and IT policies

•

Developed risk appetite and risk tolerance guidelines

•

Developed a new stakeholder engagement plan

•

Revised the delegation of authority policy to ensure the correct levels of delegation in the company and align to best practice

Integrated Annual Report 2020
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Board members
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Theofelus Mberirua (58)

Toini Nuusiku Zimina Muteka (39)

Stephen Stuart Galloway (63)

Elia Elvis Nashilongo (49)

Independent
Non-executive Chairperson

Independent Non-executive Deputy
Chairperson

Independent Non-executive Director

Independent Non-executive Director

MBA

BA, PG Diploma: Business Management
Administration

BCom (Hons), BSc (Hons)

MIB/MBA, BA: Communication and
Industrial Psychology)

Director of Telepassport Namibia and
Western National Insurance

Banker

GM: Operations, Government Institutions
Pension Fund

Executive at Vivo Energy Namibia Limited

Appointed to Board: April 2019

Appointed to Board: April 2019

Appointed to Board: 2016

Appointed to Board: 2016

Appointed Chairperson: December 2019

Appointed Deputy Chairperson:
November 2019

Tenure as director: 4 years

Chairperson: 2016 – 2019

Mining, public sector, banking,
strategy experience: 40 years

Tenure as director: 4 years

Tenure as director: 18 months
Accounting, banking,
telecommunications-related
experience: 40 years

Tenure as director: 18 months
HR, business management experience:
13 years

Corporate and strategic
communication and marketing,
stakeholder engagement
experience, strategic operations
management: 20 years
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Werner Schuckmann (54)

Rosalia Dalulilua Ruusa Shipiki (50)

Taschiona !Gawaxab (40)

Independent Non-executive Director

Independent Non-executive Director

Independent Non-executive Director

CA(NAM), CA(SA)

LLB

Country Manager at Osino Resources

Executive at Namibia Statistics Agency

Microsoft certified system expert, Cisco
certified network professional

CORPORATE INFORMATION
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Senior IT Operations Manager at FirstRand
Namibia Group
Managing Director of Kitago Investments
Appointed to Board: April 2019

Appointed to Board: November 2019

Appointed to Board: November 2019

Tenure as director: 18 months

Tenure as director: 11 months

Tenure as director: 11 months

Accounting, financial, business management
in the banking, fishing, construction,
aviation and industrial industries: 30 years

Legal, company secretarial, asset
management, regulatory experience:
21 years

Business management, IT experience:
12 years
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Board composition
as at 30 September 2020

Composition and independence

Diversity

Composition and independence

Policy:

Policy:

The Board should ensure that it collectively contains the mix of knowledge, skills, experience, personalities and diversity appropriate to secure
MTC’s strategic direction and sound performance.

The Board is unitary and should comprise a minimum of four
directors1, the majority of whom are Independent Non-executive
Directors. The Board should be led by an Independent Nonexecutive Chairperson.

Diversity in gender – % women
DIVERSITY IN GENDER (% WOMEN)

Average age of all directors

60

In discharging their roles, directors must always act independently
in what they personally believe to be the best interest of MTC.
Directors should recuse themselves in matters in which they have
a conflict of interest.

50

50

40

40

7
16

independent Non-Executive
Directors, including Chairperson

Diversity in age

33

0

43

Average age of 0 – 3 years tenure

33

48 years

30

Executive
Directors

50 years

20
2016

2017

2018

2019

2020

Average age of 3 – 6 years tenure

56 years

Tenure

Diversity in race – % previously disadvantaged
DIVERSITY IN RACE (% AFRICAN, COLOURED AND INDIAN)

Policy:
Board members should be appointed by the shareholder for a term
of three years and shall be eligible for reappointment in line with the
principles of the applicable governance codes.

80

75
70

70

71

60

0 – 3 years

3 – 6 years

T Mberirua
TNZ Muteka
RR Shipiki
TC !Gawaxab
W Schuckmann

EE Nashilongo
SS Galloway

No directors have
served for more than
six years

50

50

50

40
2016

1

2017

2018

2019

2020

To align the updated Board Charter with the Articles of Association, the minimum
number of directors was decreased from six to four.

The Board’s areas of skills, knowledge, expertise and
experience are:
Business and strategic management

(%)
71

Accounting and financial services

57

Telecommunications

14

Information technology (IT)

14

Human resources (HR)

14

Communication and marketing

14

Law

14

Stakeholder engagement

14
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The Board’s roles and responsibilities
MTC’s Board is central to the company’s governance system and is
ultimately accountable and responsible for the performance and
activities of MTC. The Board is primarily responsible for:
•

Determining MTC’s values and giving the company strategic
direction

•

Identifying key risk areas and key performance indicators (KPIs) of
MTC’s business

•

Monitoring the performance of MTC against agreed objectives

•

Advising on significant financial matters

•

Recruiting and reviewing the performance of executive management
against defined objectives and applicable industry standards

MTC’s shareholder, NPTH, plays a limited role in MTC’s governance,
dealing at arm’s length in the Board’s areas of responsibility and acting
only when it is necessary to grant approvals within its mandate. The
shareholder appoints directors and auditors, exercises powers in the
annual general meeting that are not directly conferred on directors and
holds the Board accountable for governance.

Board Charter
The Board Charter is an integral part of each director’s letter of
appointment. The charter assigns roles and responsibilities to the
Board and clearly demarcates matters reserved for the Board’s decision,
sometimes on recommendations made by Board committees. The
Board reviewed the charter in 2020 to ensure that it remains relevant
to MTC’s business objectives.

Board effectiveness
The Board keeps abreast of governance principles and this process was
intensified while MTC prepares for listing. The ongoing development of
directors was addressed by training and regular briefings on matters
relevant to MTC.

BOARD PERFORMANCE AND
EVALUATION
To ensure that the Board conducts its mandate for oversight
of governance effectively, the Board Charter prescribes
the annual evaluation of the performance, processes and
procedures of the Board, Board committees, individual
directors and the Chairperson.
The Board’s performance is measured and managed against
KPIs set by NPTH and governance parameters as per the
governance codes. The first external independent evaluation
of the Board, Board committees and individual directors
commenced in October 2020, in consultation with the
Company Secretary and Board Chairperson.
The Board intends to maintain performance assessment as
an annual practice in its governance framework.

Board induction

Embedding ethical conduct

Incoming directors undergo a formal induction process to enhance
their understanding of the company’s business activities and their
governance roles and responsibilities. In January 2020, the full Board
participated in an induction programme. This included an address
by the CEO, departmental presentations, visits to key technical and
commercial operational sites and a visit to the MTC Innovation Centre.

Board members, executives and employees are expected to sign and
comply with the company’s Code of Conduct which guides ethical
behaviour. This includes formal processes for the declaration of interests
that may represent a conflict. MTC has embarked on a refresher course
for all employees to reinforce and reward ethical behaviour.

MTC encourages employees to report unethical behaviour through the
company’s employee engagement forum, their line managers, the HR
Department or anonymously through the 24-hour toll-free MTC hotline.
Unethical behaviour is addressed through disciplinary processes and
procedures.
Employees are also encouraged to highlight ethical behaviour to reward
and embed it in MTC’s culture.

Governing risk and compliance
During its annual policy review, the Board developed and implemented
a risk management policy. A further outcome of the policy review
was the development and implementation of a data protection and
cybersecurity policy, which is necessary in conducting business and
protecting MTC in a rapidly evolving digital technology environment.
Our compliance management and reporting obligations are supported
by internal controls, including a system that issues regulatory updates
and reminders to the responsible employees. MTC has not been
penalised, sanctioned or fined for non-compliance and no regulatory
inspections have been conducted in 2020.
For more information on the risks we manage, refer to page 38.

Independent internal audit function
Internal audit is an integral part of MTC’s governance structures and
functions under policies established by Exco and the Board. Internal
audit is an independent, objective assurance and consulting activity
tasked with instilling a systematic, disciplined approach within MTC to
evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk management, internal
controls and governance processes.
During 2020, internal audit strengthened its oversight function and
reduced the number of open audit findings by combining internal and
external audit findings into a holistic register, and following up on
management actions to address findings.

Integrated Annual Report 2020

17

AN OVERVIEW OF MTC’S 2020 INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT

HOW WE GOVERN MTC

A SNAPSHOT OF MTC

Attendance at Board and Board committee meetings

Director

Board

Audit, Risk
and IT
Governance
Committee

Human
Resources and
Remuneration
Committee

SS Galloway

8/8

T Mberirua

7/8

1/1

4/4

LP Mbwale1

2/2

1/1

2/2

TMW Munyika1

2/2

2/2

TNZ Muteka

8/8

6/6

EE Nashilongo2

7/8

2/3

W Schuckmann

8/8

RR Shipiki3
TC !Gawaxab3

5/6

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S STRATEGIC OVERVIEW

Board committee feedback
MTC
Listing
Committee

Corporate
Social
Investment
Committee

6/7

4/4

7/7

–

The Board delegates responsibility to the committees to assist the Board in meeting specific governance
oversight responsibilities. Each committee comprises a minimum of three members, the majority of
whom are Independent Non-executive Directors nominated by the Board. The committees’ terms of
reference were reviewed in 2020.

SHAREHOLDER
NPTH (100%)

4/4
3/4

–

4/4

7/7

–

6/6

3/3

2/3

–

6/6

3/3

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

4/4

Other invitees

18

T Ekandjo

5/5

LR Erastus

8/8

4/4

P Kanalelo

5/5

4/4

A Moller (Internal
Auditor)4

2
3
4

7/7

4/4

7/7

–

BOARD COMMITTEES

1/1
7/8

L Tjitandi
1

6/6

4/4

M Nehemia
MJ Smit

4/6

Resigned November 2019.
Stepped down as Chairperson November 2019.
Appointed November 2019.
Not on Exco.

4/4
1/4

Audit, Risk,
IT Governance
and Compliance
Committee
Read more on
page 19

Human Resources
and Remuneration
Committee
Read more on
page 20

MTC Listing
Committee
Read more on
page 22

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Internal audit

Corporate
Social Investment
Committee
Read more on
page 23
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Audit, Risk, IT Governance and Compliance Committee

Summarised terms of reference
•
•
•
•
•
•

Monitor integrity and operation of systems and control processes
Review financial statements in compliance with legal and regulatory requirements and accounting standards
Oversee appointment, functions, removal and remuneration of external and internal auditors
Oversee internal audit, consider enterprise risk and oversee the appropriateness and effectiveness of other operational business risks, including ethics
and independence, and compliance programmes
Monitor integrity of the integrated reporting system and internal controls, including financial and sustainability reporting, and IT governance
Review statutory accounts and consider accounting matters that arise

The committee fulfilled its responsibilities in accordance with its terms of reference for the financial year.

Werner Schuckmann

Key focus areas in 2020

Chairperson
Role: The committee assists the Board in
discharging its duties related to the safeguarding
of assets, the operation of adequate system
control processes and the preparation of
accurate, compliant financial reporting.

1

2

Internal audit

•

Strengthened oversight and
reduced the number of open
audit findings

•

Approved a risk-based internal
audit plan for 2021

•

Developed and implemented a
risk management policy

•

Determined risk tolerance and
evaluated management actions
to manage or mitigate risk

•

Composition as at 30 September 2020
Members

Committee
member since

W Schuckmann (chairperson)

May 2019

EE Nashilongo

December 2019

RR Shipiki

December 2019

TC !Gawaxab

December 2019

3

Risk management

4

IT governance

•

Developed and implemented
•
data protection and cybersecurity
policy

•

Focused on compliance with
certain IT industry standards

Financial forecasting

Improved financial forecasting
and three-year budgeting
processes in preparation
for listing

Identified and prioritised main
enterprise risks

Integrated Annual Report 2020
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Human resources and Remuneration Committee

Summarised terms of reference
•
•
•

•
•
•

Toini Muteka

•
•

Chairperson

20

Role: The committee assists the Board in
discharging its duties related to fair and
responsible human resources and remuneration
practices.

•
•
•

Determine and recommend the company’s remuneration strategy and service conditions
Ensure MTC remunerates its Non-executive Directors and executives fairly and responsibly and provides accurate and complete disclosure of directors’
remuneration
Determine and recommend the policy and framework governing the remuneration, incentive schemes and service conditions for the CEO, executive
management team and other employees, ensuring they are benchmarked against the industry, achieve a balance between guaranteed and
performance-based remuneration and are aligned with the company’s performance culture
Determine targets for any performance-related pay schemes operated by the company and request Board approval and/or seek shareholder approval
for long-term incentive arrangements
Approve and recommend the general principles applied to the award of remuneration adjustments and increases, bonuses and incentive awards, as
well as the quantum and allocation methodology of the annual bonus pool
Determine and recommend the policy governing the fee and remuneration structure for the Board and Board committees and review directors’ fees
annually
Assist in the performance evaluations of the Board, directors and members of Board committees and make recommendations to the Board
Recruit and recommend the appointment of the CEO, approve the appointment and/or dismissal of members of Exco upon recommendation of the
CEO and conduct performance appraisals of the CEO
Determine and develop a training and development framework considering the company’s needs
Monitor union relationships and principle or recognition agreements
Monitor implementation of the Board’s Code of Conduct

The committee fulfilled its responsibilities in accordance with its terms of reference for the financial year.

Composition as at 30 September 2020
Members

Committee
member since

TNZ Muteka (Chairperson)

May 2019

T Mberirua

December 2019

EE Nashilongo

May 2019

Key focus areas in 2020

1

Remuneration

•

The MTC profit share scheme was •
reviewed and renamed as MTC
performance bonus

•

The bonus payment frequency
was changed to once a year,
based on full year results, in line
with best practice

2

3

Ethical leadership

The Board continues to conduct
itself within the provisions of
the MTC Board Charter and the
NamCode

•

4

Executive recruitment

Appointed the CEO, CCO
and CTIO

Succession planning

•

Reviewed succession planning
and approved a budget of
N$1.8 million to support the
programme

•

Commenced a review of the
organisational structure; its
outcome will be presented to the
committee in 2021
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Remuneration of directors (N$)
The following emoluments were paid to MTC directors for the financial year. Refer to note 7 in the annual financial statements.
Director

1

Directors’ fees

Total

SS Galloway

330 000

330 000

T Mberirua

364 000

364 000

LP Mbwale1

60 000

60 000

TMW Munyika1

89 000

89 000

TNZ Muteka

308 000

308 000

EE Nashilongo

308 000

308 000

W Schuckmann

328 000

328 000

RR Shipiki

222 000

222 000

TC !Gawaxab

228 000

228 000

Resigned November 2019.
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MTC Listing Committee

Summarised terms of reference
•
•
•
•

Oversee the internal Steering Committee and provide policy advice on listing matters
Endorse variations or modifications of decisions made by the Steering Committee
Approve significant policies
Make material decisions related to any breaches of the Listing Rules and associated disciplinary sanctions or remedial conditions

The committee fulfilled its responsibilities in accordance with its terms of reference for the financial year.

Key focus areas in 2020

1

Stephen Galloway

MTC Listing

Chairperson

22

Role: The committee assists the Board in
discharging its duties related to the listing of
MTC shares on the NSX in compliance with legal
requirements.
The committee advises the Board and the
shareholder on critical matters with a bearing on
the shareholder, the company and stakeholders.

Composition as at 30 September 2020
Members

Committee
member since

SS Galloway (Chairperson)

June 2018

T Mberirua

May 2019

W Schuckmann

May 2019

RR Shipiki

December 2019

•

Completed the prospectus.

•

Submitted to the shareholder for approval:
•

Amended articles of association.

•

Amended dividend policy.

•

Proposed staff share scheme.

•

Completed the valuation of the company.

•

Engaged the shareholder on the matters above and on the nature and retail reach of the listing, potential institutional and private investors, strategic
partner options and exemption from the PEGA. These engagements were conducted to ensure the success of the listing and attainment of company
and shareholder objectives.

The delay in the listing allows for further careful consideration of strategic matters that could impact the listing, the company and current or prospective
shareholders. Refer to the Chairperson’s message on page 10 for more information.
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Corporate Social Investment Committee

Summarised terms of reference
•
•
•
•
•

Develop MTC’s CSI vision, strategy and policy and monitor its implementation
Provide oversight and guidance on social, environmental and ethical matters
Review and recommend annual CSI priorities
Set targets to measure performance of CSI initiatives, oversee execution of initiatives and recommend improvements
Develop a strong partnership approach to CSI and assume a national leadership role on selected projects

The committee fulfilled its responsibilities in accordance with its terms of reference for the financial year.

Key focus areas in 2020

Stephen Galloway

1

Chairperson
Role: The committee assists the Board
in overseeing the development and
implementation of MTC’s corporate social
investment (CSI), including corporate
sustainability, environmental protection
and philanthropic and community investment
initiatives.

Composition as at 30 September 2020
Members

Committee
member since

SS Galloway (Chairperson)

October 2017

TNZ Muteka

May 2019

TC !Gawaxab

December 2019

•
•

2

COVID-19 response

Supported the disbursement of N$1 million in
COVID-19-related interventions
Advised management to support other
COVID-19 interventions being forged by likeminded corporates

3

Anchor projects

Monitored:
•

MTC Namibia National Internship programme
to place 160 students annually

•

Buy a Brick project to build homes for
Namibian shack dwellers

•

Other sponsorships and social initiatives in
sport, ICT, education, health and arts and
culture

•

National leadership role in larger
CSI projects

Considered a more focused approach to larger,
sustainable projects conducted in partnership,
with MTC taking a national leadership role

All CSI projects were disrupted by COVID-19 and
did not achieve the planned outcomes
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Executive Committee members
as at 30 September 2020

24

Licky Richard Erastus (40)

Marthinus Jacobus Smit (53)

Tim Ekandjo (41)

Chief Executive Officer

Chief Financial Officer

Chief Human Capital and Corporate Affairs
Officer

PHD: Informatics, Cybersecurity

CA (NAM), CA (SA)

MPhil IB

Appointed to Exco: January 2018
Appointed Acting CEO: June 2019
Appointed CEO: 1 December 2019
ICT and telecommunications-related
industry experience: 20 years

Appointed to Exco: August 2001
Acting CEO: 2017 – 2019
Accounting and commerce experience:
35 years

Appointed to Exco: October 2008
Commerce and human capital experience:
19 years

Nguundja Patience Kanalelo (41)

Melvin Hosea Angula (37)

Monica Nehemia (45)

Head: Legal, Compliance and Risk

Chief Commercial Officer

Chief Technology and Information Officer

LLB (Hons)

National Diploma in System Administration and
Networks

Masters: Informatics, IT Governance

Appointed to Exco: October 2015
Legal and ICT industry experience: 18 years

Appointed to Exco: November 2019
ICT industry experience: 14 years

Appointed to Exco: August 2020
ICT industry experience: 20 years
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MTC remained strong and resilient in difficult operating conditions. The company aligned its strategy
to the fast-changing world of technology, partnered its customers with relevant, convenient, valueadding mobile and fixed-line enterprise solutions and continued to provide digital access to 87%
of Namibians.
MTC maintained its leadership of Namibia’s mobile telecommunications
market, growing overall subscriber numbers by 2.1% to 2.575 million
and increasing revenue by 2.66% to N$2 683 million and EBITDA by
3.87% to N$1 397 million. The compound annual growth in net profit
is 9.5% since 2015.

Implementing our strategy

Underpinning this consistently strong operational and financial
performance is MTC’s ongoing investment in its extensive transmission
and distribution networks, combined with the telecommunications
expertise and stable financial foundation it has developed over
26 years. These enable the company to respond in an agile manner to
the changing needs and behaviours of its loyal customer base, and to
expand aggressively into new growth markets.

MTC’s strategy responds to trends in its external environment (refer to
page 70). At a macroeconomic level, Namibia’s economic contraction
was compounded by the COVID-19 pandemic. This impacted the
affordability of many consumers but also increased demand for data
and value-added products as work, study and leisure activities were
restricted to home environments during the lockdown in March and
April 2020.

Our response to COVID-19

MTC’s traditional mobile market of 2.6 million customers has become
saturated in a country where population numbers have remained
relatively unchanged at approximately 2.5 million in recent years.

As a corporate leader and essential services provider in Namibia, we
took our role in combatting COVID-19 very seriously. The primary focus
was on protecting the health of employees, partnering with customers
to keep them connected during lockdown, and providing N$1 million in
humanitarian relief to the most vulnerable groups in our communities.
For more detail, refer to:

Responding to change in the external
environment

27

These macro factors are compounded by the dual trends of declining
demand for voice and SMS services and rapid growth in data usage
as increasingly powerful wireless networks drive and facilitate growing
demand for digital connectivity across all spheres of consumers’ lives.

•

Protecting the health of our people: page 52

•

Partnering with our customers: page 63

As MTC adapts to the digital revolution and transitions, over time, from
the provision of mobile to convergent services, we are leveraging our
extensive existing network and investing in new technology to:

•

Providing humanitarian relief to our communities: page 67

•

Retain existing mobile customers with innovative, differentiated
products and excellent customer service

•

Expand into new markets, such as internet and broadband (fixedline) fibre, cloud and other value-added services that offer new,
albeit competitive, revenue streams
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Performance against strategy

Protecting and growing our core market

MTC’s growth strategy is guided by the broad themes of revenue growth, market leadership, customer experience and operational efficiency
and is implemented through eight strategic focus areas. These are driven by a customer centric culture at the core of the strategy. MTC’s digital
transformation underpins the strategy, enabling MTC to lead the next generation of telecommunications experiences in Namibia.

MTC achieved its objective of maintaining 90% of the mobile market
and made further progress towards its commitment to extend mobile
network coverage to 100% of Namibians. By introducing innovative new
products and services that respond directly to customers’ ever-growing
demand for smarter solutions and connectivity, MTC strengthened its
positioning as Namibia’s digital enabler of choice. It was also rated the
most admired Namibian brand by Brand Africa.
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Advances in digital technology enable continuous improvement in the
speed and cost efficiency of telecommunications products and services.
This drives customer demand for more data and better value at lower
cost. During 2020, MTC’s response to these global trends was intensified
by COVID-19. We launched several popular new solutions with faster
mobile access and more data at affordable prices, as well as increased
self-service on digital channels to reduce dependence on Mobile Home
retail stores during the lockdown. To manage surges in data traffic
and network congestion, MTC continued to invest in its network and
secured temporary additional spectrum (the invisible frequency that
travels through air). By being proactive, MTC maintained the quality of
our service and ensured a seamless transition for customers from work
or school to their home environments.
MTC’s new mobile product launches included:
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Multiple Aweh, enabling customers to subscribe to up to three of
the popular Aweh offerings at a time

• Taamba Advance, Taamba Transfer and Taamba Gifting, allowing
customers to borrow airtime from MTC, or to share or gift their data
to others
•

The Triple my Data campaign provided free data with every purchase
to increase digital access affordably during the lockdown

• TikTok bundles, enabling customers to purchase cheaper data

bundles to access the TikTok platform

nc e

N

• Elearning data bundles for postpaid and prepaid educational

institutions students and teachers to allow access to educational
content at an affordable rate
We partnered with customers in their transition to broadband services
by encouraging them to migrate from 2G to 3G, 4G and 4.5G for faster,
more reliable connectivity. This is driven largely by increasing the

NAVIGATING OUR OPERATING ENVIRONMENT
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use of smartphones which exposes customers to better technologies
on the same network footprint and builds customer appetite for the
future roll-out of 5G. We are introducing affordable smartphone devices
with more data functionality to allow 2G users to benefit from the full
capacity of our network. This will improve customer experience and
increase ARPU. By September 2020, we achieved 87% 3G and 37%
4G coverage and increased broadband at schools to 84% and health
facilities to 87%.

Expanding into growth markets
MTC’s traditional core services and products were postpaid, prepaid,
roaming and handsets, via a 4.5G capable network. Our realigned
strategy capitalises on new growth opportunities to serve the rapid
increase in data usage. We are creating value-added services that can
drive the value of our current products as well as enter new markets in
the business sector. The objective is to grow new revenue generating
streams where we can provide advanced technologies that service
solutions like fibre to the office, fibre to the home, fixed wireless and
value-adding enterprise services, such as hosted cloud PBX, secure
cloud services and fixed connectivity. In this regard, we launched the
fibre optic network in 2018 to provide business owners with fast, reliable
internet services. We initiated the roll-out of our Spectra Enterprise and
Spectra Home fibre offers, including broadband data connectivity that
will deliver a fast and stable internet connection at affordable prices.
Our fibre offering was complemented by the launch of a secure cloud
service offering – a hosted solution that combines technologies and
customised IT services for business customers. In November 2019, we
launched Cirrus Cloud PBX, a hosted telephony solution using best-inclass technology. Both solutions reduce customers’ capital outlay and
maintenance costs.
Although our initial fibre roll-out and activations of fixed-line services
were disrupted by the lockdown and delays in the local authority
approval of digging and construction rights, we adopted innovative
approaches to fast-track provision of the new services. This enables
MTC to aggressively implement its strategic goal to grow its fixed
market share.
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Having launched these services to subscribers in 2019, the lockdown
forced many companies to leapfrog their adoption of digital technology
to equip employees for remote work and maintain customer service.
Our technical and commercial teams joined forces and adopted the
point-to-multipoint (PtMP) wireless connectivity solution for rapid
deployment of enterprise services. This accelerated account activation
to two days, enabling MTC to activate 30 customers weekly, and
increased enterprise and fixed subscribers to 671 by year-end. We also
responded to an increase in demand by individual customers for fibre
to the home and relaxed the terms of postpaid contracts to provide
relief for loyal customers who were financially distressed.

Transforming and innovating to improve
customer experience
Customer centricity
As customers increase their use of digital technology to connect,
communicate, transact and do business, their expectations of
convenient, seamless services are heightened. In a world where
customers are better informed than ever before of the choices at their
disposal, our competitive advantage lies in developing partnerships
with customers and improving their lives through innovative,
differentiated digital solutions and skilled human capital.

Digital transformation
To be truly customer centric, we are building digital capabilities to
understand and integrate customers’ preferences and patterns into
everything we do. This allows us to fulfil our role as the digital enabler
of choice by responding proactively to the evolving needs of customers
and by anticipating their service challenges.
Through the well advanced digital transformation programme, we are
upgrading most of MTC’s core systems to create the agility required to
deploy new mobile and fixed products, services and solutions faster
and more cost-effectively. The upgrade of the operations support
and business support system (OSS/BSS) is near completion. This is
improving operational efficiency and the experience of customers and
service employees by automating and personalising services across
multiple devices and channels.

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Our new enterprise data warehouse integrates and analyses data
extracted from different departments across MTC. This provides
in-depth insight into customers’ behaviour and preferences, the
performance of products and services and the actions that need to
be taken to enhance customer service provisioning and improve
customer experience.

Becoming an employer of choice
While our investments in technology underpin the quality of customer
service and experience, we recognise that nothing can replace the
human touch when it comes to true engagement. This is why MTC
believes that employee experience is as important as customer
experience. We empower employees to be their best by embedding a
customer centric culture and ensuring that employees are committed,
engaged and able to be part of their customers’ journeys.

Investing in infrastructure
MTC’s network is critical to the company’s ability to remain competitive
and compliant with regulatory requirements for network quality and
performance. Maintaining the quality and availability of MTC’s network
requires constant planning and investment.
In addition to ensuring that the core systems remain agile and
responsive to constant change, we are committed to expanding the
network and opening up digital access for all Namibians. Total capital
expenditure to pursue these objectives amounted to N$535 million
(2019: N$511.8 million).
Project capacity 2020 is expanding radio access network infrastructure
through technology upgrades, sector splitting and spectrum refarming
to meet customer demands and to ensure quality voice and data
services. Phases 1 and 2 are complete and phase 3 remains underway,
adding capacity in urban areas and expanding LTE and 3G to rural areas.
081Every1 is expanding MTC’s national footprint to accommodate
100% population coverage by building new sites in rural and urban
areas and adding higher speed (3G) capabilities to all sites. Despite
COVID-19-related delays, phase 1 of the project was completed in
June 2020 and phase 2 to construct 91 rural towers is underway.
More information is included in the operational performance on page 54.
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INVESTING IN RESEARCH AND INNOVATION
An important milestone in MTC’s digital transformation was the launch of the MTC Innovation Centre. In the past, the company’s research and development capabilities resided in an international technology partner
who drew inspiration from European trends. Now, the Innovation Centre forms the foundation for homegrown technology advances, facilitating smart partnerships with academia and innovators. It will provide the
platforms to showcase the ideas and innovations that will drive the next generation of telecommunications experiences for Namibians. MTC has hosted more than 180 innovators and developers at Hackathons and
Tech Hubs and established smart partnerships to fast-track innovation within the company, knowing that developing it internally takes time.
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Evolving regulatory environment
MTC is heavily regulated and its regulatory environment changes
constantly. Regulations are a primary material matter for MTC because
they influence the operating environment and business model and
impose licence fees and other costs at the regulator’s discretion. Noncompliance with regulatory requirements poses potentially material
financial risk.
Proposed amendments to the Communications Act, 2009 (Act 8
of 2009) and other regulatory proposals or rulings related to the
discretion of CRAN, the regulator, in matters such as the levying of fees,
infrastructure sharing and spectrum allocation, create an unpredictable
and uncertain environment for telecommunications operators. The
majority of these matters remain under review.

Spectrum allocation
MTC’s spectrum allocation is not commensurate to our subscriber
base and we consistently struggle with capacity issues. We need more
spectrum to service the current customer base and to ensure continued
growth. Inadequate spectrum influences our ability to supply 3G and
4G to underserved areas and ultimately impacts customer service
and revenue growth. Moreover, it hampers our ability to provide 5G
services.
We secured sufficient spectrum for our PtMP solution for fixed-line
services during 2020. However, spectrum to accommodate increases in
mobile data usage was awarded on a temporary basis for one year as
CRAN assumed the increases in data usage were caused by COVID-19
the lockdown. It has become apparent that the data usage trend will
remain as it is common customer behaviour that once data usage
grows, it does not usually decrease. MTC anticipated this trend when
we applied for the spectrum on a permanent basis. We will continue
discussions with CRAN for the spectrum to be made permanent so as
not to impact customers.

GOING FORWARD

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CORPORATE INFORMATION

MTC also applied for spectrum in order to provide 4G (LTE) installation
in rural areas.

Acknowledging our stakeholders

We have appealed against a spectrum award to a fellow operator on the
basis that the spectrum is not for the correct services as stipulated by
the International Telecommunication Union and the CRAN Spectrum
Band Plan. Successful outcomes to these applications will provide MTC
with adequate spectrum for another two years but, the company would
require additional spectrum to support 5G network deployment, which
has not yet commenced.

The stresses we experienced in the external operating environment
placed significant additional pressure on the company and our
stakeholders. COVID-19, in particular, threatened the health and
livelihoods of many employees, customers and communities.
MTC’s strong, strategically aligned performance in these difficult
circumstances bears testimony to the quality of our leadership and our
people, and the valuable support of customers and other partners who
continue to sustain our business operations.

CRAN’s discretion in levying of fees
MTC’s dispute against the levying of telecommunications operators’
annual fees for the period 2016 to 2018 remains ongoing. CRAN
amended its legislation after a 2016 High Court ruling that found the
levying of annual fees to be unconstitutional. However, MTC maintains
that the amended legislation has not passed the constitutionality tests
as it continues to give the regulator unfettered discretionary powers
and does not address operators’ uncertainty about fee expenses.

City of Windhoek
MTC is considering all options against the award of a telecommunications
service licence to the City of Windhoek without conditions that will
ensure fair competition in the market. The licence enables the
local authority to provide comprehensive telecommunications
services, including fixed-line services, in competition with
private telecommunications companies. MTC and other private
providers consider the licence anti-competitive because
the City of Windhoek controls land use and infrastructure
development and may impede competitors who require the
City’s approval to dig trenches for fibre installations or install towers
for base stations.

On behalf of MTC, I express my appreciation to all of you. I am
confident that together we will continue to navigate risks and capitalise
on opportunities to create sustainable value for stakeholders and the
broader Namibian society.
Information on MTC’s outlook is included in the Going forward chapter
on page 69.
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Licky Erastus
Chief Executive Officer
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EXTERNAL THEMES IMPACTING OUR BUSINESS
MTC operates in an ever-changing and competitive industry that is affected by several factors in its operating environment. By understanding these risks
and opportunities, MTC can respond to them strategically.

Macroeconomic environment

NAMIBIA’S GDP GROWTH (%)

Namibia’s gross domestic product (GDP) contracted for the fourth consecutive year as the COVID-19-related border closures, lockdown and ban on
alcohol sales exposed the country’s underlying economic weaknesses. The tourism and leisure industries were the hardest hit but several other major
domestic industries also recorded declining activity.

8.0

This resulted in income and job losses which impacted customers’ affordability and led many to migrate to less expensive or more value-added
consumer products and services. The only industries that recorded growth were agriculture, health and ICT. Growth in the ICT sector was largely
attributable to increased use of data and the internet as people worked from home during the lockdown.
MTC responded by ensuring good customer service and introducing innovative new products that addressed customers’ need for more data at
lower cost. The company sought to retain loyal customers by providing temporary financial relief or migrating them to more affordable prepaid
subscriptions. MTC’s sound financial position strengthens its resilience during economic downturns and enables continual capital investment in new
technology and infrastructure maintenance.

4.0
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Source: Bank of Namibia
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Market saturation
Revenue from fixed-line services continued to decline globally, while the COVID-19 restrictions accelerated the upward trend in data usage. As MTC’s revenue from voice services has plateaued in line with the global trend, future
revenue is increasingly dependent on data services.
Growing demand for data services is expected to continue to be driven by use of smartphones, video and other multimedia services, and improvements in network capability.
MTC responded by focusing its customer relationship management on retaining existing customers, increasing the value from retained customers and acquiring new customers by distinguishing itself from competitors with
innovative, value-added offers.
This enabled MTC to grow its active subscriber base by 2% and increase revenue by 3.2% during 2020. The company also made good progress in its strategy to grow new revenue streams in data and fixed-line services.
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The shift from mobile to data
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for the year ending

Competition in enterprise market

BROADBAND MARKET SHARE (%)

MTC remains the leading player in Namibia’s mobile telecommunications
market. However, as a relative newcomer to the growing fixed-line
market for business customers, which it entered in 2019, it has less
than 1% market share of the subscriber base.

3.8%

39.7%

This sector grew by 18% annually in 2016 and 2017 (CRAN, 2018) and
the trend is expected to continue in the foreseeable future. In its drive
to deploy fixed-line products and services, MTC competes against
Paratus, Telecom Namibia and MTN.
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MTC’s telecommunications operations are regulated by CRAN and
the company will also be regulated by the NSX after it is listed.
Unpredictable legal and regulatory rulings may expose MTC to business
or reputational risk, while non-compliance may result in material
financial penalties. MTC’s competitiveness in new markets or business
ventures may be impacted by new legislation.
MTC responded by maintaining internal controls to ensure that it
remains compliant with all relevant legislation and minimises any
potential events of non-compliance. MTC engages routinely with the
regulator, participates in ICT policy or regulatory amendments, and
challenges regulations that it considers to be unfair.

In 2020, the City of Windhoek, which controls land use and
infrastructure development in Windhoek, was granted a licence to
compete in the market.
MTC responded by leveraging its extensive network and strong
customer relationships built through its mobile offering to extend its
fixed-line products and services to small and medium enterprise (SME)
and government customers. In 2020, we accelerated the deployment
of fixed-line services to business and individual customers. We aim to
increase our market share to 9% in 2021 by meeting customer demand
with the support of smart partners.

Evolving regulatory environment

More information on MTC’s external environment can be found in
the CEO’s strategic overview on page 26 and the risks we manage on
page 38.

27.9%

28.6%
Paratus
Telecom Namibia
MTN
Others
Source: CRAN (2019)
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CONSIDERING OUR STAKEHOLDERS
MTC has a diverse range of stakeholders who have an interest in its business and may be affected by it. MTC
recognises that stakeholders influence the company’s ability to create sustainable value. We engage openly and
constructively with stakeholders to understand and consider their needs and expectations in the way we conduct
our business.
The diagram below shows MTC’s material stakeholders and their needs and expectations were considered in the
material matters determination process in 2020 (page 42). They were identified as material utilising a high-level
mapping by Exco based on each stakeholder group’s power over, and interest in, MTC. We also engage with
other important stakeholders, including smart partners, the media and civil society on an
ongoing basis.

MTC is regulated by CRAN and requires approval from local authorities for infrastructure installation. CRAN
authorises MTC’s operating licence, levies fees, distributes spectrum for network expansion and changes
regulations at its discretion.
Our regulator wants us to:
•

Remain compliant

•

Engage on ICT policy or regulatory amendments

Regulators an
local authoriti d
es

Our shareholder wants us to:
Be the digital enabler of choice

•

Sustain strong financial performance

•

Maintain high dividend payments

Our distributers want us to:

ributors
Dist

•

Sh
potentarehol
ial s der
h ar a
eh n d
old
er
s

MTC’s 100% shareholder is the Namibian government through its
shareholding in NPTH. The planned listing of MTC on the NSX will
broaden the company’s shareholder base and enable the Namibian
public to participate in the company’s equity growth.

Distributors manage products that
generate much of MTC’s revenue. MTC
depends on distributors to protect its
brand by delivering contracted services.
Over-reliance on distributors may expose
MTC to risk in the event of distributer
failure.
•

Fulfil our contractual obligations

•

Maintain employment opportunities

Customers are MTC’s primary revenue source and the reason for
its existence. MTC’s strategy and decision-making is based on, and
influenced by, the evolving needs and expectations of its customers.
Provide quality service and value for money

•

Hear and understand them

•

Respond to their changing needs

om

st

•

Cu

Our customers want us to:

er

s
Em

y
plo

ee

s

Employees implement MTC’s strategy and reflect its
culture and brand. They directly influence the service and
experience of MTC’s customers.
Our employees want us to:
•

Provide job security

•

Provide appropriate reward and recognition

•

Enable them to fulfil their potential

Integrated Annual Report 2020

35

AN OVERVIEW OF MTC’S 2020 INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT

A SNAPSHOT OF MTC

HOW WE GOVERN MTC

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S STRATEGIC OVERVIEW

HOW WE ENGAGE WITH OUR STAKEHOLDERS
MTC developed a stakeholder engagement plan in 2020 to be approved by the Board in December 2020. The plan provides a structured process to identify stakeholders, build relationships and improve communication
through regular and continual engagement. MTC’s stakeholder philosophy is based on the principles of mutual respect, trust, inclusiveness and transparency.
MTC’s Exco will review the plan regularly to ensure effective implementation. The Chief Human Capital and Corporate Affairs Officer is the custodian of stakeholder engagement and MTC executives engage directly
with stakeholders on matters specific to their areas of responsibility. Executives are expected to maintain a record of these engagements and Exco will track key engagements across the company to ensure that they
are effectively managed.
MTC engages through a broad range of mediums, including:
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ELECTRONIC

WRITTEN

PERSONAL CONTACT

MEDIA

•

Email and SMS

•

•

Personal or online meetings

•

Television

•

Corporate website

Integrated annual reports and financial
statements

•

Discussion forums

•

Radio

•

Electronic distribution of written
communication

•

Business/industry-specific reports

•

Industry forums

•

Social media

•

Newsletters

•

Presentations

•

Billboards

•

Leaflets, pamphlets, flyers and brochures

•

Informal interactions

•

Newspapers

•

External agents

•

Media releases/interviews
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What we discussed in 2020
EMPLOYEES (page 51)
General concerns raised through engagement

Engagement on the performance bonus

•

MTC listing: Employees are concerned that listing will change the culture of MTC. Employees were reassured that MTC’s values and culture would remain unchanged
after listing and they agreed to increase focus on maintaining the values and culture throughout the company.

•

Leadership engagement: Employees wish for more engagement with MTC’s leadership. Exco will increase its engagement by conducting walkabouts and webinars to
discuss employee matters of interest or concern.

•

Mentoring and coaching: MTC is addressing employee requests for development opportunities through the talent management and succession planning programme.

•

Management engaged extensively with employees about changing the payment frequency of the performance bonus from bi-annual to one annual payment after
year-end. The change was necessary to enable assessment over the full financial year. Employees were assured that the change would not negatively impact the
financial value or increase tax payable on the bonus. It was collectively agreed to proceed with an annual payment from October 2020.

•

82% of consultants achieved ratings of 90% and above, which is high

•

Polite, friendly and professional service delivery ranked highest and call control, proper procedures, energetic and focused interactions improved

•

Consultants seem more empowered

•

In addition to routine customer engagement, the call centre increased outbound calls to follow up on customer concerns

•

We assisted customers to become more self-sufficient through online channels

•

We enabled online contract renewal and delivered handsets and sim cards to customers’ homes

•

We increased dealerships’ responsibilities to maintain service delivery during lockdown

CUSTOMERS (page 65)
Results from interactions with customers as
part of improving on the previous survey
COVID-19 concerns
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SHAREHOLDER AND POTENTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (page 35)
Shareholder engagement

Potential shareholder engagement

Management engaged on several matters related to MTC’s listing to ensure the success of the listing and attainment of company and shareholder objectives. The
engagements included:
•

The nature and retail reach of the listing, potential institutional and private investors and strategic partner options

•

Exemption from the PEGA

•

A staff share scheme was prepared and presented to the shareholder for consideration

We addressed the following concerns during the engagement process
•

MTC’s future growth prospects: MTC’s financial and market share performance metrics compare favourably with its regional and continental peers. MTC is a mature
business with a strong market share in a relatively small market. The company’s proven track record of innovation and competitiveness positions it to leverage its
digital transformation strategy as a key driver of future growth.

•

Control and influence of the government as majority shareholder: Government involvement will be limited if we align governance with best practice, develop our
reputation as a public company capable of effective strategy implementation and profit generation, and fulfil our national mandate.

REGULATORS AND LOCAL AUTHORITIES (page 35)
Regulator engagement

MTC remains in discussions with CRAN on pertinent issues that affect the business, such as spectrum requirements, and actively participates in the rule making processes
for proposed new regulations.

Local authority engagement

MTC engaged extensively with the local authority to address delays in the authorisation of activities to install fibre and mobile infrastructure for fixed-line mobile services.
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THE RISKS WE MANAGE
MTC considers risk management an integral part of setting and
implementing its strategy. The Board, assisted by the Audit, Risk
and IT Governance and Compliance Committee, routinely reviews
risk and opportunity in MTC’s external and internal environments
and ensures that comprehensive, appropriate internal controls
are in place to evaluate, manage and mitigate the impact of
risks. This includes defining risk appetite and risk tolerance
guidelines, ensuring that risks remain within those guidelines and
maintaining an appropriate balance between risk and reward.
During 2020, the Board refined its risk assessment process to align
it with the strategy. This resulted in some changes to the enterprise
risk register, including the movement of some risks to the operational
risk register.
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The Board delegates responsibility to executive management for
integrating risk management into all business activities. This includes
directing resources and controls to the most significant risks and
opportunities and determining whether operational risks need to
be escalated to the enterprise risk register. The Tender Committee
adjudicates tender and procurement recommendations from the
business units to ensure compliance with governance policies and
procurement procedures. The committee reports to the Exco.
The management team responsible for risk management has regular
access to MTC’s Chairperson. The Head: Legal, Compliance and Risk
is the custodian of the ERM, assisted by the newly appointed Risk
Manager. The risk management team reviewed the business continuity
plan (BCP) during the COVID-19 pandemic and assisted MTC in
developing a crisis management plan as part of the BCP.
The BCP will be updated in 2021 to:
•

Address comprehensive compliance deliverables, with the aim of
attaining selected industry standard certifications

•

Ensure operational efficiency in selected ISO1 standards, ITIL2 2019
and COBIT3 5

1
2
3

International Organization for Standardization.
Information Technology Infrastructure Library.
Control Objectives for Information Technologies.

IMPROVING THE EFFECTIVENESS
OF RISK MANAGEMENT
The internal audit function plays a central role in assisting MTC
to improve the effectiveness of risk management. It provides
assurance that material risks are identified and managed and
ensures that adequate control systems are implemented to
manage risks. During 2020, internal audit strengthened its
oversight function by improving the management of internal
and external audit findings and following up on management
interventions to address audit findings. This contributed to a
reduction in the number of open audit findings.
Compliance
MTC operates in a highly regulated environment where the
financial and reputational risks of sanctions or penalties
are material. The compliance function plays a critical role
in ensuring that MTC remains compliant with governance
policies and the regulator’s requirements. A newly appointed
Senior Compliance Officer manages a compliance register,
ensuring that bi-annual and quarterly reports to the
regulator are submitted and that regulatory updates and
reminders are issued.
The Head of Legal and Compliance reports administratively
and functionally to the CEO and internal audit reports
administratively to the CEO and functionally to the
chairperson of the Audit, Risk and IT Governance Committee.
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MTC’s risk management is aligned with the ISO 31000 risk
management framework and is guided by risk management
principles, an integrated risk management framework and a
risk management process. This structured approach enables
a consistent, proactive approach to risk management and
ensures that lessons learnt from successes and failures inform
future performance. This in turn creates and protects value
for stakeholders.
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The key risks
MTC’s main risks in 2020 were identified, analysed and prioritised based on their potential impact and likelihood of occurrence. These risks, together with MTC’s controls and actions to manage or mitigate them, are discussed
in the following table.

1

2

3

4

5

Regulatory
environment

Service quality – network,
customer service and price

Cybersecurity

Key and
associated suppliers

Strategic
project execution

Risk

Stringent and unpredictable
regulatory requirements may
impact MTC’s competitive or
financial position, most notably
in the areas of infrastructure or
spectrum sharing.

A major failure in critical systems
or network capacity may damage
MTC’s revenue and reputation by
impacting the quality of customer
service required to fulfil licence
obligations and customer needs.
Good customer service attracts
and retains customers.

The escalation in largescale
cyberattacks represents a growing
threat that, if realised, may
compromise MTC’s systems and
processes. This could breach
the confidentiality of MTC and
customer data, impacting the
company’s reputation and
financial position.

MTC’s dependence on key
suppliers, such as distributers,
strategic technology partners
and power utilities exposes the
company to the risk of operational
disruption should a key supplier
fail to deliver critical services.

Strategic capital projects enable
MTC to remain competitive in an
evolving technology environment.
However, unpredictable cost
escalation due to currency
fluctuations and delays caused by
equipment delivery may impact
MTC’s competitive advantage.

Link to strategy

•
•
•
•

Maintain mobile market share
100% population coverage
Grow content IoT market
Grow fixed network and cloud
market share

•
•
•

Customer centric culture
Maintain mobile market share
Remain most admired brand in
Namibia
Invest in research and
innovation

•
•

Customer centric culture
Remain most admired brand in
Namibia

•
•
•

Customer centric culture
Maintain mobile market share
100% population coverage

•
•
•

100% population coverage
Grow content IoT market
Grow fixed network and cloud
market share

Maintaining a good working
relationship with the regulator
Engaging on new laws and
challenge decisions on
reasonable grounds
Developed a spectrum
strategy – applied for unused
spectrum released by CRAN
and participated in spectrum
auctions

•

Continuing to expand and
modernise the network and
manage capacity
Built high availability and fault
tolerance into new OneCloud
solution as part of business
continuity and disaster
recovery plan
Lengthened planning horizons
to ensure adequate provision
for increases in customer
demand

•

Providing cyber risk awareness
and training for high risk
departments and induction
sessions for all new recruits
Continually developing
improvement programmes
to protect infrastructure that
stores and transmits data
Implemented a gap analysis
and process improvement
project to address cyberthreats
to network and systems

•

Developing a multivendor
strategy
Moving one of the customer
contact systems from being
managed by a supplier, to
being managed internally
by MTC, and transferring
some services to the new BSS
system
Introduced evoucher sales
channel to reduce reliance on
dealers

•

Reviewing and strengthening
operational, procurement and
contractual processes
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How we mitigate the risk

•
•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•
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7

8

9

10

Market
conditions

Research and innovation
capacity building

Capital expenditure return
on investment

Corporate
culture

Non-compliance to laws
and regulations

MTC operates in volatile market
conditions that have the potential
to impact MTC’s competitive and
financial position, including:

To remain abreast of technology
advances and meet commitments
to quality service and innovative,
cutting-edge and cost-effective
products, MTC needs to
invest continually in network
maintenance, upgrades and
expansions. A lack of relevant
research and development and HR
skills may impact MTC’s ability to
implement its strategy.

The multiple pressures on MTC
to comply with regulatory
requirements for network quality
and performance, maintain
operational efficiency and protect
market share may impact the
returns the company generates
on its capital expenditure
investments.

A positive corporate culture,
reflected in a committed and
engaged employee base, is
critical to achieving MTC’s
strategy. An eroding culture may
impact values, with unfavourable
consequences for the brand and
the achievement of strategic
goals.

Non-compliance with laws and
regulations would expose MTC to
punitive fines and litigations and
damage the company’s brand.

•

•
•

Customer centric culture
Remain most admired brand
in Namibia
Become employer of choice

•

Offering strong employee
value proposition
Maintaining a recognition and
reward programme
Focusing on succession and
talent development plans
Engaging online due to
employee engagement and
development activities being
disrupted by COVID-19

•
•

•

•
•

How we mitigate the risk

GOING FORWARD

6

•

Link to strategy
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Economic weakness
(compounded by COVID-19)
Foreign exchange risk related
to the import of handsets and
network materials in US Dollar
(USD), and the pegging of the
Namibian Dollar to the South
African Rand
Disruptive technology
Number portability

•
•
•
•

Maintain mobile market share
100% population coverage
Grow content IoT market
Grow fixed network and cloud
market share

•

•

Implemented an action plan
to address gaps identified in
customer value survey
Launching value-added
products and services and
migrated customers to
affordable contracts
Focusing on growing fixed and
cloud market share
Approved and implemented
an amended foreign exchange
policy

•

•

•
•

Invest in research and
innovation

Maintain mobile market share

•

•
•

•

•

Realigning organisational
structure to equip MTC with
requisite technical skills
Established the Innovation
Centre
Secured support of Namibia
University of Science and
Technology students for
project delivery
Implemented digital
transformation programme for
agility and scalability
Conducted targeted training
interventions

•

•

Assessing projects based on
strategic objectives, market
trends and value addition
Continually monitoring and
managing projects

•
•
•
•

The risk of not meeting the listing
deadline set by the regulator
was mitigated by the 24-month
extension of the listing.

Remaining most admired
brand in Namibia
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•

Remaining compliant
Strengthened compliance
management capabilities
Maintaining ongoing
compliance awareness
and training

Emerging risk watchlist
In addition to the main risks, MTC also
tracks emerging risks, including:

•

Disruptions caused by COVID-19.

•

Supply chain delays in the delivery of handsets required for postpaid mobile business due to the closing of borders during COVID-19 lockdowns. This delayed revenue as
postpaid contracts were awaiting mobile products to conclude. This remains an emerging risk that MTC will continue to monitor.
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MATERIAL THEMES
In the inaugural material matters determination process, MTC considered key stakeholders and their needs and concerns (page 35), and assessed its external environment (page 70), key risks identified through its risk
management processes (page 39), and the impact of COVID-19. The material matters were workshopped by MTC’s executive management in September 2020.
The following material matters influence MTC’s strategy and performance, and were assessed relative to MTC’s mission: “To improve the lives of our customers through innovative digital solutions and highly skilled human
capital.” The Board was guided by the material matters in assessing the material information to be included in this integrated annual report.
Material matter
1 Evolving

regulatory
environment
2 Quality and

availability of
network

Description and context

Further reading

MTC operates in a highly regulated and rapidly evolving regulatory environment. Regulations and compliance requirements impact MTC by influencing its operating environment,
determining the way it operates and the prices it charges for certain services, and imposing licence fees and other costs at the regulator’s discretion.

Page 40

These factors, combined with the uncertainty of constant regulatory change, can limit MTC’s revenue growth and competitiveness, particularly in new markets such as internet and
broadband (fixed-line) services which are intended to compensate for lower demand for traditional mobile voice and SMS services.
Rapid advances in global technology are increasing customers’ adoption of digital technology to connect, communicate, transact and do business. These evolving customer habits,
combined with MTC’s commitment to extend telecommunications access to all Namibians, require constant investment to maintain the quality and availability of MTC’s network.
Failure to do so directly impacts MTC’s ability to launch innovative new products and services and comply with regulatory requirements for network quality and performance.

Page 55

MTC depends on the regulator for additional spectrum to accommodate network capacity expansion and requires a supportive ICT policy environment to achieve its revenue
diversification and growth potential.

42

3 Customer

expectation

Advances in digital technology are enabling continuous improvement in the speed and cost efficiency of telecommunications products and services. This is driving customer
demand for more data and better value at lower cost. Customers also expect more convenient online service (which requires the automation of business processes) and protection
from cyberattacks.

Page 58

MTC enhances its understanding of customers’ evolving needs, develops innovative new products and services at competitive price points and invests in infrastructure and system
upgrades. However, it requires network capacity expansion to achieve the continuous improvements necessary to remain competitive.
4 Customer

experience

As MTC’s primary revenue source, customers are front and centre of the company’s strategy. During sustained economic downturns, there is a general decline in customer
affordability and increased demand for lower cost or value-added products and services. COVID-19 further compounded affordability pressures, while the lockdown shifted working
patterns overnight, introducing the risk of day-time network congestion in residential areas and the opportunity of increased data use.

Page 29

Without good customer service and experience, MTC risks losing customers who would be difficult to replace in a saturated mobile market. The company may also fail to attract
customers in areas of new revenue growth if its service record does not meet their expectations.
5 Employee

commitment

MTC’s employees implement the company’s strategy. Customer-facing employees determine whether customer experience is positive or negative and, as brand ambassadors, they
reflect MTC’s culture.
As such, employee experience is as important as customer experience in ensuring that talent and technical expertise are retained in a competitive employment market and that all
employees are committed, engaged and able to achieve MTC’s future strategic objectives.

Page 51
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
The steadfast implementation of MTC’s customer centric strategy resulted in an increase in subscriber numbers and an encouraging improvement
in financial performance. MTC maintained a sound financial position and continued to invest in the network and new product innovations, despite
heightened economic risks.
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20.0

(238 251)

(10 172)

(284 628)

Deferred tax
liability

MTC adopted IFRS 16 Leases (IFRS 16), the new accounting standard
for leases, on 1 October 2019. MTC’s lease commitments are
primarily property leases which amounted to N$4 227.92 million
at 30 September 2020. The transition of the new standard results
in the recognition of a right-of-use asset and lease liability, with
interest and depreciation recognised to profit or loss instead of rental
payments. This had the impact of N$21.6 million recognised to opening
retained earnings.

Trade and other
payables
Retained earnings

(274 456)
(313 066)
(2 284 888)

31 788
(21 616)

(281 278)
(2 306 504)

Managing exchange rate risk
The Namibian Dollar is pegged to the volatile South African Rand
which exposes MTC to currency risk in its USD-based service level
agreements and imported network infrastructure and handsets. MTC’s
main currency exposures are to the USD, the Euro, the Swiss Franc
(CHF), the Great Britain Pound (GBP) and the Chinese Yuan (CNY). The
Rand depreciated 10% against the USD, 18% against the Euro, 19%
against the CHF, 10% against the GBP and 15.8% against the CNY in
2020, impacting financial performance and cash flows. COVID-19 travel
restrictions reduced foreign currency inflows from roaming, limiting
the small scale hedge MTC normally receives from this income source.
MTC’s currency risk management is guided by a foreign currency
management policy and currency purchases are based on constant
monitoring and evaluation of markets.

10.0
Sep ‘20

(238 251)

Aug ‘20

–

Jul ‘20

Lease liability

12.5

Jun ‘20

238 251

14.94

17.55 17.36
17.01 16.92 16.70

May ‘20

238 251

14.07 13.98

Apr ‘20

–

15.06

15.0

18.45

15.66

Mar ‘20

Right of use
assets

17.5

17.78

Feb ‘20

1 October
2019
N$’000

Jan ‘20

Impact of
IFRS 16
N$’000

Dec ‘19

30 September
2019
as reported
N$’000

The impact of the new leases standard

EXCHANGE RATE VOLATILITY (USD1:N$)

Nov ‘19

This, combined with a sustained effort to improve customer experience
across all MTC’s products and services, resulted in increases in active
subscriber numbers and data revenue, and successful entry into
the fixed-line enterprise market. These supported growth in overall
revenue and profitability.

Impact on opening statement of financial position as at 1 October 2019:

Oct ‘19

Although the COVID-19 lockdown impacted customer affordability and
reduced roaming income, MTC generated value as a key enabler of the
telecommunications services needed by many of its customers who
worked and studied from home during the second half of the financial year.
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Positive movements in MTC’s statement of profit and loss

A. Revenue continues to grow

Revenue increased by 2.66% to N$2 683 million (2019: 4.62% increase). 2% growth in active customer numbers and 22% growth in data revenue
contributed to overall revenue growth as the shift to work from home generated a surge in demand for data and product innovations.

Retaining or increasing customer numbers and growing customers’
ARPU are key drivers of revenue growth.

EBITDA increased by 3.8% to N$1 397.1 million (2019: 10.1% decrease), despite listing costs and the impact of IFRS 16. The improvement in operational
profitability was supported by strong interventions by our commercial and distribution teams in response to customers’ changing needs. NPAT
decreased by 3.6% to N$772.4 million (2019: 1.34% decrease), due to higher depreciation due to capital expenditure over the past three years.

During 2020, MTC experienced 7.9% growth in prepaid customer
revenue due to MTC’s competitive new Multiple Aweh and Taamba
products. Significant uptake of Multiple Aweh during lockdown
boosted Aweh subscriptions by 21.6%. The increased trend in data
traffic continued after lockdown and established a firm foundation
for 2021.

N$ million
Revenue

2018

2019

2020

2 498.2

2 613.7

2 683.3

Cost of sales

(99.1)

(300.9)

(272.0)

Direct costs

(332.9)

(344.8)

(384.7)

Sales and marketing

(84.9)

(87.5)

(68.4)

(292.6)

(333.0)

(369.8)

Personnel costs
General and administration

(196.7)

EBITDA

1 495.8

Depreciation and amortisation
Taxation
NPAT

(206.7)

(193.4)

1 345.1

1 397.1

(395.4)

(285.4)

(319.7)

(358)

(330)

(345.9)
772.4

807.7

797.0

EBITDA margin (%)

59.9

51.5

52.0

NPAT margin (%)

32.3

30.5

28.79

REVENUE/EBITDA (N$ MILLION)
3 000

B

C

Postpaid revenue decreased as the number of financially distressed
customers increased and Mobile Homes closed during lockdown.
MTC retained loyal postpaid customers by temporarily suspending or
reducing the duration of their contracts and switching them to prepaid
subscriptions to cut costs.
The blended ARPU (excluding handset revenue) of N$87.5 grew by 1.4%
despite the saturation of our customer base. However, roaming revenue
decreased 29% due to the COVID-19 travel restrictions. The reduction
in postpaid customer numbers was due to the financial affordability of
customers due to COVID-19, as well as COVID-19-related disruption in
the supply of imported handsets.
MTC increased the speed of delivering new fixed-line services to
keep business customers connected and provide solutions for their
employees and customers. Growth in the fixed service customer base
contributed 0.2% to revenue. MTC expects the momentum of this new
revenue source to continue in 2021.

2 683

2 613.7

2 498.2

A

2 250
1 500

1 495.8

1 345.1

1 397.1

750
0
2018
Revenue

Revenue previous

2019

2020

EBITDA
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REVENUE CLASSES (%)
2
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1
3
4

2

2.8

1
5
4

75
50

600.5
57

25

600.5
34
600.5

0

2018
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600.5

600.5

57
600.5

600.5
60.4

600.5
31
2019

600.523.3
2020
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REVENUE SPLIT – POSTPAID (%)
1.2
10.5
1.8

1

1

1

75

16
9

16
8

18
8

50

600.5

25

600.5
74
600.5

100

0

2018

600.5

600.5

600.5

600.5

600.5
75

600.5 73

2019

Postpaid

Handsets

Subscription

Data

Prepaid

Interconnects

Voice

SMS

Roaming

Other

REVENUE SPLIT – POSTPAID AND PREPAID (%)
100
75

6

5

5

14

16

16

22

21
600.5

600.5

19

600.5

600.5

600.5

50
25

600.5
58
600.5

0

2018

600.5
58
2019

75

9

7

7

11

16

15

600.5
27

600.523

600.5

600.5

600.5
50

600.5 55

29
600.5

50

600.5
49
600.5

0

2020

2018

2019

Subscription

Data

Subscription

Data

Voice

SMS

Voice

SMS

B. Managing cost efficiency
MTC focused on cost management and curtailing unnecessary
expenditure. The company’s continued investment in network
expansion and market growth was done cost-efficiently, but without
compromising the quality of customer service.
The 0.8% decrease in operational expenditure (2019: 9.2% increase)
was largely attributable to a decrease in sales and marketing and
general and administration cost. This offset the increase in employee
costs, which account for the bulk of MTC’s operational cost costs. The
company negotiated market-related price increases with key suppliers
of network and core system support or computer software to contain
these costs.
Sales and marketing cost decreased due to trade fairs that was cancelled
due to COVID-19 and the Namibia Premier Soccer League sponsorship
that did not materialised.

REVENUE SPLIT – PREPAID (%)
100

25
600.560

2020

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S STRATEGIC OVERVIEW

2020

MTC’s digital transformation is well advanced and the automation
and integration of many of our core operations and business support
and customer management systems are improving cost efficiency.
Before we invest in new systems or system upgrades, we optimise the
functionality of existing systems to limit unnecessary expenditure.
EBITDA increased from N$1 345 million to N$1 397 million. This resulted
in an EBITDA margin of 52.0% (2019: 51.5%). The main contributors
to the increased EBITDA were the increase in revenue generated,
continued cost management and the implementation of IFRS 16 which
moved certain lease expenditure from profit or loss to the statement of
financial position.
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The major tax types included in the above categories are:

As Namibia’s largest telecommunications provider, and a responsible
corporate citizen, MTC contributes significantly to the country’s tax
base. We take our responsibility of supporting Namibia’s economic and
social development seriously. We are committed to acting with integrity
and transparency in the implementation of our tax policy and practices.

N$588.8 MILLION TAX

2

During 2020, the company paid N$333.8 million in tax
(2019: N$327.4 million) in the following contributions. The tax rate
increased to 30.93% (2019: 29.29%).

N$333.8 million paid in
company taxes
(2019: N$327.4 million)

MTC paid N$0.31 in corporate
tax for every N$1 it made in
profit

N$65.3 million paid in
employment tax on behalf of
employees (2019: N$61.9 million)

18.3% of payroll expenditure
consisted of employee tax

N$53.2 million paid in
customs and import duties (2019: N$53.0 million)

N$201.8
million

collected and paid in
indirect (VAT)
contributions

N$333.8
million

(2019: N$140.2 million)

N$53.2
million

paid in direct
company taxes
(2019: N$327.4 million)

47

paid in direct
non-tax contributions

1

(2019: N$53.0 million)

3
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ROE (%)

Despite difficult conditions in MTC’s operating environment, the company maintained a healthy balance sheet with no gearing and sufficient cash to
maintain the quality of its network, pay attractive dividends and fund the growth strategy.
MTC’s return on equity (ROE), a measure of how well companies use equity to generate profit, increased marginally flat at 36.4% (2019: 34.5%). ROE
provides shareholders and potential future investors with a benchmark of MTC’s performance relative to other companies in telecommunications
or other sectors.

50.0
45.0

41.6

40.0
34.5

35.0

N$ million

2018

2019

2020

Property, plant and equipment

1 005

1 161

1 260.0

–

–

214.6

562

490

628.8

–

–

8.9

Right of use assets
Intangible assets
Contract assets
Other non-current assets
Total non-current assets
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Trade and other receivables
Contract assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Other current assets
Total current assets

9

28

9.6

1 576

1 679

2 121.9

180

152

167.5

–

125

126.6

879

1 045

777.6

59

57

69.2

1 118

1 379

1 140.9

Total assets

2 694

3 058

3 262.8

Total equity

2 126.1

1 940

2 310

Non‑current liabilities

279

274

479.1

Trade and other payables

330

318

434.2

Other current liabilities

145

156

223.3

Total current liabilities

475

474

657.5

2 694

3 058

3 262.8

Total equity and liabilities

D
D, E

F
G

H

36.4

30.0
2018

2019

2020
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D. Investing in infrastructure and networks

E. Intangible assets

G. A strong cash position

MTC’s capital expenditure decreased by 21% to N$314.9 million
(2019: N$400.1 million) due to delays in project execution caused by
external matters such as COVID-19-related restrictions, unavailability
of power in some areas and slow approval of fibre installation in
Windhoek. 74% of capital expenditure was allocated to network
expansion projects, such as 081Every1 and Capacity 2020. Phase one
of both projects was completed in 2020 and phase two is underway.

Capital expenditure on intangible assets increased to N$209.0 million
(2019: N$111.7 million) due to replacement of the billing system. 40% of
intangible capital expenditure was invested in the network.

MTC’s cash holdings at 30 September 2020 decreased by 26.7%,
primarily due to the special dividend of N$ 400 million paid in
December 2019. The delays in major strategic projects, such as
081Every1, which are expected to resume their planned schedules in
2021, positively contributed to the cash balance.

More detailed analysis of the risks and benefits of investing in capital
expenditure projects has improved the effectiveness of MTC’s capital
allocation. For more information on the capital expenditure projects,
refer to page 57.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE
800
600
400
200
0

24

20
16

600.5
600.5
269.5

20
16

511.8
600.5
111.7

535.0
600.5
209.0

600.5

600.5

600.5
400.1

600.5
314.9

2019

2020

600.5
331.0
600.5
2018

25.00

F. Managing bad debts
A deterioration in the financial position of customers who lost work or
income due to COVID-19 restrictions resulted in an increase in bad debt
as a percentage of revenue. Postpaid customers locked into 24-month
contracts that they could no longer afford were the most heavily
impacted. MTC retained customers and mitigated further credit losses
by relaxing contract terms for loyal customers who were financially
distressed or switching postpaid customers to more affordable prepaid
subscriptions.
The Taamba Advance airtime lending solution was successfully
implemented with repayments amounting to 98% to date.

18.75
11.1
12.50
6.25

2018
Net amount
written off as %
of revenue

2019

2020

MTC invests surplus cash to maximise return on investment. This
enables the company to achieve a low risk profile for its investment
portfolio, as required by the investment policy. In 2020, MTC’s
cash investments earned interest income of N$63.6million (2019:
N$69.6 million) at an average interest rate of 8.3% (2019: 7.2%).

CASH BALANCE AND INTEREST
12 000
9 000

0.37

0.3

9.0
413

6 000
3 000

0.4

10.0

1 044.9

0

0

8.0

879.1

7.0

2018

2019

Cash balance at September (N$ million)
Average interest rate (%)

Capital expenditure as % of revenue

777.6

69.6

60.0

63.6

2020

6.0

Interest earned (N$ million)

Cash balance at September previous (N$ million)

Property plant (N$ million)
Intangible assets (N$ million)
Right of use assets (N$ million)

The graph below sets out the cash flow movements for the financial year.
2 000 000
1 500 000

1 411.8

146.8

41.0

746.6

(1.0)

(329.1)

1 000 000

(523.9)

500 000

(999.1)
(253.5)

0
Cash generated Working
from operations capital
before working
capital movements

Net
interest

Tax
paid

Net
capital
expenditure

Free
cash
flow

Investing
activities

Financing
activities

Total
cash
utilised
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H. Deferred revenue

Maximising shareholder returns
through strong dividends
The Board declared dividends of N$977.8 million for the year
under review. An ordinary dividend of N$211 million and a special
dividend of N$400 million was declared in November 2019 and paid
in December 2019. An ordinary dividend of N$366.8 million was
declared in June 2020 and paid in July 2020. An ordinary dividend of
N$203 million was declared in December 2020 and is expected to be
paid in January 2021. The declaration of dividends is calculated as a
percentage of NPAT in line with MTC’s dividend policy. Also refer to the
Chairperson’s message on page 10.

50

DIVIDENDS PAID (N$ MILLION)
800
577.8

600
400

413

374

4001

200
0

2018

Dividends paid
1

2019
Dividends paid previous

2020
Special dividend

The N$400 million special dividend was declared in November 2019 and paid in
December 2019 due to MTC’s good performance and to address the high cash
balances available at 30 September 2019.
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OUR HUMAN RESOURCES
MTC’s 670 employees are the company’s brand ambassadors and serve a diverse market of 2.6
million individual and business customers, implement the company’s customer centric strategy and
maintain its market-leading customer service reputation.

2.61%
employee turnover rate
(2019: 3.4%)

Key focus areas
1 Employee engagement
2 F
 it for future
3 R
 ecognition and reward
4 I nvesting in talent

1

Employee value proposition
MTC’s brand power underpins a strong employee value proposition (EVP) which has enabled the
attraction and retention of top talent. The EVP encapsulates:

34.61%

•

Creation of a conducive work environment

employees with >10 years’ service

•

Fair and competitive reward and recognition

(2019: 36%)

•

Employee engagement

•

Performance management and investment in talent

•

Introduction of an MTC brand ambassador initiative to elevate employees

Employee engagement

Preferred
Namibian employer,
targeting employer of choice in 2021

MTC engages regularly and collaboratively with its employees to maintain open lines of communication. Although many of the face-to-face
engagements to promote team-building and alignment with MTC values were disrupted by COVID-19, the company used online communication
channels to stay connected to employees. MTC launched a social media platform in September 2020 to share information and engage on a range of
matters of interest to employees.

N$5.2 million

An internal agreement determines the relationship between employer and employee. MTC supports freedom of association and bargaining but has
not signed a recognition agreement with organised labour due to its sound relationship with employees.

(2019: N$3.87 million)

How engaged are our employees?

Ethical conduct

MTC is values driven and invests in its people to instil a positive corporate culture that drives our external brand and underpins the achievement of
strategic objectives.
An employee climate survey is conducted annually to rate values, ethics and leadership and measure employee satisfaction and engagement. Due to
COVID-19, this year’s survey did not take place.

invested in training and development

Code of Conduct
24-hour toll-free hotline
Online ethics awareness drive in 2021
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Employee composition
MTC’s employee composition remained stable in 2020, increasing by 6.01% overall. A higher proportion of growth in the male racially disadvantaged
category demonstrated MTC’s commitment to racial and gender diversity.
2017

2018

2019

2020

Men

266

259

298

340

Women

•

Empowered employees with accurate information from
the World Health Organisation.

•

Implemented best practice safety protocols, including
personal protective equipment and sanitising and social
distancing in our work spaces.

•

Deployed and equipped employees to work from home
on a rotational basis.

•

Maintained a register of employees’ COVID-19 status
and provided employees who tested positive with the
necessary support at MTC’s expense. 99 employees were
tested; 10 of who tested positive and went into selfisolation or quarantine. There were no COVID-19-related
fatalities.

•

No job losses or salary cuts related to COVID-19.

MTC is undergoing an organisational realignment to match its structure and employee complement with its future human capital requirements as it
evolves strategically from a purely mobile company to a provider of a broader range of telecommunications solutions.

•

The employee volunteer programme, MTC Cares, provided
relief to informal settlements and homeless people.

This realignment may result in changes to some roles within the company and will guide future appointments. This is not a restructuring process
intended to reduce the workforce but to resize it to complement our strategy.

•

HR programmes, including training, were temporarily
suspended.

Racially disadvantaged
Racially advantaged
Persons with disabilities
Non-Namibians

243

239

295

299

Men

16

18

18

13

Women

15

15

15

13

Men

–

1

1

1

Women

1

1

1

1

Men

4

3

3

3

1

1

1

0

Men

286

281

320

357

Women

260

256

312

313

Women
Total

52

COVID-19: PROTECTING OUR
PEOPLE

2

3

Fit for future

Recognition and reward

MTC is committed to fair and responsible remuneration that aims to be competitive and internally equitable.
A robust performance management system underpins this commitment and aligns recognition and reward with the business strategy. Each employee
agrees to a set of KPIs against which they are assessed. These KPIs are derived from departmental objectives linked to MTC’s strategic objectives.
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Remuneration
MTC employees’ remuneration packages comprise two main elements:
•

Guaranteed total cost to company (TCTC) (fixed salary)

•

Annual performance bonus

Salary increases are based on market trends and MTC’s financial
performance. Bonuses are calculated according to:
•

Individual performance

•

Company performance measured by EBITDA growth, EBITDA minus
capital expenditure growth and MTC market share

•

Customers’ perceptions of the quality of service delivered (conveyed
in customer satisfaction surveys)

Total cost to company package
MTC participates in surveys to benchmark its remuneration and pays
competitive salaries at the 75th percentile of the market. The company
adopts an all-inclusive remuneration approach which emphasises
financial and non-financial rewards. Employees’ TCTC packages
are set within the company’s pay structure and reviewed annually.
The remuneration policy stipulates that the company will not pay
employees less than the minimum of their pay scale and that they
can only progress to a higher pay scale after annual salary increases
in October.
Employees receive a range of retention benefits, including:
•

Performance bonuses

•

Training and development opportunities and employee bursaries

•

Personal insurance at company rates and employee finance at
affordable rates

•

Fuel and maintenance allowances

•

A 60% medical aid allowance

•

Monthly airtime and two-yearly cellphone or handset benefits

GOING FORWARD
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MTC accumulates 13% of employees’ TCTC over five years of service. It
pays 70% and 30% of the accumulated value to employees after the
fifth and seventh years of service, respectively, provided they achieve a
minimum average performance score of 70% over the period.

The company focused on leadership interventions for the management
team in 2020.

Performance bonuses

Although the academies were disrupted for part of the year, MTC
maintained elements of the following academies:

MTC reviewed and changed the MTC profit share scheme to the MTC
performance bonus policy. Performance bonuses are paid to permanent
employees based on the following formula:

•

An On-boarding Academy ensures that employees are adequately
equipped with company information and skills to succeed in
new positions.

•

A Coaching Academy provides leadership development for
supervisors and middle managers.

•

A Talent Academy is geared for consistently good performers with
strong potential identified through the performance management
system. The programme varies from specialised training to
leadership development. The programme resulted in the promotion
of three employees into managerial positions and three into
supervisory roles.

[(Monthly salary x customer service factor) + (Monthly salary x
performance appraisal factor x company economic performance
factor)] x period employed
The maximum potential bonus is 3.25 times the monthly TCTC.
In the past, performance bonuses were paid bi-annually in June and
December. Following successful consultations with employees, the
performance bonus payment frequency was changed to once a year,
after the financial year-end, without changing the amounts paid. This
will be implemented with effect from 1 October 2020.

4

Investing in talent

Talent management and succession planning

MTC academies

MTC offers employee bursaries, study loans and deployment
opportunities to give employees exposure in their areas of study.
17 beneficiaries of MTC’s internal bursary scheme now serve on MTC’s
Exco.

MTC focused on talent management and succession planning in 2020
to ensure that the company continues to attract and retain young
professionals and build an adequate succession pipeline to meet its
human resource requirements in a competitive skills market.

An external bursary scheme contributes to Namibia’s national capacitybuilding agenda and broadens MTC’s recruitment base. The scheme
benefited six undergraduate students (2019: 16), while 60 employees
received interest-free study loans of N$15 000 to further their studies
(2019: 67).

MTC identifies talented successors for critical positions annually.
In 2020, the company developed specific interventions to retain 51
employees and prepare them to take up more senior positions in future.

MTC has a 100% success rate of absorbing students from its internal
and external bursary schemes into the company. After one year, bursars
become permanent employees.

A mentorship programme (Elevate) was launched to ensure that young
talent is recognised and guided by leadership.

Health and safety

Training and development
MTC maintained employee training and development initiatives, and
invested N$5.2 million in a range of initiatives. Each employee has an
individual development plan with identified gaps that are addressed
through training interventions. Many of these interventions are project
related, with costs absorbed by the projects.

MTC commissioned an independent consultant to identify and address
gaps in the health and safety plan. Key focus areas are driving-related
accidents, falling from heights when climbing towers and snakes that
occupy electrical boxes.
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OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE
Technology and infrastructure
Key focus areas
1 Network

performance
2 C
 apital

expenditure
projects
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MTC’s mobile network spans 824km² of
Namibia’s sparsely populated territory
and serves the population of 2.5 million
people. The transmission backbone
interconnects all its systems, using
microwave, satellite, fibre and lease
lines to provide required redundancy.
Continual planning, maintenance and
investment is required to maintain a
network of this scale and ensure MTC
fulfils its commitments to offer digital
access to all Namibians and provide
quality customer service.

The global evolution of wireless networks
MTC invested in the WACS submarine cable in 2015 to increase
internet capacity and connectivity for its business and customers.
Since 2016, MTC has invested in technology and systems to deliver
ICT services, including direct internet access, cloud computing
and cloud telephone solutions.

2006

Routinely monitoring and assessing key indicators and customer
feedback

•

Expanding its coverage and capacity by building new radio sites and
adding additional high speed data layers to existing sites

•

Using allocated spectrum to its fullest capacity

•

Leveraging external research and development capabilities to
maintain global competitiveness

•

Investing in new technology and systems to meet growing customer
demand for mobile connectivity and data services as wireless
networks evolve

5G

increased processing power and data transfer
speeds to scale IoT connectivity

4G boosted connectivity with faster data transfer options

2001

MTC upgrades and improves its core, transmission and radio access
networks by:
•

2019

3G provided network speeds necessary for smart phones

1991
2G mobile phone technology introduced the first wireless internet access
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GEOGRAPHICAL NETWORK COVERAGE (%)

Network performance

MTC’s mobile network is built on:
•

2G/GSM technology on all base stations

•

3G/UMTS on 90.57% of base stations

•

4G/LTE on 35.46% of base stations

•

4.5G/LTE-A active in selected urban areas

•

Huawei’s LTE4T6S to support high speed internet access and
improve customers’ mobile broadband data services

MTC continued to expand and improve its networks while addressing
changes in customer and data usage trends during the COVID-19
lockdown and related restrictions. A key development was the activation
of 274 sites with additional high speed data layers during the lockdown
in April. This supported increases in voice and data traffic and higher
numbers of mobile data users as work patterns shifted to working from
home. Additional spectrum was temporarily secured for one year until
February 2021 to support the increased demand, and MTC continues to
seek a permanent increase in spectrum from the regulator.
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INCREASE IN VOICE AND DATA USAGE USERS DURING SPECTRUM
EXPANSION

ADDITIONAL LAYER TRAFFIC
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Highlights

Challenges

Implemented:

A service interruption on the customer relationship management system in
January 2020 affected Mobile Homes’ customer service.

•

Reverse billing functionality for banking and business customers

•

Online messaging for COVID-19 grant and reverse billing customers

•

Automation and integration of manual business processes, including an online charging system upgrade to
enable new product features

•

Commenced migration of core environment to the cloud

Site infrastructure roll-out:
•

Active sites increased 4.9% to 877 sites, focusing on areas without coverage

•

Mobile broadband (3G) increased 8.1% to 792 sites

•

4G increased 19% to 311 sites

•

Introduced 18 PtMP sites

•

Activated 274 sites with additional high speed data capacity to support increased voice and data traffic

This was partially mitigated by enabling customers to become more self-sufficient
by using online services, including airtime purchases, during the lockdown.

COVID-19 and a lack of power supply to some sites delayed major project
implementation.
This was partially mitigated by prior year investment in workforce collaboration
tools which enabled project teams to shift to remote working with minimal
disruption during lockdown. MTC installed electricity infrastructure at some sites
and in such a manner that it benefits the communities.

Coverage:

IT development

•

2G increased to 97.18% coverage (2019: 96.75%)

•

3G increased to 87.38% coverage (2019: 86.20%)

•

4G decreased to 45.20% coverage (2019: 43.40%)

•

Increased broadband at schools to 84% and health facilities to 87%

Implemented:
•

MTC website and MTC Innovation Centre website

•

The MyMTC Namibia App, an all-in-one self-care app that allows customers to securely access MTC services
and products from their mobile device, gives customers control to manage their phone account, monitor
usage patterns and data usage and subscribe to prepaid and postpaid products and services

•

Equipped employees with computers and software for remote work

•

Automated and integrated business processes to enhance customer service

•

Growing demand for IT services increased pressure on limited IT skills and was
compounded by COVID-19 remote working requirements

•

MTC experienced a ransomware attack which was halted, and affected data was
recovered from backups; no operations were disrupted
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Capital expenditure projects

MTC invested N$535 million in capital expenditure projects (2019: N$511.8 million) to support its vision of being the best digital enabler that meets customer needs. The company focused on addressing key strategic objectives as
COVID-19 impacted project implementation and stimulated growth in customers’ use of digital channels. Enhanced business processes and controls strengthened project implementation and speed of delivery after the lockdown.

Project 2020

Project 2020 comprises major capital expenditure projects to improve and grow MTC’s network

Capacity 2020

081Every1

Expansion of radio access network infrastructure (through
technology upgrades, sector splitting and spectrum refarming) to
meet customer demand and ensure quality voice and data services.

MTC embarked on the project in 2017 to expand its national footprint and achieve 100%
population coverage.

835 sites
(close to 100% of MTC sites) will be
expanded as part of this project.
Approximately

N$400 million

N$1 billion
over five years.

57

524 sites
Rural
Namibia

274

over three years.

Urban
Namibia

150

Low
cost

100

Status

Status

Added capacity and expanded LTE and 3G to rural areas
and built new coverage sites in urban areas sites to manage
congestion due to remote working during lockdown.

Phase 1 completed in June 2020: 111 rural and 21 urban sites completed and
functioning

Phase 1 completed in June 2020

Phase 2 underway: 91 rural towers to be constructed
Delivery deadline extended to 2023 due to COVID-19 delays

Phase 2 scheduled to be completed in May 2021
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Business support/solution systems
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•

Digitise customer engagement to improve experience,
and support faster distribution of value-added services

•

Strengthen and maintain the integrity of MTC’s brand
through digital channels and enhanced customer experience

•

Deploy outsourced solutions from value-adding partners

•

Generate a positive return on investment in value-added services

Mob
ilit
y
Data gifting

Wholesale

Streaming

Migrate 2G to 3G,
3G to 4G,
4G to 4.5G
Implement 5G

Gaming

Postpaid value
additions
Loyalty
programmes

ing

Enterprise data warehouse

100% coverage

DIGITAL
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Digital services
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The BSS transformation project is automating and integrating manual
internal business and customer relationship processes across the
company. By providing a 360-degree view of customers, the new BSS
will strengthen customer centricity and improve service efficiency. The
three-year project is currently in its second phase (approximately
45% complete) and expected to go fully live in January 2021.

Affordable
smart phones

Dev

i ce

at
s tr
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y

ata strategy

MTC evolves constantly by investing in technology to
develop innovative solutions that improve the lives of
customers. During 2020, the company made significant
progress in upgrading its legacy operations and business
support systems to create a more agile customer centric
system capable of meeting the following business
objectives:
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nt and digital
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Digital transformation
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Dual d

MTC is seeking alternative revenue growth and diversified customer
service in the internet and broadband (fixed-line) services market. We
initiated fibre, secure cloud and hosted PBX value-added services
to business customers in 2019 and introduced Spectra Home
to accommodate increased demand from customers working
from home.

En
te
r

Fixed services

In 2020, MTC’s technical and commercial teams worked
together to deploy the PtMP wireless connectivity solution
for rapid deployment of enterprise and home services. This
fast-tracked account activation and increased the number
of business subscribers.

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S STRATEGIC OVERVIEW

MTC is centralising all reports in a document warehouse
to improve enterprise document management. The new
enterprise data warehouse will provide data-informed
analysis and insight to improve MTC’s understanding of
customer behaviour and trends and inform decisions
about changes to products and services. The project’s
first phase is almost complete, with 80% of its functions
already operational. Phase two is scheduled to be
completed during 2021.
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Products and services
MTC offers innovative products and services to targeted individual and business customer
segments. MTC’s marketing and promotional campaigns leverage the company’s products and
services, nationwide distribution network and infrastructure to respond continuously to customers’
evolving needs.
Key focus areas
MTC strengthened its position as Namibia’s leading mobile provider by introducing several
product innovations and maintaining network quality in response to customers’ need for
flexibility and affordability in changing market conditions. MTC focused on products that enable
remote work from home and support increasing demand for more data at lower cost.

1 Postpaid and prepaid packages
2 F
 ixed-line services
3 V
 alue-added services

The increased demand is reflected in 27% growth in YouTube video streaming, 42% increase in
instant messaging and 25% in gaming since April 2020.
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MTC’s drive into the fixed services market yielded 1% growth in its fibre market share, and
generated a new revenue source to address market saturation in its core offerings.

TOTAL TRAFFIC PER DAY (MB)
250 000
187 500
125 000
62 500
0
Total

LOCKDOWN

180 884
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213 335
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Jan
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Average daily use/month
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for the year ending
Products and services
Postpaid

New in 2020

•

24-month contracts with voice, data, SMS with
or without a device

•

38 different service plans, 10 LTE packages and
11 business solution packages

•

Voice and data roaming on more than 334
networks in 146 countries

Enhanced voice and data solutions for
individuals and businesses

•

Promoted reverse billing where companies
pay for customer use of company websites
or apps

•

Relaxed contract terms for loyal financially
distressed customers, enabling them to
reduce the period of postpaid contracts
and switch to more affordable prepaid
subscriptions

•
•

•

55% of customers are individuals and 45% are
businesses

Launched additional data offerings, including
TurboBoost offerings on LTE packages and
Netman and OfficeBox 3G and 4G packages

ACTIVE POSTPAID CUSTOMERS (%)
52%

17%

31%

60

Voice plans
Prepaid

Postpaid and prepaid

•

Baseline service plan (Tango) allows flexibility
and lifetime access to MTC network provided
there is one chargeable event monthly

•

Introduced Multiple Aweh to enable
customers to subscribe to up to three of the
popular Aweh offerings at a time

•

Seven-day bundled subscriptions (Aweh),
tailored for target segments, with additions,
such as call minutes, SMS and affordable data

•

Introduced Taamba product solutions

•

International voice bundles – reduced
international tariffs to various destinations

•

Recharge and credit transfer – top ups with
recharge vouchers and credit transfers to
other MTC numbers

•

Streaming bundles – data access to video on
demand sites and service providers

•

Taamba Advance allows customers to
make advance purchases of airtime

•

Taamba Transfer enables sharing with
other MTC customers

•

Taamba Gifting enables purchasing data
for someone else by using available credit

Business solutions

Data plans

2.3%
increase in prepaid customers as postpaid customers took up more
affordable options (2019: 1.9%)

•

Introduced Triple My Data on normal 60-day bundles during April and May, excluding TurboBoost bundles

•

Introduced MTC TikTok data bundles from as little as N$5 for an 800MB daily bundle, making it more affordable for
users to create and upload their own videos where they lip-sync, sing, dance or imitate famous talks and interact
with other users’ content Increased self-service through MyMTC, MTC’s mobile app, and evouchers
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2 IFRS 15 impact – a change in the way MTC accounts for postpaid subscription
revenue.

Products and services
Value-added services

•

•

Fixed services

Differentiated products and value-added
services to increase data revenue and retain
loyal business customer base, including
secure cloud hosted solutions for back-up and
telephony

61

New in 2020
•

Introduced MTC TikTok, DSTV and Showmax
data bundles

0.939 MILLION
subscribers used value-added content services (2019: 1.45 million)

Value-added services include:
•

Content delivered via web, SMS and other
messaging technologies

•

Video content accessible via smartphones

•

New revenue stream

•

Enterprises provided with fibre to the office
and home, and value-added services such as
cloud PBX and secure cloud facilities

•

Introduced PtMP solutions for rapid
deployment of fixed broadband services

1%
growth in market share
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for the year ending

Distribution

PREPAID REVENUE GENERATED BY DISTRIBUTION
CHANNEL (%)

MTC has an extensive nationwide sales and distribution network that serves Namibians across widely dispersed urban and rural areas. A combination
of fixed service outlets and a growing dealership network enables MTC to sell the right products to targeted market segments through appropriate
sales channels.

1.36%

The dealerships are valued channel partners as they maintain MTC’s brand visibility in remote locations, retain and grow customers, stimulate airtime
sales, increase ARPU in their channel customer bases and empower new smaller vendors.
During the COVID-19 lockdown two of MTC’s most active Mobile Homes in the Khomas and Erongo regions were temporarily closed, and others
reduced their customer numbers for social distancing. The postponement of marketing festivals, which are valuable sales channels, also affected
distribution. MTC increased the supply of recharge vouchers (scratch cards) to distributors and shifted airtime sales to the newly launched evoucher
system, which enabled a growing number of dealers and smaller vendors to sell airtime online.

Distribution network
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Mobile homes

Dealership network

35 retail

29 prepaid

and service centre
outlets nationwide

and postpaid dealers service remote customers in rural areas

Mobile retail
outlet

used as a pop-up store

Data hub
in Windhoek supports
data-related services,
set-up and products

Source and sell
handsets and airtime and manage customer acquisition, data and device
set-up and activation, contract renewal and SIM replacements

Account for the 99%
of MTC’s airtime sales (2019: 99%)

Distribute
to small retailers, including street vendors

Dispense

Fully equipped

evouchers

repair centre

99%

in Windhoek

of MTC’s prepaid market serviced by dealers

32.06%

Tango (prepaid dealers)
Electronic channels
Mobile homes

66.58%
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COVID-19: PARTNERING WITH OUR CUSTOMERS
•

Adhered to national COVID-19 safety measures and regulations at all physical retail outlets

•

Promoted customer adoption of digital platforms to lessen dependence on Mobile Homes
during lockdown

•

Increased network capacity to facilitate surge in data traffic and improve service quality in
residential areas during lockdown

•

Offered free or enhanced data on certain packages and introduced flexible new packages to
enable data advancing, transferring and gifting

•

Allowed loyal customers experiencing financial stress to shorten 24-month contracts or
temporarily suspend contract payments

•

Deployed PtMP solution for rapid deployment of internet and broadband (fixed-line) services to
business customers, enabling them to maintain customer service on digital platforms

GOING FORWARD
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Branding and sponsorships
As a leading mobile operator with a strong and respected brand, MTC consistently maintains its market
position, retains customers and grows brand loyalty.
Through aggressive marketing, promotions, brand building, sponsorship programmes and value-added
services, MTC leverages its innovative products and services, nationwide distribution network and
infrastructure to entrench its strong market and financial position.

Branding
MTC’s brand is purpose-driven to enhance customer loyalty, which is measured by an annual customer value
management survey. The marketing strategy promotes MTC as the preferred brand for existing and future
customers.

MOST ADMIRED NAMIBIAN BRAND
In June 2020, MTC was named the most admired Namibian brand by the Brand Africa survey that
was conducted for the first time in Namibia. The survey was conducted independently, and MTC was
honoured to be chosen by Namibians as their number one brand.

INCREASING BRAND VISIBILITY DURING LOCKDOWN

MTC@25

Although many branding events were impacted by the COVID-19
pandemic, MTC devised innovative plans to maintain its brand
visibility, while providing relief to vulnerable groups impacted by
the lockdown.

We celebrated our silver jubilee birthday with print
advertisements, TV animation and messaging on social
media platforms.

MTC launched the Paint Namibia Blue project, painting national
landmarks in major towns with MTC blue. The project provided
employment for a growing number of unemployed youth and
benefited 14 small to medium enterprises.
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Marketing campaigns

Sponsorships

MTC adjusted its marketing strategy to focus on the products that served customers best during the lockdown, promoting these on social media,
SMS, television, radio and outdoor billboards. Several innovative product launches were supported by successful promotional campaigns, which
attracted significant customer responses.

MTC has invested significantly in a range of sponsorships to
support Namibia’s vibrant social fabric and keep the dreams of
aspirant Namibians alive.

The Multiple Aweh campaign highlighted the benefits of being able to make multiple airtime
purchases without having to wait for a subscription to expire. The offering responded to the
needs of home-based customers using more data for work, social media or gaming.
MTC’s advertising spend of N$491 349 to promote Multiple Aweh across various a range of
marketing platforms contributed to a 9% increase in weekly Aweh subscriptions, driving an
increase in prepaid revenue and generating a good return on advertising spend.
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The Taamba campaign showcased MTC’s response to its customers’ needs for flexibility,
convenience and innovative products. The Taamba range of options enables customers to
make advance airtime purchases or to transfer or gift data from the comfort of their homes.
Special offers such as Triple My Data and the conversion of SMSs into data increased data
usage during lockdown.
Advertising spend of N$2 million to promote the Taamba product range generated
significant airtime advances (with 97% repayment), increased data traffic and generated a
good return on advertising spend.
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To promote the PtMP solutions for Spectra, which enable rapid deployment of fixed
broadband services for home users, MTC ran a television campaign and placed advertising
billboards on customers’ grocery shopping routes.
The promotional campaigns contributed to growth in MTC’s fixed services market share.

*

Home

Business

As a leading corporate sponsor in Namibia, MTC spent N$18.2 million
(2019: N$30.5 million) on sponsorships, social initiatives in sport, ICT,
education, health, arts and culture and COVID-19 relief programmes.
The decline in spend was due to the Namibia Premier Soccer League
sponsorship of $15 million payment that was not paid as there were
league matches played during the season ended June 2020.
MTC remained the main sponsor of professional boxing, the Namibia
Premier League and Dr Hage Geingob Cup (soccer), the Dr Sam
Nujoma Windhoek Half Marathon, and the Namibian Annual Music
Awards during 2020. However, many of the beneficiaries’ activities
were disrupted by COVID-19. MTC decided to end its sponsorship of the
Namibian Annual Music Awards and the Namibia Premier League with
effect from 30 September 2020.
MTC entered into new three-year sponsorships valued at N$67.8 million,
with naming rights, for 14 beneficiaries across a range of sporting
codes, including the National Youth Games. MTC will also support
Windhoek Fashion Week. These sponsorships are primarily aimed at
generating opportunities for the country’s youth, whose potential is
often overlooked by policymakers.
The MTC Knockout Project was launched in 2019 to intervene in social
issues and raised N$980 000 for victims of gender-based violence. The
2020 project will raise awareness of the plight of homelessness in Namibia
and raise funds to build a targeted five homes for homeless people, while
generating brand value for MTC. The event will involve 30 Namibian
celebrities impersonating Namibian artists during an online concert in
October 2020.
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Customer service
MTC’s customer centric strategy places customers and customer service and experience at the centre of everything it does. MTC manages and measures
customer relationships through customer retention, customer development and customer value addition.
Key focus areas
1 Customer retention
2 I mproving customer satisfaction
3 C
 ustomer development and value addition

1

Customer retention

MTC maintains continuous, long-term relationships with customers by
listening to them and responding to their needs. We retain customers
and address market saturation by:
•

Delivering flexible, convenient and value-added solutions

•

Developing the capability to analyse and respond proactively to
changing customer needs and behaviours

MTC has developed a customer loyalty programme which will be
implemented in 2021. The programme will offer customers additional
network and product offerings.

2

Improving customer satisfaction

Customer value management survey
MTC’s 2020 customer value management survey conducted externally
by Ipsos rated our customers’ perception of the value we offer at 73%.
80.0
77.5

MTC uses a range of indices to measure and improve customer
satisfaction:

75.0

Customer value management survey: This main survey is conducted
annually by an external consultant and assesses customer feedback

72.5

Service quality assessments: A quarterly ghost caller assesses the
soft skills and knowledge of customer service centre employees

•

Being an all-in-one provider of a wide range of simple service
offerings

•

Ensuring optimal network capacity and resolving customer
complaints 24/7

•

Maintaining and upgrading the network to meet customer demand
for voice and data communication

•

Introducing custom-made solutions, including fibre and cloud,
using existing infrastructure

•

Monitoring and measuring the quality of customer touchpoints
whenever they engage with MTC’s brand

Queueing time relative to service level agreements: The efficiency
of responses to customer requests at all touchpoints is measured

•

Training and developing employees to exceed customer service
expectations

MTC managers and supervisors monitor these indices routinely and
take remedial action if service is sub-standard.

Customer satisfaction surveys: A quarterly survey measures service
at all MTC physical touchpoints
Mystery shoppers: Quarterly anonymous visitors to Mobile Homes
measure service and employee performance
After-service feedback: Customers can register satisfaction with
service at customer contact centres and Mobile Homes by SMS

77%

78%

77%

73%
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We are seeing that service quality and corporate image are becoming
more important and have a greater impact on CVM than network quality.
Billing and administration featuring under service quality also has a
higher impact in 2020. Given the impact that COVID has had in 2020
on our customers and businesses alike, this should come as a surprise
that minor declines are noted. MTC customer ratings for Perceived
Value moved from 6 out of 7 ratings (Very Good Value) to 4 and 5 out
of 7 ratings (Average and Good Value). For the next cycle, MTC will
concentrate on providing affordable service and creating brand value
during the pandemic.
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MTC’s independent customer satisfaction and service quality surveys
which are conducted quarterly by Service Quality Assessment showed
an average increase from 2019. The below figures are showing the level
of our customer care responses to complaints and queries.
Customer management
surveys (%)

2017

2018

2019

2020

Customer satisfaction –
MTC customer contact
centre

86.6

85.0

89.1

87.3

Customer satisfaction –
Key account executives

64.9

81.8

83.9

88.9

Service quality – MTC
customer contact centre
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91.0

88.8

88.8

A SNAPSHOT OF MTC

93.2

Customer satisfaction of the key account executives reached an all high
for the past four years and the same for service quality of the MTC
contact centre. Customer satisfaction at the contact centre dropped
from 89.1% to 87.3%, which is still a high score.
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Customer development and value addition

MTC’s strategic objective to grow the value of each retained customer is achieved by cross-selling or up-selling services that meet customers’
changing telecommunication needs.
MTC differentiates itself from competitors by providing responsive product innovations and value-added services such as the Freemail service, voice
mail, balance checks, top up, and SMS feedback service, among others.
The numbers above show levels of our customer care response to complaints and queries for the year. For example, PP corporate shows that
the proactive skills (ability to think critically and take initiative) in solving issues is 84.47%. The service (quality of services) is 91.65%. The resolution
(ability to resolve customer problems) is 100%. The overall average is 92.31%, and customer care achieved a 93.20% average over the three
business units.

PP individual business area achieved the highest and prepaid the lowest. In summary the ranking position within this platform is as follows:
September 2020
Business area service %

Proactive skills %

Service %

Resolution %

Overall %

MTC

87.60

92.85

99.25

93.20

PP corporate

84.47

91.65

100

92.39

PP individual

87.33

92.67

100

93.32

Prepaid

88.67

92.85

99.25

93.42
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MTC: A RESPONSIBLE CORPORATE CITIZEN
As a digital enabler, MTC provides solutions for its customers’ ever-changing telecommunications needs. MTC exists to create value for its stakeholders
by placing customer centricity at the core of its strategy. When MTC serves its customers well, protecting them and our business from risk and
capitalising on opportunities to grow together, it creates sustainable, long-term value for all stakeholders.

Unlocking positive economic, environmental and social impact
MTC products, services and business operations unlock positive economic, environmental and social impact and benefits for the society in which
we operate.
Impact area

Our response

Economic

•

•
Environmental

Social

In addition to achieving 100% population coverage across Namibia, the 081Every1 campaign drives economic
development by:
•

Installing electricity for the 081Every1 project in such a way that benefits the surrounding communities that do not
have power.

•

Providing business development and skills transfer to local communities by involving local contractors in the
construction of network masts.

•

Paying fair compensation to landowners on whose land we erect infrastructure.

COVID-19: PROVIDING
HUMANITARIAN RELIEF TO OUR
COMMUNITIES
•

Donated N$200 000 towards emergency food parcels
for 1 200 vulnerable households in each of the five
constituencies in Windhoek’s informal settlements during
lockdown

•

Maintained water supply to informal settlements by
donating N$100 000 to the City of Windhoek to keep
public taps open at no cost to the users during lockdown
and eliminate long queues at municipal centres where
people recharge their water cards

•

Provided lunch parcels and 120 high quality tents valued
at N$600 000 to shelter over 240 homeless Namibians
who were housed in sports stadiums and facilities during
lockdown

MTC contributed N$333.8 million in income tax to Namibia’s public finances in 2020.

MTC has enhanced its focus on responsible environmental stewardship by:
•

Advocating for ecommerce based on the use of digital products and services that do not require paper. We are
automating and integrating core business support and customer relationship systems and encourage ebilling by
charging extra for printed or posted invoices.

•

Complying with laws and regulations that govern the safety of infrastructure and ensuring that environmental impact
assessments are conducted by the relevant authorities on all of our permanent and temporary sites.

•

Increasing the use of solar batteries in base stations to reduce MTC’s carbon footprint.

•

Our CSI projects and emergency humanitarian funding provide relief to vulnerable communities.

•

In 2020 we provided emergency relief to communities impacted by COVID-19 and supported homeless people and
victims of gender-based violence.

•

Developed the SaveMyCity app to facilitate active
engagement between the government and its citizens
during lockdown, including messaging, questions from
the public and requests for medical or humanitarian
assistance

•

Partnered with the Ministry of Health and Social Services
and the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention to
send out educational messages about COVID-19 to our
2.6 million subscribers
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Corporate social investment

MTC Buy a Brick project

Rural schools project

MTC allocates 0.5% of its annual NPAT to CSI initiatives and aligns these
with its business strategy, recognising the role of telecommunications
in economic growth and community empowerment.

Challenge: With an unemployment rate of over 30% in Namibia, it is
estimated that over 500 000 Namibians do not have adequate shelter.

Challenge: Many of Namibia’s rural schools are in a dilapidated
state and do not offer a favourable education environment for young
learners.

We did not reach the CSI expenditure target in 2020 due to budgetary
and employee capacity constraints. This was largely as a result of
COVID-19 restrictions and the natural diversion of funding to shortterm COVID-19-related crisis projects. As a result, the achievements of
anchor projects such as the Internship and Shack Dwellers’ housing
projects were below expectation.

Flagship projects
MTC Namibia National Internship programme
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Challenge: About 60 000 Namibian students seek internships every
year. Without internships they are unable to graduate if internships are
part of their curriculum, and they lack work experience and require
additional training to enter the workforce.
Solution: MTC’s internship programme assists institutions of higher
learning to place more students and create much-needed job
opportunities now and in the future. The programme aims to sponsor
160 students annually, amounting to 480 students over the next three
years, and place them in internships at participating institutions in the
public and private sectors.
Valued at N$1.8 million, the programme is conducted in partnership
with Namibia’s four largest universities and various vocational training
institutions. Each student receives N$3 000 per month for transport
and living expenses during a three-month internship to ensure optimal
benefit from the learning experience.
As a result of COVID-19 that saw most companies closed, the programme
still managed to enroll a total of 76 students despite the challenges.

Solution: MTC participates in the Standard Bank Buy a Brick project
to help address this affordable-housing shortage in partnership
with the Shack Dwellers Federation of Namibia. The Shack Dwellers
Federation is a non-profit organisation that sells token bricks (erasers)
to companies and the public to raise funds which provide loans for
its members to build homes. Over 8 000 homes have been built as
a result of the project. MTC and Huawei have jointly sponsored
N$10.7 million to build a further 270 houses, restoring the dignity of
many homeless Namibians. To date, 89 of these have been completed,
with the construction of additional homes delayed by COVID-19.

Solution: As part of its contribution to education, MTC constructed
new blocks at two schools in the Kavango East and Kunene regions.
Each school received four new classrooms. MTC intends to extend this
project to other parts of rural Namibia.
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MTC is deeply rooted in Namibia where we have been making the connection for 26 years. We
navigated significant challenges in 2020 and capitalised on the strength of our network and brand
to keep customers well connected. Our financial performance has established a sound base for the
implementation of the growth strategy in 2021, but we remain alert to the uncertainty and potential
impacts of COVID-19 on our operating environment.
2021 focus areas

2021 risks and opportunities

1 Navigate the risk environment

1 Regulatory environment

2 Capitalise on opportunities

2 Service quality – network, customer

3 Maintain financial performance

service and price
3 Cybersecurity
4 Key and associated suppliers

2 Capitalise on opportunities

We will remain at the forefront of the next generation of
telecommunications experiences in Namibia by:
•

Effectively implementing the customer centric strategy,
strengthening customer loyalty and remaining Namibia’s most
admired brand

•

Retaining our position as the leading mobile telecommunications
provider in Namibia and achieving 100% population coverage

•

Diversifying revenue by increasing the fixed network and cloud
market share

•

Implementing the digital transformation and fit for future
organisational realignment to support our strategic transition
from a purely mobile company to a provider of converged
telecommunications solutions

•

Strengthening our research and development, and advancing
Namibian technology through smart partnerships with academia
and innovators

External environment
•

COVID-19 economic impact and
uncertainty

•

Rapidly evolving technology and
regulatory environments

•

Saturated telecommunications market and
declining demand for traditional revenue
streams

5 Strategic project execution
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•

Highly competitive enterprise market

•

Sustained currency volatility amid global
health, economic and political turmoil

1 Navigate the risk environment

Spectrum availability remains MTC’s primary regulatory risk, impacting customer service, revenue growth and MTC’s ability to give all Namibians
access to the digital economy. We will remain focused on securing additional spectrum to advance our growth strategy.
Serving customers well and protecting them from cyberthreats remains a top priority. We will continue to maintain and improve network and systems
to ensure that we always respond to customers’ need for innovative, cost-effective telecommunications solutions. This requires that we mitigate key
supplier risks and ensure that strategic projects maintain our competitiveness in the rapidly evolving world of technology.
COVID-19 and its impact on the Namibian economy reminded MTC of the unpredictability of the external operating environment. We will continue to
ensure that our business continuity and crisis management plans enable the company to withstand external shocks.

3 Maintain financial performance

MTC enters 2021 in a strong financial position, with no debt and
adequate resources to fund the growth strategy. Our key financial focus
areas during the year ahead are:
As MTC continues its strategic intent to manage COVID-19-related risk,
we will continue to see the benefits that the pandemic has brought
in forcing not just MTC but the country as a whole to be more ready
for 4IR through better business management measures and enhanced
management of our human resources, cost of sales, and the acceleration
of digitisation. MTC will expedite its strategic drive to increase the
performance of our data, digital and new-avenue fintech growth. We will
position our brand to unlock this digitalisation opportunity by increasing
the adoption and usage of our data, digital and fintech services over the
medium to long term. COVID has also increased our uptake in enterprise
businesses during the challenging economic environment.
As we prepare MTC to list on the NSX, we will continue to review
and strengthen governance in line with best practice. We will remain
focused on fulfilling the expectations of the current shareholder and
future investors as we continue to create value for all stakeholders.
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The directors are required in terms of the Companies Act, No 28 of
2004 to maintain adequate accounting records and are responsible for
the content and integrity of the annual financial statements and related
financial information included in this report. It is their responsibility
to ensure that the annual financial statements fairly present the state
of affairs of the group and the company as at the end of the financial
year and the results of its operations and cash flows for the period then
ended, in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards.
The external auditors are engaged to express an independent opinion
on the annual financial statements.

of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls are
monitored throughout the group and all employees are required to
maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring the group’s business
is conducted in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances is above
reproach. The focus of risk management in the group is on identifying,
assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms of risk across
the group. While operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, the group
endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure,
controls, systems and ethical behaviour are applied and managed
within predetermined procedures and constraints.

The annual financial statements are prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards and are based upon
appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and supported by
reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates.

The directors are of the opinion, based on the information and
explanations given by management, that the system of internal control
provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied
on for the preparation of the group and company annual financial
statements. However, any system of internal financial control can
provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The directors acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for the
system of internal financial control established by the group and place
considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment.
To enable the directors to meet these responsibilities, the Board of
Directors sets standards for internal control aimed at reducing the
risk of error or loss in a cost effective manner. The standards include
the proper delegation of responsibilities within a clearly defined
framework, effective accounting procedures and adequate segregation

The directors have reviewed the group and company’s cash flow
forecasts for the foreseeable future and, in light of this review and
the current financial position, they are satisfied that the group and
company has or had access to adequate resources to continue in
operational existence for the foreseeable future.

The external auditors are responsible for independently auditing and
reporting on the group and company’s annual financial statements.
The annual financial statements have been examined by the group and
company’s external auditors and their report is presented on pages 75
to 76.
The annual financial statements set out on pages 77 to 141, which have
been prepared on the going concern basis, were approved by the Board
of Directors on 7 December 2020 and were signed on their behalf by:

T Mberirua

TNZ Muteka
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the members of Mobile Telecommunications Limited

Other Information

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated
and Separate Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises general information and the directors’
responsibilities and approval which we obtained prior to the date of
this auditor’s report and as well as the annual report, which is expected
to be made available to us after the date of this report. The other
information does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express an audit opinion or any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Opinion
We have audited the consolidated and separate annual financial
statements of Mobile Telecommunications Limited as set out on pages
77 to 141, which comprise the consolidated and separate statements of
financial position as at 30 September 2020, and the consolidated and
separate statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated and separate statements of changes in equity and the
consolidated and separate statements of cash flows for the year then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory notes and the directors’ report.
In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial statements
present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated and separate
financial position of the Group and Company as at 30 September
2020, and its consolidated and separate financial performance and
consolidated and separate cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs)
and the requirements of the Companies Act of Namibia.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards
on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the audit of the
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Mobile Telecommunications Limited group
in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) and
other independence requirements applicable to performing audits of
financial statements in Namibia.
We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the
Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation
of the consolidated and separate financial statements in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements
of the Companies Act of Namibia, and for such internal control as
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated and separate financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the consolidated and separate financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group and Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group
or Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated and separate financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and
to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated and separate financial
statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated and separate financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group and Company’s internal control.
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group or Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated and separate
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Group or company to cease to
continue as a going concern.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated and separate financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated and separate financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

Per: J Cronjé
Partner

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group
to express an opinion on the consolidated and separate financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

Deloitte & Touche
Registered Accountants and Auditors
Chartered Accountants (Namibia)
ICAN practice number: 9407

Deloitte Building, Maerua Mall Complex, Jan Jonker Road
PO Box 47, Windhoek, Namibia
8 December 2020
Partners: RH Mc Donald (Managing Partner), H de Bruin, J Cronjé,
A Akayombokwa, AT Matenda, J Nghikevali, G Brand*, M Harrison*
* Director

Associate of Deloitte Africa, a Member of Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu Limited
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
The directors have pleasure in submitting their report on the annual
financial statements of the company and the group for the year ended
30 September 2020.

1.

Nature of business
MTC conducts business as a registered telecommunications
provider. The principal nature of the business is to invest in the
telecommunications infrastructure of Namibia for provisioning
of total communication solutions to the customer base.
Although MTC is an autonomous Namibian company, it also
provides international telecommunication solutions through
direct liaison with providers of telecommunication services
worldwide.
The nature of the business did not change during the year under
review.
The following business activities are conducted through
controlled entities:
• Jurgens Thirty Four (Pty) Ltd – Letting of property
• Windhoek General Administrators (Pty) Ltd – Dormant
• MTC Social Responsibility Trust – Trust established
to harness resources for establishing and maintaining
infrastructure with the principal focus on the care, welfare
and support for children or orphans who cannot rely on the
support of their parents and are homeless. The trustees have
previously decided to unwind the trust form 30 June 2009
onwards. Before this process was completed the process
was halted pending a change in the mandate of the trust to
focus on larger corporate social responsibility matters. As at
30 September 2020 the trust had no assets or liabilities to
report (2019: Nil).

2.	Review of financial results and
activities

The group recorded a net profit after tax for the year ended 30 September 2020 of N$772 399 000. This represented a decrease of 3% from
the net profit after tax of the prior year of N$797 040 000.
The company recorded a net profit after tax for the year ended 30 September 2020 of N$772 250 000. This represented a decrease of 3% from
the net profit after tax of the prior year of N$799 123 000.
Group and company revenue increased by 3% from N$2 613 665 000 in the prior year to N$2 683 274 000 for the year ended
30 September 2020.
The increase in group and company revenue is as a result of the launch of a number of campaigns, new service plans and the launch of
enterprise solutions to stimulate increased usage by customers as well as to retain customers to by servicing all their telecommunication
needs.
Subscriber base – number of active subscribers
Pre‑paid
Post‑paid

2020
2 421 694
154 129
2 575 823

2019
2 367 748
155 890
2 523 638

3. Share capital
The authorised and issued share capital remained unchanged during the year under review. Details of the authorised, issued and unissued
share capital at 30 September 2020 are set out in note 20 to the financial statements.
Shareholding
Namibia Post and Telecommunications Holdings Limited

2020
100%

2019
100%

2020
N$’000
211 000
400 000
366 754
–
–
977 754

2019
N$’000
–
–
–
224 243
188 430
412 673

4. Dividends distributed
Declared 11 November 2019, paid 27 December 2019
Declared 11 December 2019, paid 27 December 2019
Declared 30 June 2020, paid 9 July 2020
Declared 6 December 2018, paid 8 January 2019
Declared 13 June 2019, paid 28 June 2019

The group and company’s results of operations are set out on
pages 79.
The financial position of the group and company are set out in
the statements of financial position on page 80.
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5.	Dividend declared subsequent to
year-end
On 7 December 2020, an ordinary dividend of N$202 746 000
was declared, but has not yet been paid out to the shareholder
at the date of these financial statements.

6. Insurance and risk management
The group follows a policy of reviewing the risks relating to
assets and possible liabilities arising from business transactions
with its insurers on at least an annual basis. Wherever possible
assets are automatically included. There is also a continuous
asset risk control programme, which is carried out in conjunction
with the group’s insurance brokers. All risks are considered to
be adequately covered, except for political risks, in the case
of which as much cover as is reasonably available has been
arranged.
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7.

Capital expenditure
For the year under review, capital expenditure approved was
N$784 million (2019: N$990 million) which included capital
expenditure carried forward from the previous financial year.
The capital expenditure incurred was N$536 million (2019:
N$511 million), which was funded out of internal cash generated
from operations, with the main aim to ensure capacity in the
existing network and extensive coverage within Namibia.
The capital expenditure incurred was less than the approved
expenditure due mainly to unforeseen delays in capital projects.

8. Property, plant and equipment
There was no change in the nature of the property, plant and
equipment of the group or in the policy regarding their use.

9. Interests in subsidiaries
Details of material interests in subsidiary companies are
presented in the group annual financial statements in note 15.

10. Directorate
The directors in office at the date of this report are as follows:
Directors
Office
Designation
T Mberirua
Chairperson
Non‑executive Independent
TNZ Muteka
Deputy chair
Non‑executive
EE Nashilongo
Director
Non‑executive Independent
LP Mbwale
Director
Non‑executive
S Galloway
Director
Non‑executive Independent
TM Munyika
Director
Non‑executive
W Schuckmann
Director
Non‑executive Independent
RR Shipiki
Director
Non‑executive Independent
T Gawaxab
Director
Non‑executive Independent

Nationality
Namibian
Namibian
Namibian
Namibian
Namibian
Namibian
Namibian
Namibian
Namibian

Changes

Resigned 30 November 2019
Resigned 30 November 2019
Appointed 1 December 2019
Appointed 1 December 2019

11. Events after the reporting period
On 7 December 2020, an ordinary dividend of N$202 746 000 was declared, but has not yet been paid out to the shareholder at the date
of these financial statements.
The directors are not aware of any other material event which occurred after the reporting date and up to the date of this report.

12. Secretary
The company secretary is Mrs Stephanie Elago.
Business address:	Corner of Hamutenya Ndadi & Mose Tjitendero Street
Olympia
Windhoek Namibia

13. Auditors
Deloitte & Touche will continue in office in accordance with section 278(2) of the Companies Act of 2004.
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STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Revenue
Other income
Total income
Changes in inventories of finished goods
Direct costs
Sales and marketing
General and administration
Personnel costs
Depreciation
Amortisation
Profit from operations
Investment income
Fair value adjustments
Finance costs
Profit before taxation
Taxation
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Earnings per share
Per share information
Basic and diluted earnings per share (Cents)

Note(s)
4

10
14
4
5
13
6
8

9

GROUP
2020
N$’000
2 683 274
2 142
2 685 416
(272 020)
(384 696)
(68 393)
(193 406)
(369 836)
(248 337)
(71 390)
1 077 338
63 560
–
(22 592)
1 118 306
(345 907)
772 399
–
772 399

2019
N$’000
2 613 665
4 319
2 617 984
(300 930)
(344 788)
(87 498)
(206 698)
(332 973)
(234 850)
(50 505)
1 059 742
69 563
(2 099)
–
1 127 206
(330 166)
797 040
–
797 040

COMPANY
2020
N$’000
2 683 274
1 739
2 685 013
(272 020)
(384 696)
(68 393)
(193 229)
(369 836)
(248 329)
(71 390)
1 077 120
63 558
–
(22 592)
1 118 086
(345 836)
772 250
–
772 250

2019
N$’000
2 613 665
4 107
2 617 772
(300 930)
(344 788)
(87 498)
(206 510)
(332 973)
(234 842)
(50 505)
1 059 726
69 556
–
–
1 129 282
(330 159)
799 123
–
799 123

772 399

797 040

772 250

799 123

772 399

797 040

772 250

799 123

3 089.60

3 188.16

–

–
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Note(s)

80

GROUP
2020
N$’000

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Investment property
Intangible assets
Investments in subs
Loans to employees
Contract assets
Long-term deposit

10
11
13
14
15
17
22
28

1 260 002
214 593
5 665
628 830
–
2 336
8 909
1 594
2 121 929

Current assets
Inventories
Loan to subsidiaries
Loans to employees
Trade and other receivables
Contract assets
Cash and cash equivalents

16
15
17
18
22
19

Total assets
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Share capital
Retained income
Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities
Deferred tax
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Lease liabilities
Deferred income
Current tax payable
Provisions
Total liabilities
Total equity and liabilities

2019
N$’000

2019
N$’000

489 746
–
1 149
20 753
49
1 678 796

1 259 994
214 593
–
628 830
458
2 336
8 909
1 594
2 116 714

1 161 418
–
–
489 746
458
1 149
20 753
49
1 673 573

68 635
–
513
167 546
126 571
777 581
1 140 846
3 262 775

56 199
–
1 692
151 604
124 798
1 044 858
1 379 151
3 057 947

68 635
3 240
513
167 498
126 571
777 537
1 140 754
3 260 708

56 199
3 449
1 692
151 582
124 798
1 044 809
1 379 080
3 056 102

20

25 000
2 101 149
2 126 149

25 000
2 284 888
2 309 888

25 000
2 098 510
2 123 510

25 000
2 282 398
2 307 398

11
21

182 428
296 708
479 136

–
274 456
274 456

182 428
297 283
479 711

–
275 101
275 101

24
11
25

434 163
45 490
155 095
17 923
4 819
657 490
1 136 626
3 262 775

313 066
–
142 835
13 170
4 532
473 603
748 059
3 057 947

434 140
45 490
155 095
17 943
4 819
657 487
1 137 198
3 260 708

313 046
–
142 835
13 190
4 532
473 603
748 704
3 056 102

23

1 161 434
–

COMPANY
2020
N$’000

5 665
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Note(s)
GROUP
Opening balance as previously reported
Adjustments
Change in accounting policy – IFRS 15
Balance at 1 October 2018 as restated
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income for the year
Dividends
Total contributions by and distributions to owners of company recognised directly in equity
Opening balance as previously reported
Adjustments
Change in accounting policy – IFRS 16 (see Note 3)
Balance at 1 October 2019 as restated
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income for the year
Dividends
Total contributions by and distributions to owners of company recognised directly in equity
Balance at 30 September 2020
Note

20

Share capital
N$’000

Retained
income
N$’000

Total equity
N$’000

25 000

1 915 005

1 940 005

–
25 000
–
–
–
–
–
25 000

(14 484)
1 900 521
797 040
–
797 040
(412 673)
(412 673)
2 284 888

(14 484)
1 925 521
797 040
–
797 040
(412 673)
(412 673)
2 309 888

–
25 000
–
–
–
–
–
25 000

21 616
2 306 504
772 399
–
772 399
(977 754)
(977 754)
2 101 149

21 616
2 331 504
772 399
–
772 399
(977 754)
(977 754)
2 126 149
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Note(s)
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COMPANY
Opening balance as previously reported
Adjustments
Change in accounting policy – IFRS 15
Balance at 1 October 2018 as restated
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income for the year
Dividends
Total contributions by and distributions to owners of company recognised directly in equity
Opening balance as previously reported
Adjustments
Change in accounting policy – IFRS 16 (see Note 3)
Balance at 1 October 2019 as restated
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income for the year
Dividends
Total contributions by and distributions to owners of company recognised directly in equity
Balance at 30 September 2020
Note

20

Share capital
N$’000

Retained
income
N$’000

Total equity
N$’000

25 000

1 910 432

1 935 432

–
25 000
–
–
–
–
–
25 000

(14 484)
1 895 948
799 123
–
799 123
(412 673)
(412 673)
2 282 398

(14 484)
1 920 948
799 123
–
799 123
(412 673)
(412 673)
2 307 398

–
25 000
–
–
–
–
–
25 000

21 616
2 304 014
772 250
–
772 250
(977 754)
(977 754)
2 098 510

21 616
2 329 014
772 250
–
772 250
(977 754)
(977 754)
2 123 510
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Note(s)
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash receipts from customers
Cash paid to suppliers and employees
Cash generated from operations
Investment income
Finance costs
Tax paid
Net cash from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of other intangible assets
Net movements in loan to subsidiary
Construction deposit paid
Movement in loans to employees
Net cash from investing activities

26

27

10
14
28
17

Cash flows from financing activities
Payment on lease liabilities
Dividends paid
Net cash from financing activities
Total cash movement for the year
Cash at the beginning of the year
Net foreign exchange differences
Total cash at end of the year

19

GROUP
2020
N$’000

2019
N$’000

COMPANY
2020
N$’000

2019
N$’000

2 677 403
(1 118 757)
1 558 646
63 560
(22 592)
(329 073)
1 270 541

2 611 024
(1 278 674)
1 332 350
69 563
–
(311 864)
1 090 049

2 677 429
(1 118 985)
1 558 444
63 558
(22 592)
(329 073)
1 270 337

2 611 026
(1 278 692)
1 332 334
69 556
–
(311 864)
1 090 026

(314 856)
600
(209 042)
–
(1 594)
(8)
(524 900)

(398 574)
1 402
(111 662)
–
(49)
(2 841)
(511 724)

(314 856)
600
(209 042)
209
(1 594)
(8)
(524 691)

(398 575)
1 402
(111 662)
119
(49)
(2 841)
(511 606)

(21 409)
(977 754)
(999 163)

–
(412 673)
(412 673)

(21 409)
(977 754)
(999 163)

–
(412 673)
(412 673)

(253 522)
1 044 858
(13 755)
777 581

165 652
879 075
131
1 044 858

(253 517)
1 044 809
(13 755)
777 537

165 747
878 931
131
1 044 809
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1.

Significant accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated and separate annual financial statements are set out below.

1.1 Basis of preparation
The annual financial statements as set out on pages 77 to 141 have been prepared on the going concern basis in accordance with, and in compliance with, International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) interpretations issued and effective at the time of preparing these annual financial statements and the Companies Act, No 28 of 2004.
The annual financial statements have been prepared on the historic cost convention, unless otherwise stated in the accounting policies which follow and incorporate the principal accounting policies set out below. They
are presented in Namibia Dollars, which is the group and company’s functional currency.
These accounting policies are consistent with the previous period, except for the changes set out in note 3.

1.2 Statement of compliance
The financial statements of the company and group have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS’s) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the
requirements of the Companies Act of Namibia. References to “ the group “ includes the company, unless stated otherwise.

1.3 Consolidation
84

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated annual financial statements incorporate the annual financial statements of the company and all subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are entities (including structured entities) which are controlled by the group.
The group has control of an entity when it is exposed to or has rights to variable returns from involvement with the entity and it has the ability to affect those returns through the use of its power over the entity.
The results of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated annual financial statements from the effective date of acquisition to the effective date of disposal.
Adjustments are made when necessary to the annual financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with those of the group.
All inter-company transactions, balances, and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are eliminated in full on consolidation. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are identified and recognised separately from the group’s interest therein, and are recognised within equity. Losses of subsidiaries attributable to
non-controlling interests are allocated to the non-controlling interest even if this results in a debit balance being recognised for non-controlling interest.
Where a subsidiary is disposed of and a non-controlling shareholding is retained, the remaining investment is measured to fair value with the adjustment to fair value recognised in profit or loss as part of the gain or loss
on disposal of the controlling interest. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.

1.4 Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty
The preparation of annual financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management, from time to time, to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. These estimates and associated assumptions are based on experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual
results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised
and in any future periods affected.
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1.

Significant accounting policies (continued)

1.4 Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
The critical judgements made by management in applying accounting policies, apart from those involving estimations, that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements, are
outlined as follows:

Revenue recognition
Revenue recognition under IFRS 15 is significantly more complex than under previous reporting requirements and necessitates the preparation and processing of very large amounts of data and the increased use of
management judgements and estimates to produce financial information. Those judgements include the term of contract, average markup of handsets and application of an effective interest rate.

Leases
Recognition of leases under IFRS 16 has required management to use various assumptions and estimates in determination of specifically the expected lease term and the expected discount rate to be applied
to various leases.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Impairment testing

85

The group reviews and tests the carrying value of assets when events or changes in circumstances suggest that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. When such indicators exist, management determine the
recoverable amount by performing value in use and fair value calculations. These calculations require the use of estimates and assumptions. When it is not possible to determine the recoverable amount for an individual
asset, management assesses the recoverable amount for the cash generating unit to which the asset belongs.
Factors taken into consideration in reaching such an decision include the economic viability of the asset or economic unit of assets.
Given the special nature of our tangible and intangible assets, market information is not freely available which requires management to make judgements based on their experience and expectations.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment
Management assess the appropriateness of the useful lives and residual values of property, plant and equipment at the end of each reporting period and may vary depending on a number of factors. In assessing asset
lives, factors such as technological innovation and maintenance programmes are taken into account. Residual value assessments consider issues such as future market conditions, the remaining life of the asset and
projected disposal values.
When the estimated useful life of an asset differs from previous estimates, the change is applied prospectively in the determination of the depreciation charge.

Trade receivables
The group assesses its trade receivables for impairment at the end of each reporting period. In determining whether an impairment loss should be recorded in profit or loss, the group makes judgements as to whether
there is observable data indicating a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from the financial asset.
The impairment (or loss allowance) for trade receivables is calculated using the expected credit loss matrix per portfolio, as required by IFRS 9. The only exception is for individually significant trade receivables which are
assessed separately and credit losses separately recognised. The matrix is based on historical credit losses, adjusted for national and industry-specific economic conditions and other indicators present at the reporting
date that correlate with defaults on the portfolio.
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1.

Significant accounting policies (continued)

1.4 Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Intangible assets
Intangible assets are amortised over their finite useful lives, The carrying amount of intangible assets is reviewed annually and adjusted for impairment if there is any indication that it may be impaired.

Sources of estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions and key sources of estimation uncertainty with regard to retention bonuses and severance pay liabilities are disclosed in note 23.

Determination of standalone selling price
Where the group doesn’t sell equivalent goods or services in similar circumstances on a standalone basis it is necessary to estimate the standalone price. When estimating the standalone price the group maximises
the use of external inputs; methods for estimating standalone prices include determining the standalone price of similar goods and services sold by the group or using a cost-plus reasonable margin approach (which is
sometimes the case for handsets and other equipment). Where it is not possible to reliably estimate standalone prices due to lack of observable standalone sales or highly variable pricing, which is sometimes the case
for services, the standalone price of an obligation may be determined as the transaction price less the standalone prices of other obligations in the contract. The standalone price determined for obligations materially
impacts the allocation of revenue between obligations and impacts the timing of revenue when obligations are provided to customers at different times – for example, the allocation of revenue between handsets, which
are usually delivered up-front, and services which are typically delivered over the contract period. However, there is not considered to be a significant risk of material adjustment to the carrying value of contract related
assets or liabilities in the 12 months after the reporting date if these estimates were revised.
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1.5 Investment property
Investment property is recognised as an asset when, and only when, it is probable that the future economic benefits that are associated with the investment property will flow to the enterprise, and the cost of the
investment property can be measured reliably.
Investment property is initially recognised at cost. Transaction costs are included in the initial measurement.
Costs include costs incurred initially and costs incurred subsequently to add to, or to replace a part of, or service a property. If a replacement part is recognised in the carrying amount of the investment property, the
carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.
Investment properties are derecognised when either they have been disposed of or when the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal. Any
gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment property are recognised in profit or loss in the year of retirement or disposal.

Fair value
Subsequent to initial measurement investment property is measured at fair value.
A gain or loss arising from a change in fair value is included in net profit or loss for the period in which it arises.
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1.

Significant accounting policies (continued)

1.6 Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses. Intangible assets are recognised if any future economic benefits are expected and those benefits could be reliably measured. Intangible assets consist of software licences. The amortisation rate used is:
2020
per annum

2019
per annum

Computer software

5.88 – 33.33%

5.88 – 70.59%

Network software

5.88 – 33.33%

5.88 – 33.33%

Customer bases

5.88 – 34.29%

5.88 – 66.67%

20%

20%

Licences

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite. Intangibles with finite lives are amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation expense is recognised in profit or loss in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method is reviewed at each financial year-end. Changes in the expected useful life of the assets are accounted for by changing the amortisation period, as appropriate, and
treated as changes in accounting estimates. Refer to note 12 for the effect of this review on the current annual financial statements.
An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition are recognised in profit or loss when the intangible
asset is derecognised.

1.7 Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets are capitalised as part of the cost of such asset. All other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense when
incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

1.8 Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is incurred in bringing each product to its present location and condition, which are accounted for using the weighted average cost per item during
the financial year. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
A provision for obsolete stock is recognised when there is evidence that inventory items have become obsolete. Consideration is given to the age of the inventory, new technological advances and possible replacement
models for the identified inventory.

Integrated Annual Report 2020

87

AN OVERVIEW OF MTC’S 2020 INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT

A SNAPSHOT OF MTC

HOW WE GOVERN MTC

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S STRATEGIC OVERVIEW

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
1.

Significant accounting policies (continued)

1.9 Provisions and contingencies
Provisions are recognised when:
•

the group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event;

•

it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation; and

•

a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

The expense relating to any provision is presented in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income net of any reimbursements. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are
discounted using a current pre tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.
Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised. Contingencies are disclosed in note 29.

Defined contribution plans
Contributions in respect of defined contribution plans are recognised as an expense in the year to which they relate.

1.10 Property, plant and equipment
88

An item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the group, and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
Property, plant and equipment is initially measured at cost. Cost includes all of the expenditure which is directly attributable to the acquisition or construction of the asset, including the capitalisation of borrowing costs
on qualifying assets and adjustments in respect of hedge accounting, where appropriate.
Expenditure incurred subsequently for major services, additions to or replacements of parts of property, plant and equipment are capitalised if it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the expenditure
will flow to the group and the cost can be measured reliably. Day-to-day servicing costs are included in profit or loss in the year in which they are incurred.
Major spare parts and stand by equipment which are expected to be used for more than one year are included in property, plant and equipment.
Property, plant and equipment is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses, except for land which is stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

1.10 Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Depreciation is calculated so as to write off the cost of property, plant and equipment on a straight-line basis, over the estimated useful life of the asset to its residual value. Land is not depreciated. Capital work-in-progress
is not depreciated as these assets are not yet available for use. Depreciation rates used are:
2020
per annum

2019
per annum

5%

5%

Computer and prepaid equipment

10 – 33.33%

8.28 – 100%

Network equipment

4.55 – 20%

4.0 – 85.71%

Motor vehicles

6.25 – 25%

9.6 – 25%

5.26 – 21.43%

5.26 – 26.09%

Buildings

Furniture and fittings

33.33%

16.67 – 46.15%

Employee handsets

50%

50 – 100%

Projects

50%

50%

Leasehold improvements

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method of each asset are reviewed at the end of each reporting year. If the expectations differ from previous estimates, the change is accounted for prospectively as a
change in accounting estimate.
The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. If any such indication exists and where
the carrying values exceed the estimated recoverable amount, the assets or cash-generating units are written down to their recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment is the greater
of net selling price and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset.
Each significant component included in an item of property, plant and equipment is separately recorded and depreciated. The depreciation rates corresponds to the estimated average useful lives of the respective assets.
For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Impairment losses are recognised in the statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
asset is included in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the year the item is derecognised.
General and special purpose buildings are generally classified as owner occupied. They are held at cost and depreciated as property, plant and equipment and not regarded as investment properties.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

1.11 Financial instruments
Financial instruments held by the group are classified in accordance with the provisions of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments. Financial assets and liabilities, in respect of financial instruments, are recognised on the group’s
statement of financial position when the group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on trade date where the purchase or sale of the financial asset is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the instrument within the time frame established by
the market concerned.
Subsequent to initial recognition, these instruments are measured as follows:
• Financial assets that are debt instruments, are classified based on how they are managed by the business and the nature of their contractual cash flows.
• All other investments, including trade receivables, are held to collect contractual interest and principal repayments and are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment.
Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the group are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and the applicable definitions. An equity instrument is any contract
that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the group after deducting all of its liabilities and includes no obligation to deliver cash or other financial asset.
Subsequent to initial measurement, these instruments are measured as follows:
• Trade and other payables (excluding liabilities created by statutory requirements, revenue charged in advance, deferred revenue and reduced subscriptions) are not interest bearing and are subsequently stated at
their nominal values.
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Note 32 Financial instruments and risk management presents the financial instruments held by the group based on their specific classifications.
The specific accounting policies for the classification, recognition and measurement of each type of financial instrument held by the group are presented below.

Loan receivables at amortised cost
Classification
Loans to employees (note 17) and loans to subsidiary companies (note 15) are classified as financial assets subsequently measured at amortised cost.
They have been classified in this manner because the contractual terms of these loans give rise, on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding, and the
group’s business model is to collect the contractual cash flows on these loans.

Recognition and measurement
Loans receivable are recognised when the group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the loan. The loans are measured, at initial recognition, at fair value plus transaction costs, if any.
They are subsequently measured at amortised cost.
The amortised cost is the amount recognised on the loan initially, minus principal repayments, plus cumulative amortisation (interest) using the effective interest method of any difference between the initial amount and
the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss allowance.

Impairment
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, a loss allowance for the expected credit losses is recognised. The amount of expected credit losses is updated to reflect changes in credit risk.
For assessing whether the credit risk have increased, the group considers any change in the risk of default to occur. The group considers market factors as well as historic credit ratings during the assessment.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

1.11 Financial instruments (continued)
Derecognition
Any gains or losses arising on the derecognition of a loan receivable is included in profit or loss.

Trade and other receivables
Classification
Trade and other receivables, excluding, when applicable, VAT and prepayments, are classified as financial assets subsequently measured at amortised cost.
Trade and other receivables mainly consist of amounts owed to us by customers and amounts that we pay to our suppliers in advance.

Recognition and measurement
Trade receivables represent amounts owed by customers where the right to payment is conditional only on the passage of time. Trade receivables that are recovered in installments from customers over an extended
period are discounted at market rates and interest revenue is recognised over the expected repayment period. Other trade receivables do not carry any interest and are stated at their nominal value.

Trade and other receivables denominated in foreign currencies
When trade and other receivables are denominated in a foreign currency, the carrying amount of the receivables are determined in the foreign currency. The carrying amount is then translated to the Namibia Dollar
equivalent using the spot rate at the end of each reporting period. Any resulting foreign exchange gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss.
Details of foreign currency risk exposure and the management thereof are provided in the trade and other receivables (note 18).

Impairment
The group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on trade and other receivables, excluding VAT and prepayments. The amount of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date.
The carrying value of all trade receivables and contract assets recorded at amortised cost is reduced by allowances for lifetime estimated credit losses. Estimated future credit losses are first recorded on the initial
recognition of a receivable and irrecoverable amounts are based on the ageing of the receivable balances and historical experience. Individual balances are written off when management deems them not to be collectible
due to increased credit risk. For assessing whether the credit risk have increased, the group considers any change in the risk of default to occur. The group considers market factors as well as historic credit ratings during
the assessment. Refer to note 18 to the annual financial statements.

Write-off policy
The group writes off a receivable when, after the receivable has been overdue for more than 90 days and no payment arrangement could be negotiated. Receivables written off are still be subject to enforcement activities
under the group recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.

Derecognition
Any gains or losses arising on the derecognition of trade and other receivables is included in profit or loss.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

1.11 Financial instruments (continued)
Trade and other payables
Classification
Trade and other payables (note 24), excluding VAT and amounts received in advance, are classified as financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Recognition and measurement
They are recognised when the group becomes a party to the contractual provisions, and are measured, at initial recognition, at fair value plus transaction costs, if any.
They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised cost of a financial liability.
If trade and other payables contain a significant financing component, and the effective interest method results in the recognition of interest expense, then it is included in profit or loss in finance costs (note 6).
Trade and other payables expose the group to liquidity risk and possibly to interest rate risk. Refer to note 32 for details of risk exposure and management thereof.
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Trade and other payables denominated in foreign currencies
When trade payables are denominated in a foreign currency, the carrying amount of the payables are determined in the foreign currency. The carrying amount is then translated to the Namibia Dollar equivalent using
the spot rate at the end of each reporting period. Any resulting foreign exchange gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss.
Details of foreign currency risk exposure and the management thereof are provided in the trade and other payables note (note 24).

Derecognition
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are initially measured at fair value and subsequently at amortised cost.

1.12 Leases (IFRS16)
The group assesses whether a contract is, or contains a lease, at the inception of the contract.
A contract is, or contains a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.
In order to assess whether a contract is, or contains a lease, management determine whether the asset under consideration is “identified”, which means that the asset is either explicitly or implicitly specified in the
contract and that the supplier does not have a substantial right of substitution throughout the period of use. Once management has concluded that the contract deals with an identified asset, the right to control the use
thereof is considered. To this end, control over the use of an identified asset only exists when the group has the right to substantially all of the economic benefits from the use of the asset as well as the right to direct
the use of the asset.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

1.12 Leases (IFRS16) (continued)
In circumstances where the determination of whether the contract is or contains a lease requires significant judgement, the relevant disclosures are provided in the significant judgments and sources of estimation
uncertainty section of these accounting policies.

Group as lessor
Leases for which the group is a lessor are classified as finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee, the contract is classified as a
finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases. Lease classification is made at inception and is only reassessed if there is a lease modification.
The various lease and non-lease components of contracts containing leases are accounted for separately, with consideration being allocated by applying IFRS 15.

Group as lessee
A lease liability and corresponding right-of-use asset are recognised at the lease commencement date, for all lease agreements for which the group is a lessee, except for short-term leases of 12 months or less, or leases
of low value assets. For these leases, the group recognises the lease payments as an operating expense (note 4) representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.
The various lease and non-lease components of contracts containing leases are accounted for separately, with consideration being allocated to each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone prices of the
lease components and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components (where non-lease components exist).
Details of leasing arrangements where the group is a lessee are presented in note 11 Leases (group as lessee).
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Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised as the assets of the group at fair value at the inception of the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability
to the lessor is included in the statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation.
Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged directly to
profit or loss, unless they are directly attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they are capitalised in accordance with the group’s general policy on borrowing costs. Contingent rentals are recognised as expenses
in the period in which they are incurred.

Lease liability
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined,
the group uses its incremental borrowing rate.
Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:
• fixed lease payments, including in-substance fixed payments, less any lease incentives;
• variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the commencement date;
• the amount expected to be payable by the group under residual value guarantees;
• the exercise price of purchase options, if the group is reasonably certain to exercise the option;
• lease payments in an optional renewal period if the group is reasonably certain to exercise an extension option; and
• penalties for early termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to terminate the lease.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

1.12 Leases (IFRS16) (continued)
Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement of the lease liability (or right-of-use asset). The related payments are recognised as an expense in the period incurred and are
included in operating expenses.
The lease liability is presented as a separate line item on the Statements of Financial Position.
The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect lease payments
made. Interest charged on the lease liability is included in finance costs (note 6).
The group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset) when:
• there has been a change to the lease term, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate;
• there has been a change in the assessment of whether the group will exercise a purchase, termination or extension option, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments
using a revised discount rate;
• there has been a change to the lease payments due to a change in an index or a rate, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using the initial discount rate (unless the
lease payments change is due to a change in a floating interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used);
• there has been a change in expected payment under a residual value guarantee, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using the initial discount rate;
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• a lease contract has been modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised payments using a revised discount rate.
When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recognised in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset
has been reduced to zero.

Right-of-use assets
Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:
• the initial amount of the corresponding lease liability;
• any lease payments made at or before the commencement date;
• any initial direct costs incurred;
• any estimated costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, when the group incurs an obligation to do so, unless these costs are incurred to
produce inventories; and
• less any lease incentives received.
Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

1.12 Leases (IFRS16) (continued)
Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying asset. However, if a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects
that the group expects to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset. Depreciation starts at the commencement date of a lease.
For right-of-use assets which are depreciated over their useful lives, the useful lives are presented in the following table:

Mobile Home leases (Retail sites)
Tower site leases (land)
Office leases (office space)

Estimated useful
lives 2020
1 – 8 years
1 – 20 years
2 – 15 years

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method of each asset are reviewed at the end of each reporting year. If the expectations differ from previous estimates, the change is accounted for prospectively as a
change in accounting estimate. Each part of a right-of-use asset with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the asset is depreciated separately.
The depreciation charge for each year is recognised in profit or loss unless it is included in the carrying amount of another asset.

1.13 Leases (Comparatives under IAS 17)
The following accounting policy applies to the comparative disclosures of leases. The group has adopted IFRS 16 in the current year, but has not restated the comparatives. These accounting policies are prepared on the
basis of IAS 17. Refer to the note 3 on changes in accounting policies for details of the impact of the adoption of IFRS 16 on these financial statements.
The group assesses whether a contract is, or contains a lease, at the inception of the contract.
A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Finance leases – Group as lessor
Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as receivables at the amount of the group’s net investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to the accounting periods so as to reflect a constant
periodic rate of return on the group’s net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

Finance leases – Group as lessee
Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised as the assets of the group at fair value at the inception of the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability
to the lessor is included in the statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation.
Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged directly to
profit or loss, unless they are directly attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they are capitalised in accordance with the group’s general policy on borrowing costs. Contingent rentals are recognised as expenses
in the period in which they are incurred.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

1.13 Leases (Comparatives under IAS 17)
Operating leases – Group as lessor
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount
of the lease payments and recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Operating leases – Group as lessee
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the
leased asset are consumed. Contingent rentals are recognised as expenses in the period in which they are incurred.
In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straightline basis, except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

1.14 Revenue from contracts with customers
The group recognises revenue from the following major sources:
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• Revenue from the provision of telecommunication services, is recognised when the group provides the related service during the agreed service period (over time).
• Revenue for device sales to end customers is generally recognised when the device is delivered to the end customer (at a point in time).
Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The group recognises revenue when it transfers control of a product
or service to a customer.
When the group enters into an agreement with a customer, goods and services deliverable under the contract are identified as separate performance obligations (‘obligations’) to the extent that the customer can benefit
from the goods or services on their own and that the separate goods and services are considered distinct from other goods and services in the agreement. Where individual goods and services don’t meet the criteria
to be identified as separate obligations they are aggregated with other goods and/or services in the agreement until a separate obligation is identified. The obligations identified will depend on the nature of individual
customer contracts, but might typically be separately identified for mobile handsets, other equipment provided to customers and services provided to customers such as mobile and fixed-line communication services.
The group determines the transaction price to which it expects to be entitled to in return for providing the promised obligations to the customer based on the committed contractual amounts, net of sales taxes and
discounts.
The transaction price is allocated between the identified obligations according to the relative standalone selling prices of the obligations. The standalone selling price of each obligation deliverable in the contract is
determined according to the prices that the group would achieve by selling the same goods and/or services included in the obligation to a similar customer on a standalone basis; where standalone selling prices are not
directly observable, estimation techniques are used maximising the use of external inputs. See “Critical judgements in applying accounting policies” for details.
When revenue recognised in respect of a customer contract exceeds amounts received or receivable from a customer at that time a contract asset is recognised; contract assets will typically be recognised for handsets
or other equipment provided to customers where payment is recovered by the group via future service fees. If amounts received or receivable from a customer exceed revenue recognised for a contract, for example if
the group receives an advance payment from a customer, a contract liability is recognised.
When contract assets or liabilities are recognised, a financing component may exist in the contract; this is typically the case when a handset or other equipment is provided to a customer up-front but payment is received
over the term of the related service agreement, in which case the customer is deemed to have received financing. If a significant financing component is provided to the customer, the transaction price is reduced and
interest revenue is recognised over the customer’s payment period using an interest rate reflecting the relevant central bank rates and customer credit risk.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

1.15 Tax
Current tax assets and liabilities
Current tax for current and prior periods is, to the extent unpaid, recognised as a liability. If the amount already paid in respect of current and prior periods exceeds the amount due for those periods, the excess is
recognised as an asset.
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the tax authorities, using the tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities
A deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except to the extent that the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which at the time of
the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax loss).
A deferred tax asset is recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised. A deferred
tax asset is not recognised when it arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax loss).
A deferred tax asset is recognised for the carry forward of unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the unused tax losses can be utilised.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Tax expenses
Current and deferred taxes are recognised as income or an expense and included in profit or loss for the period, except to the extent that the tax arises from:
• a transaction or event which is recognised, in the same or a different period, to other comprehensive income; or
• a business combination.
Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited to other comprehensive income if the tax relates to items that are credited or charged, in the same or a different period, to other comprehensive income.
Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited directly to equity if the tax relates to items that are credited or charged, in the same or a different period, directly in equity.

Value added tax
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of value added tax except:
• where the value added tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case the value added tax is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or
as part of the expense item as applicable; and
• receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of value added tax included.
The net amount of value added tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables in the statement of financial position.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

1.16 Translation of foreign currencies
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded at the functional currency spot rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are re-translated at the
functional currency spot rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date. All differences are taken to profit or loss.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value is determined. The gain or loss arising on re-translation of non-monetary items is treated in line with the recognition of gain or
loss on change in fair value of the item.
The functional currency of the group is Namibia Dollar.

2. New standards and interpretations
2.1 Standards and interpretations effective and adopted in the current year
In the current year, the group has adopted the following standards and interpretations that are effective for the current financial year and that are relevant to its operations:

IFRS 16 Leases
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IFRS 16 Leases is a new standard which replaces IAS 17 Leases, and introduces a single lessee accounting model. The main changes arising from the issue of IFRS 16 which are likely to impact the group are as follows:
IFRS 16 will primarily change lease accounting for lessees and will have a material impact on the Group’s financial statements in particular:
• Lease agreements will give rise to the recognition of an asset representing the right to use the leased item and a liability for future lease payables. The liability recorded for future lease payments will be for amounts
payable for the ‘reasonably certain period of the lease, which may include future lease periods for which the Group has extension options. Under IAS 17, liabilities were generally not recorded for future operating lease
payments, which have been disclosed as commitments, see note 27.
• Lease costs will be recognised in the form of depreciation of the right to use asset and interest on the lease liability; interest will typically be higher in the early stages of a lease and will reduce over the term. Under
IAS 17, operating lease rentals have been expensed on a straight-line basis over the lease term within operating expenses.
The group expects that the most significant impact of the new standard will result from its current property and network site leases. A high volume of transactions will be impacted by IFRS 16 and material judgements
will be required in identifying and accounting for leases. The most significant judgements in applying IFRS 16 relate to lease identification and the determination of lease term:
• For most contracts there is limited judgment in determining whether an agreement contains a lease; however, where the Group has contracts for the use of fibre and other fixed-line judgement is required to determine
whether the Group controls the line and has a lease. Where the Group has exclusive use of a line it is normally determined that the Group can also direct the use of the line and therefore leases will be recognised for
these connections.
• Lease terms under IFRS 16 may exceed the minimum lease period and include optional lease periods where it is reasonably certain that an extension option will be exercised or that a termination option will not be
exercised by the Group. Significant judgement is required in determining whether optional periods should be included in the lease term taking into account the nature and purpose of the leased asset and the potential
to replace the leased asset.
IFRS 16 is being adopted with the cumulative retrospective impact recorded as an adjustment to equity on the date of adoption.
The effective date of the standard is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2019.
The group has adopted the standard for the first time in the 2020 annual financial statements. The impact of the standard is set out in note 3 Changes in accounting policy.
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2. New standards and interpretations (continued)
2.2 Standards and interpretations not yet effective
The group has chosen not to early adopt the following standards and interpretations, which have been published and are mandatory for the group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 October 2020 or later
periods:
Standard/interpretation
• Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current – Amendment to IAS 1
• Annual Improvement to IFRS Standards 2018-2020: Amendments to IFRS 1
• Reference to the Conceptual Framework: Amendments to IFRS 3
• Annual Improvement to IFRS Standards 2018-2020: Amendments to IFRS 9
• Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use: Amendments to IAS 16
• Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract: Amendments to IAS 37
• COVID-19 – Related Rent Concessions – Amendment to IFRS 16
• Interest Rate Benchmark Reform: Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7
• Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors: Disclosure initiative

Effective date
Years beginning on or after
1 January 2023
1 January 2022
1 January 2022
1 January 2022
1 January 2022
1 January 2022
1 June 2020
1 January 2020
1 January 2020

Expected impact
Unlikely there will be a material impact
Unlikely there will be a material impact
Unlikely there will be a material impact
Unlikely there will be a material impact
Unlikely there will be a material impact
Unlikely there will be a material impact
Unlikely there will be a material impact
Unlikely there will be a material impact
Unlikely there will be a material impacts

3. Changes in accounting policy
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The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards on a basis consistent with the prior year except for the adoption of the following new or revised
standards.

Application of IFRS 16 Leases
In the current year, the company has adopted IFRS 16 Leases (as issued by the IASB in January 2016) with the date of initial application being 1 October 2019. IFRS 16 replaces IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether
an Arrangement contains a Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leases – Incentives and SIC 27 – Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease.
IFRS 16 introduces new or amended requirements with respect to lease accounting. It introduces significant changes to the lessee accounting by removing the distinction between operating and finance leases and
requiring the recognition of a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low value assets. In contrast to lessee accounting, the requirements
for lessor accounting have remained largely unchanged. Details of these new requirements are described in the accounting policy for leases. The impact of the adoption of IFRS 16 on the group’s annual financial
statements is described below.
The group has applied the practical expedient available in IFRS 16 which provides that for contracts which exist at the initial application date, an entity is not required to reassess whether they contain a lease. This means
that the practical expedient allows an entity to apply IFRS 16 to contracts identified by IAS 17 and IFRIC 4 as containing leases; and to not apply IFRS 16 to contracts that were not previously identified by IAS 17 and IFRIC
4 as containing leases.
IFRS 16 has been adopted by applying the modified retrospective approach, whereby the comparative figures are not restated. Instead, cumulative adjustments to retained earnings have been recognised in retained
earnings as at 1 October 2019.

Integrated Annual Report 2020

AN OVERVIEW OF MTC’S 2020 INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT

A SNAPSHOT OF MTC

HOW WE GOVERN MTC

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S STRATEGIC OVERVIEW

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
3. Changes in accounting policy (continued)
Leases where group is lessee
Leases previously classified as operating leases
The group undertook the following at the date of initial application for leases which were previously recognised as operating leases:
• recognised a lease liability, measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted at the group’s incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial application.
• recognised right-of-use assets measured at an amount equal to the lease liability adjusted for accruals or prepayments relating to that lease prior to the date of initial application.
The group applied IAS 36 to consider if these right-of-use assets are impaired as at the date of initial application.
As an exception to the above, no adjustments were made on initial application of IFRS 16 for leases previously classified as operating leases:
• for which the underlying asset is of low value. From the date of initial application, these leases are accounted for in accordance with paragraph 6 of IFRS 16 by recognising the lease payments on a straight-line basis
or another systematic basis which is more representative of the pattern of benefits consumed.
The group applied the following practical expedients when applying IFRS 16 to leases previously classified as operating leases in terms of IAS 17. Where necessary, they have been applied on a lease by lease basis:
• when a portfolio of leases contained reasonably similar characteristics, the group applied a single discount rate to that portfolio;
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• leases which were expiring within 12 months of 1 October 2019 were treated as short-term leases, with remaining lease payments recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic basis which is
more representative of the pattern of benefits consumed;
• initial direct costs were excluded from the measurement of right-of-use assets at the date of initial application; and
• hindsight was applied where appropriate. This was specifically the case for determining the lease term for leases which contained extension or termination options.
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3. Changes in accounting policy (continued)
Impact on financial statements
On transition to IFRS 16, the group recognised an additional N$238 251 371 of right-of-use assets and N$238 251 371 of lease liabilities, recognising only the previously recognised IAS 17 straightlining provision of N$31 788 028
and related deferred tax of N$10 172 169 in opening retained earnings.
When measuring lease liabilities, group discounted lease payments using its incremental borrowing rate at 1 October 2019. The weighted average rate applied is 10.5%.

Reconciliation of previous operating lease commitments to lease liabilities under IFRS 16
1 October
2019
21 616
238 251
238 251

Operating lease commitment at 30 September 2019 as previously disclosed (net of deferred tax)
Add finance lease liabilities recognised as at 1 October 2019
Lease liabilities recognised at 1 October 2019

Impact on opening statement of financial position as at 1 October 2019
GROUP
Right of use assets
Lease liability
Deferred tax liability
Trade and other payables
Retained earnings

30 September
Impact of
2019 adoption of IFRS 16
N$’000
N$’000
–
238 251
–
(238 251)
(274 456)
(10 172)
(313 066)
31 788
(2 284 888)
(21 616)

1 October
2019
N$’000
238 251
(238 251)
(284 628)
(281 278)
(2 306 504)

COMPANY
Right of use assets
Lease liability
Deferred tax liability
Trade and other payables
Retained earnings

30 September
Impact of
2019 adoption of IFRS 16
N$’000
N$’000
–
238 251
–
(238 251)
(275 101)
(10 172)
(313 046)
31 788
(2 282 398)
(21 616)

1 October
2019
N$’000
238 251
(238 251)
(285 273)
(281 258)
(2 304 014)

Integrated Annual Report 2020

101

AN OVERVIEW OF MTC’S 2020 INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT

A SNAPSHOT OF MTC

HOW WE GOVERN MTC

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S STRATEGIC OVERVIEW

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
4. Profit from operations
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Profit from operations for the year is stated after charging (crediting) the following, amongst others:
Sale of goods
Contract
Connection fees
Usage charges
Monthly subscription fees
Contract handset revenue
Other income
Prepaid
Starter packs
Usage charges
Other income
Roaming income
Contract
Visitors
Handset and accessories sales
Inter-connect income
Bulk sms revenue
Site rental
Enterprise services
Income from subsidiaries
Management fees – Jurgens 34 (Pty) Ltd
Expenses
Auditors remuneration – external auditors
Fees for statutory audit
Fees for other services
Bad debts written off
Bad debts recovered
Loss/(profit) on exchange differences
Company secretarial services
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment
(Loss)/profit on disposal of plant and equipment
Amortisation – Intangible assets
Depreciation on right of use assets
Operating lease charges(1)
Premises
• shareholder – NPTH Limited
• unrelated parties
• other
Radio sites and other
Fees for services – consulting fees
(1)

The amounts included for 2020 relate only to low value leases or leases with a lease term of 12 months or less.

GROUP
2020
N$‘000

2019
N$‘000

COMPANY
2020
N$‘000

2019
N$‘000

2 683 274
776 099
–
167 513
441 171
100 451
66 964
1 617 170
7 652
1 603 393
6 125
56 475
14 905
41 570
128 619
31 543
46 044
21 431
5 893

2 613 665
819 085
1 769
172 340
461 320
109 263
74 365
1 499 458
8 567
1 483 090
7 801
92 396
31 329
61 067
120 811
33 061
39 901
8 953
–

2 683 274
776 099
–
167 513
441 171
100 451
66 964
1 617 170
7 652
1 603 393
6 125
56 475
14 905
41 570
128 619
31 543
46 044
21 431
5 893

2 613 665
819 085
1 769
172 340
461 320
109 263
74 365
1 499 458
8 567
1 483 090
7 801
92 396
31 329
61 067
120 811
33 061
39 901
8 953
–

–

–

321

447

4 053
2 240
1 813
22 473
(13 559)
1 615
1 058
213 788
(518)
71 390
34 549

2 391
2 025
366
21 855
(13 608)
(2 668)
480
234 850
916
50 505
–

4 025
2 212
1 813
22 473
(13 559)
1 615
1 058
213 780
(518)
71 390
34 549

2 354
1 988
366
21 855
(13 608)
(2 668)
480
234 842
916
50 505
–

447
1 531
251
3 666
5 895
6 129

11 708
13 613
294
31 473
57 088
8 509

447
1 531
251
3 666
5 895
6 129

11 708
13 613
294
31 473
57 088
8 503
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4. Profit from operations (continued)
Employee costs
• salaries and wages
• pension fund contributions
• medical aid contributions
• employee training
• other employee cost
Number of employees at year-end

GROUP
2020
N$‘000
369 836
312 909
18 004
24 632
4 034
10 257

2019
N$‘000
332 973
280 018
16 432
18 106
4 782
13 635

COMPANY
2020
N$‘000
369 836
312 909
18 004
24 632
4 034
10 257

2019
N$‘000
332 973
280 018
16 432
18 106
4 782
13 635

670

640

670

640

5 667
57 893
63 560

1 659
67 904
69 563

5 667
57 891
63 558

1 659
67 897
69 556

22 589
3
22 592

–
–
–

22 589
3
22 592

–
–
–

5. Investment income
Interest income
Investments in financial assets:
Contract assets
Bank and other cash
Total interest income
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6. Finance costs
Lease liabilities
Trade and other payables
Total finance costs
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7.

Directors’, officers’ and key management remuneration
Non-executive Directors
2020
T Mberirua
TNZ Muteka
EE Nashilongo
S Galloway
W Schuckmann
TM Munyika
LP Mbwale
RR Shipiki
T Gawaxab
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2019
EE Nashilongo
LP Mbwale
S Galloway
TM Munyika
W Schuckmann
TNZ Muteka
T Mberirua

Directors’ fees

Total

364
308
308
330
328
89
60
222
228
2 237

364
308
308
330
328
89
60
222
228
2 237

Directors’ fees

Fees for
other services

Subsistence and
travel allowances

Total

422
300
405
311
144
148
148
1 878

16
–
–
–
–
–
–
16

47
32
–
–
3
–
–
82

485
332
405
311
147
148
148
1 976
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7.

Directors’, officers’ and key management remuneration (continued)
Salary
Key management and officers
2020
Key management

2019
Key management
Gunton Cloete(1)
(1)

13 562

Salary

Fees for services

11 545
–
11 545

–
104
104

Allowances
(Medical,
housing, etc.)

4 047
Allowances
(Medical,
housing, etc.)
3 293
–
3 293

Bonuses

Subsistence and
travel allowance

Total

4 431

1 769

23 809

Bonuses

Subsistence and
travel allowance

Total

5 588
–
5 588

1 682

–

22 108
104

1 682

22 212

Chairperson of the Audit Committee.

8. Taxation
Major components of the tax expense
Current
Namibian income tax – current period
Deferred
Originating and reversing temporary differences
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GROUP
2020
N$‘000

2019
N$‘000

COMPANY
2020
N$‘000

2019
N$‘000

333 826

327 399

333 826

327 399

12 081
345 907

2 767
330 166

12 010
345 836

2 760
330 159

Reconciliation of the tax expense
Reconciliation between applicable tax rate and average effective tax rate.
Applicable tax rate
Investment property fair value adjustment
Exempt income
Other permanent differences

32.00%
–%
(4.03)%
2.96%
30.93%

32.00%
0.19%
(5.50)%
2.60%
29.29%

32.00%
–%
(4.03)%
2.96%
30.93%

32.00%
–%
(5.50)%
2.74%
29.24%

Other differences comprise of non-deductible capital allowances and expenses of capital nature as well as the movement in Deferred tax related to the implementation of IFRS 16 (2019: IFRS15).
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9. Earnings per share
GROUP
2020
N$’000
Basic earnings per share
From continuing operations (c per share)

2019
N$’000

COMPANY
2020
N$’000

2019
N$‘000

3 089.60

3 188.16

–

–

772 399

797 040

–

–

3 091.00

3 194.07

–

–

772 399

797 040

–

–

–
–
–

–
–

–

–

–

–
–
–

–
–

Basic and diluted earnings per share of the group was based on earnings of N$772 399 000 (2019: N$797 040 000) and a
weighted average number of ordinary shares of 25 000 000 (2019: 25 000 000).
Reconciliation of profit or loss for the year to basic earnings
Profit or loss for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent
Diluted earnings per share is equal to earnings per share because there are no dilutive potential ordinary shares in issue.
Headline earnings and diluted headline earnings per share
Headline earnings per share (c)
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Reconciliation between earnings (loss) and headline earnings (loss)
Basic earnings (loss)
Adjusted for:
Loss/(profit) on disposal of plant and equipment (after tax)
Fair value adjustment

Reconciliation between diluted earnings (loss) and diluted headline earnings (loss)
Diluted earnings (loss)
Adjusted for:
Loss/(profit) on disposal of plant and equipment (after tax)
Fair value adjustment

Dividends per share
Interim (c)
Final ordinary (c)
Final special (c)

352
–
772 751

772 399
352
–
772 751

1 467.00
844.00
1 600.00

(623)
2 099
798 516

797 040
(623)
2 099
798 516

754.00
897.00

On 7 December 2020, an ordinary dividend of N$202 746 000 was declared, but has not yet been paid out to the shareholders at the date of these financial statements.

1 467.00
844.00
1 600.00

–

754.00

897.00
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10. Property, plant and equipment
2020

GROUP
Land and buildings
Leasehold improvements
Computer and prepaid
equipment
Vehicles, furniture and
fittings
Network equipment
Capital – Work-in-progress
Total
COMPANY
Land and buildings
Leasehold improvements
Computer and prepaid
equipment
Vehicles, furniture and
fittings
Network equipment
Capital – Work-in-progress
Total

2019

Cost or
revaluation
N$’000
186 979
3 655
100 877

Accumulated
depreciation
N$’000
(14 803)
(1 736)
(62 453)

Carrying value
N$’000
172 176
1 919
38 424

Cost or
revaluation
N$’000
183 337
39 253
71 303

Accumulated
depreciation
N$’000
(5 595)
(35 248)
(60 771)

Carrying value
N$’000
177 742
4 005
10 532

82 559

(50 176)

32 383

78 195

(46 242)

31 953

1 933 236
151 885
2 459 191

(1 070 021)
–
(1 199 189)

863 215
151 885
1 260 002

1 994 752
34 785
2 401 625

(1 092 335)
–
(1 240 191)

902 417
34 785
1 161 434

186 979
3 655
100 877

(14 803)
(1 736)
(62 453)

172 176
1 919
38 424

183 337
39 253
71 303

(5 595)
(35 248)
(60 771)

177 742
4 005
10 532

82 518

(50 143)

32 375

78 154

(46 217)

31 937

1 933 236
151 885
2 459 150

(1 070 021)
–
(1 199 156)

863 215
151 885
1 259 994

1 994 752
34 785
2 401 584

(1 092 335)
–
(1 240 166)

902 417
34 785
1 161 418
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10. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment – Group – 2020
Land and buildings
Leasehold improvements
Computer and prepaid equipment
Vehicles, furniture and fittings
Network equipment
Capital – Work-in-progress
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Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment –
Group – 2019
Land and buildings
Leasehold improvements
Computer and prepaid equipment
Vehicles, furniture and fittings
Network equipment
Capital – Work-in-progress

Opening
balance
N$’000

Additions
N$’000

177 742
4 005
10 532
31 953
902 417
34 785
1 161 434

20
609
29 621
11 693
121 028
151 885
314 856

Opening
balance
N$’000

Additions
N$’000

–
3 222
20 236
24 788
854 393
102 218
1 004 857

182 859
1 124
2 194
16 844
160 768
34 785
398 574

Disposals
N$’000

–
–
(4)
(475)
(7)
–
(486)

Disposals
N$’000
–
–
(7)
(216)
(894)
–
(1 117)

Transfers
N$’000

188
860
–
530
92 454
(94 032)
–

Transfers
N$’000
3 622
–
327
81
29 323
(33 353)
–
Transfer to
intangible
assets
N$’000

–
–
–
–
–
(8 171)
(8 171)

Transfer to
intangible
assets
N$’000
–
–
–
–
–
(1 432)
(1 432)
Transfer to
operation
expenditure
N$’000

–
–
–
–
–
(15)
(15)

Transfer from
construction
deposit
N$’000
–
–
–
–
49
–
49
Transfer from
construction
deposit
N$’000

–
–
–
–
1 525
–
1 525

Depreciation
N$’000
(9 208)
(2 695)
(2 049)
(11 128)
(188 708)
–
(213 788)

Depreciation
N$’000

(5 305)
(1 201)
(11 894)
(9 734)
(206 716)
–
(234 850)

Total
N$’000
172 176
1 919
38 424
32 383
863 215
151 885
1 260 002

Total
N$’000

177 742
4 005
10 532
31 953
902 417
34 785
1 161 434
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10. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment – Company – 2020
Land and buildings
Leasehold improvements
Computer and prepaid equipment
Vehicles, furniture and fittings
Network equipment
Capital – Work-in-progress

Opening
balance
N$’000
Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment –
Company – 2019
Buildings
Leasehold improvements
Computer and prepaid equipment
Vehicles, furniture and fittings
Network equipment
Capital – Work-in-progress

Opening
balance
N$’000

Additions
N$’000

177 742
4 005
10 532
31 937
902 417
34 785
1 161 418

20
609
29 621
11 693
121 028
151 885
314 856

Additions
N$’000

Disposals
N$’000

Disposals
N$’000
–
–
(7)
(216)
(894)
–
(1 117)

Transfers
N$’000

Transfers
N$’000
3 622
–
327
81
29 323
(33 353)
–
Transfer to
intangible
assets
N$’000

Transfer to
intangible
assets
N$’000
–
–
–
–
–
(1 432)
(1 432)
Transfer to
operation
expenditure
N$’000

Transfer from
construction
deposit
N$’000
–
–
–
–
49
–
49
Transfer from
construction
deposit
N$’000

Depreciation
N$’000
(9 208)
(2 695)
(2 049)
(11 120)
(188 708)
–
(213 780)

Depreciation
N$’000

Total
N$’000
172 176
1 919
38 424
32 375
863 215
151 885
1 259 994

Total
N$’000

109
–
3 222
20 236
24 763
854 393
102 218
1 004 832

182 859
1 124
2 194
16 845
160 768
34 785
398 575

–
–
(4)
(475)
(7)
–
(486)

188
860
–
530
92 454
(94 032)
–

–
–
–
–
–
(8 171)
(8 171)

–
–
–
–
–
(15)
(15)

–
–
–
–
1 525
–
1 525

(5 305)
(1 201)
(11 894)
(9 726)
(206 716)
–
(234 842)

177 742
4 005
10 532
31 937
902 417
34 785
1 161 418

Registers with details of land and buildings are available for inspection by shareholders or their duly authorised representatives at the registered office of the company and its respective subsidiaries.
Additions were financed from cash resources.
Included in additions of different property, plant and equipment classes for 2020 there is an amount of N$125.7 million (2019: N$27.6 million) which relates to assets not yet taken into use at year-end. The expectation
is that these assets are taken into use within three to four months after year-end.
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11. Leases (group as lessee)
The group leases several properties for the use as office, retail spaces and sites for towers. The terms of the leases differ based on the different agreements with landlords of different properties, as well as the strategy
and long-term intention of the Group to continue the use of the different properties.
Details pertaining to leasing arrangements, where the group is lessee are presented below:
The group adopted IFRS 16 for the first time in the current financial period. Comparative figures have been accounted for in accordance with IAS 17 and accordingly, any assets recognised under finance leases in
accordance with IAS 17 for the comparative have been recognised as part of property, plant and equipment. The information presented in this note for right-of-use assets therefore only includes the current period.
GROUP
2020
N$’000
Net carrying amounts of right-of-use assets
The carrying amounts of right-of-use assets are as follows:
Mobile Home leases
Tower site leases
Office leases
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Additions to right-of-use assets
Mobile Home leases
Tower site leases

2019
N$’000

COMPANY
2020
N$’000

2019
N$‘000

16 884
186 063
11 646
214 593

–
–
–
–

16 884
186 063
11 646
214 593

–
–
–
–

1 006
10 081
11 087

–
–
–

1 006
10 081
11 087

–
–
–

10 885
21 204
2 460
34 549

–
–
–
–

10 885
21 204
2 460
34 549

–
–
–
–

22 589

–

22 589

–

Depreciation recognised on right-of-use assets
Depreciation recognised on each class of right-of-use assets, is presented below. It includes depreciation which has been
expensed in the total depreciation charge in profit or loss (note 4), as well as depreciation which has been capitalised to
the cost of other assets.
Mobile Home leases
Tower site leases
Office leases

Other disclosures
Interest expense on lease liabilities
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11. Leases (group as lessee) (continued)
GROUP
2020
N$’000
Lease liabilities
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is as follows:
Within one year
Two to five years
More than five years
Less finance charges component

Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities

2019
N$’000

COMPANY
2020
N$’000

2019
N$‘000

45 490
168 988
176 840
391 318
(163 400)
227 918

–
–
–
–
–
–

45 490
168 988
176 840
391 318
(163 400)
227 918

–
–
–
–
–
–

182 428
45 490
227 918

–
–
–

182 428
45 490
227 918

–
–
–

Exposure to liquidity risk
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Refer to note 32 Financial instruments and risk management for the details of liquidity risk exposure and management.

12. Change in accounting estimate
In the current year, the residual values and estimated useful lives of all categories of property, plant and equipment as well as intangible assets were reassessed in accordance with IAS 16 Property, plant and equipment
and IAS 38 Intangible assets. This resulted in a change in the estimated remaining useful life of property plant and equipment and intangible assets.
The financial impact of the change in the estimated remaining useful lives was a decrease of the current year depreciation charges and a decrease of the current year amortisation charges, resulting in an net increase in
current year profit before taxation of N$2.828 million (2019: profit before taxation increased by N$20.367 million).
The net decrease in the current year charges for depreciation and amortisation due to the change in the estimated useful lives will result in effectively increasing the charges in future periods and therefore effectively
decrease profit before taxation for those future periods.
The financial impact of this change in the accounting estimate for the future periods is not disclosed per future financial period since this is considered to be impracticable.
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13. Investment property
GROUP
Investment property (Filtered)

Valuation
N$’000
5 665

2020
Accumulated
depreciation
N$’000
–

Carrying value
N$’000
5 665

Valuation
N$’000
5 665

2019
Accumulated
depreciation
N$’000
–

Carrying value
N$’000
5 665

Reconciliation of investment property – Group – 2020
Opening balance
N$’000
5 665

Investment property

Total
N$’000
5 665

Reconciliation of investment property – Group – 2019

Investment property
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Opening balance
N$’000
7 764

Fair value
adjustments
N$’000
(2 099)

Total
N$’000
5 665

Investment properties comprise sectional title unit 6 (186 m2) and unit 9 (210 m2) of United Buildings, Erf 7640, Windhoek. The original cost price of these units were N$2.55 million.
A register containing the information required by paragraph 22(3) of Schedule 4 of the Namibian Companies Act is available for inspection at the registered office of the company.

Details of valuation
The effective date of the last revaluation was 31 August 2019. Revaluations were performed by an independent valuer, Mr F.A. Frank-Schultz B.Sc. (Town and Regional Planning). Mr Frank-Schultz is not connected to the
group and have recent experience in location and category of the investment property being valued.
The valuation was based on the Income Capitalisation Method for existing use. This approach is based on the capitalisation of the net income at a market related rate.
The assumptions used, as stated below, are based on current market conditions.
• Capitalisation rate of 9% (Median of market rates).
• Stable interest rates, inflation rates and economic situation.
• Demand for property has declined over the past two years.
In terms of fair value hierarchy, investment property is held at level 3. There has been no change to the valuation technique during the year. There were no transfers between fair value levels during the year.
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13. Investment property (continued)
GROUP
2020
N$’000
Amounts recognised in profit and loss for the year
Rental income from investment property
Direct operating expenses from rental generating property
Change in fair value recognised in profit (loss)

724
(503)
–
221

2019
N$’000
659
(636)
(2 099)
(2 076)

14. Intangible assets
GROUP
Licences
Computer software
Network software
Total

Cost/valuation
N$’000
13 292
348 783
709 367
1 071 442

COMPANY
Licences
Computer software
Network software
Total

13 292
348 783
709 367
1 071 442

2020
Accumulated
amortisation
N$’000
(6 279)
(152 812)
(283 521)
(442 612)

(6 279)
(152 812)
(283 521)
(442 612)

Carrying value
N$’000
7 013
195 971
425 846
628 830

Cost/valuation
N$’000
12 805
214 300
640 137
867 242

7 013
195 971
425 846
628 830

12 805
214 300
640 137
867 242

2019
Accumulated
amortisation
N$’000
(3 637)
(134 278)
(239 581)
(377 496)

(3 637)
(134 278)
(239 581)
(377 496)

Carrying value
N$’000
9 168
80 022
400 556
489 746

9 168
80 022
400 556
489 746
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14. Intangible assets (continued)

Reconciliation of intangible assets – Group – 2020
Licences
Computer software
Network software
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Reconciliation of intangible assets – Group – 2019
Licences
Computer software
Network software
Customer bases

Opening balance
N$’000

Additions
N$’000

Transfer from
property, plant
and equipment
N$’000

9 168
80 022
400 556
489 746

487
139 189
69 366
209 042

–
1 432
–
1 432

Transfers
N$’000

IFRS 15 adoption
N$’000

Opening balance
N$’000

Additions
N$’000

Transfer from
property, plant
and equipment
N$’000

6 529
87 960
321 339
145 750

4 694
10 493
98 475
–

–
–
8 171
–

561 578

111 662

8 171

–
–
4 590
(4 590)
–

Amortisation
N$’000
(2 642)
(24 672)
(44 076)
(71 390)

Amortisation
N$’000

Total
N$’000
7 013
195 971
425 846
628 830

Total
N$’000

–
–
–
(141 160 )

(2 055)
(18 431)
(30 019)
–

9 168
80 022
400 556
–

(141 160)

(50 505)

489 746
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14. Intangible assets (continued)

Reconciliation of intangible assets – Company – 2020
Licences
Computer software
Network software

Reconciliation of intangible assets – Company – 2019
Licences
Computer software
Network software
Customer bases

Opening balance
N$’000

Additions
N$’000

Transfers
from property,
plant and
equipment
N$’000

9 168
80 022
400 556

487
139 189
69 366

–
1 432
–

(2 642)
(24 672)
(44 076)

7 013
195 971
425 846

489 746

209 042

1 432

(71 390)

628 830

Transfer
N$’000

IRFS 15
adoption
N$’000

Opening balance
N$’000

Additions
N$’000

Transfer from
property, plant
and equipment
N$’000

6 529
87 960
321 339
145 750
561 578

4 694
10 493
96 475
–
111 662

–
–
8 171
–
8 171

–
–
4 590
(4 590)
–

–
–
–
(141 160)
(141 160)

Amortisation
N$’000

Amortisation
N$’000
(2 055)
(18 431)
(30 019)
–
(50 505)

Total
N$’000

Total
N$’000
9 168
80 022
400 556
–
489 746

Other information
An amount of N$15 million (2019: N$1.4 million) is included in the Work in Progress – Capital in Property, plant and equipment. Once the project to which the work in progress is related to is finalised, the intangible
asset will be transferred from property, plant and equipment to intangible assets. Included in additions of different intangible asset classes for 2020 there is an amount of N$177 million (2019: N$25.9 million) which relates
to assets not yet taken into use at year-end. The expectation is that these assets are taken into use within 3 – 4 months after year-end.
Additions were financed from cash resources.
Remaining useful lives of intangible assets – 2020
Group and Company
Licenses
9 yrs 3 m
Computer software

4 yrs 5 m

Network software

2 yrs 4 m
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15. Interests in subsidiaries
The following table lists the entities which are controlled by the group, either directly or indirectly, through subsidiaries.

COMPANY
Name of company
Jurgens Thirty Four Proprietary Limited
Windhoek General Administrators Proprietary Limited

% holding
2020

% holding
2019

100.00%
100.00%

100.00%
100.00%

Investment
in shares
2020
N$’000

Investment
in shares
2019
N$’000

Carrying
amount
of loan
2020
N$’000

Carrying
amount
of loan
2019
N$’000

458
–
458

458
–
458

3 240
–
3 240

3 449
–
3 449

–

–

150

2020
N$’000
1 508
17 567
49 560
68 635

2019
N$’000
1 488
9 395
45 316
56 199

2020
N$’000
1 508
17 567
49 560
68 635

2019
N$’000
1 488
9 395
45 316
56 199

19 139

10 529

19 139

10 529

The inter-company loan has no fixed repayment terms and does
not bear interest.
Loss attributable to Mobile Telecommunications Limited
Jurgens Thirty Four Proprietary Limited – Aggregate profit/(loss)

(2 083)
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16. Inventories
GROUP

Network consumables
Subscriber identity modules
Handset and accessories

Carrying value of inventories carried at fair value less costs to sell
The amount of write-down of inventories recognised as an expense is N$3 427 883 (2019: N$4 361 306).

COMPANY
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17. Loans to employees
GROUP

Schedule of loans to employees
Employee loan scheme

COMPANY

2020
N$’000

2019
N$’000

2020
N$’000

2019
N$’000

2 849

2 841

2 849

2 841

2 841
2 343
(2 335)
2 849

–
3 384
(543)
2 841

2 841
2 343
(2 335)
2 849

–
3 384
(543)
2 841

2 336
513
2 849

1 149
1 692
2 841

2 336
513
2 849

1 149
1 692
2 841

Loan scheme available to all permanently employed employees, with the aim to provide funds to employees who have an
immediate need as the result of an emergency. The maximum loan amount is limited to N$60 000 per employee, with the total
loan value limited to N$3 million per annum. The loans are interest free, repayable in equal installments over 24 months. Loans
are secured by the employees’ pension fund value equal to the loan amount.
Loans to employees
At beginning of the year
Advances
Repayments

Split between non‑current and current portions
Non‑current assets
Current assets

Exposure to credit risk
The maximum exposure to credit risk is the carrying amount of the loans as presented above.
At 30 September 2020, no loans were in default and due to security provided by employees, the group assesses that the expected credit loss is trivial and have therefore not raised any expected credit loss. The group
continues to assess this position on a regular basis.
Fair value of loans to employees
The fair value of loans to employees approximates their carrying amounts.
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18. Trade and other receivables
GROUP
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COMPANY

Inter-connect debtors
Customers to the mobile network after provisions
Other receivables
Non‑financial instruments:
Prepayments and deposits
Total trade and other receivables

2020
N$’000
–
103 267
25 443

2019
N$’000
738
96 910
18 807

2020
N$’000
–
103 267
25 395

2019
N$’000
738
96 910
18 785

38 836
167 546

35 149
151 604

38 836
167 498

35 149
151 582

Split between non‑current and current portions
Current assets

167 546

151 604

167 498

151 582

128 710
38 836
167 546

116 455
35 149
151 604

128 662
38 836
167 498

116 433
35 149
151 582

Financial instrument and non‑financial instrument components of trade
and other receivables
At amortised cost
Non‑financial instruments

Exposure to credit risk
Trade receivables inherently expose the group and company to credit risk, being the risk that the group or company will incur financial loss if customers fail to make payments as they fall due.
In order to mitigate the risk of financial loss from defaults, the group has clear policies for onboarding new customers and only deal with reputable customers with consistent payment histories. It is the group’s policy that
all customers who which to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. Sufficient collateral or guarantees are also obtained when appropriate. Customer credit limits are in place and are reviewed
and approved through credit management procedures. The exposure to credit risk and the creditworthiness of customers, is continuously monitored.
There have been no significant changes in the credit risk management policies and processes since the prior reporting period.
Trade receivables arise from both wholesale and retail sales. The customer base for retail trade is large and widespread, with a result that there is no specific significant concentration of credit risk from these trade
receivables. Wholesale trade, while also large and widespread, is more concentrated. Wholesale customers however, due to the volumes of transactions, are managed on either a cash basis or with sufficient collateral in
place to secure the outstanding amounts.
A loss allowance is recognised for all trade receivables, in accordance with IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, and is monitored at the end of each reporting period. In addition to the loss allowance, trade receivables are
written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery, for example, when a debtor has been placed under liquidation. Trade receivables which have been written off are handed over to an external debt collector
and registered with a credit bureau for default.
The group measures the loss allowance for trade receivables by applying the simplified approach which is prescribed by IFRS 9 for all exposures other than contract assets for products with devices only. In accordance
with this approach, the loss allowance on trade receivables is determined as the lifetime expected credit losses on trade receivables. These lifetime expected credit losses are estimated using a provision matrix, which
is presented below. The provision matrix has been developed by making use of past default experience of debtors but also incorporates forward looking information and general economic conditions of the industry as
at the reporting date.
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18. Trade and other receivables (continued)
Exposure to credit risk (continued)

The estimation techniques explained have been applied for the first time in the 2019 financial period, as a result of the adoption of IFRS 9. Trade receivables were previously impaired only when there was objective
evidence that the asset was impaired. The impairment was calculated as the difference between the carrying amount and the present value of the expected future cash flows.
The expected credit loss allowance is determined as follows:

GROUP
Expected credit loss rate:
Customers to the mobile network
Less than 30 days past due: 0.08% (2019: 1%)
31 – 60 days past due: 10.87% (2019: 1%)
61 – 90 days past due: 14.76% (2019: 2%)
More than 90 days past due: 76.29% (2019: 96%)
Contract customers under IFRS 15 (see note 22)
Not past due: 3.97% (2019: 4.4%)
Fixed and cloud services
Less than 30 days past due: 0.08% (2019: 1%)
31 – 60 days past due: 10.87% (2019: 1%)
61 – 90 days past due: 14.76% (2019: 2%)
More than 90 days past due: 76.29% (2019: 96%)
Roaming debtors
Not past due: 1.24% (2019: 0.35%)
Less than 30 days past due: 0.18% (2019: 0.82%)
31 – 60 days past due: 1.58% (2019: 1.58%)
61 – 90 days past due: 0.38% (2019: 17.15%)
91 – 120 days past due: 100% (2019: 11.21%)
More than 120 days past due: 92.96% (2019: 51.02%)
Other debtors
Less than 30 days past due: 1.66% (2019: 0%)
31 – 60 days past due: 13.94% (2019: 0%)
61 – 90 days past due: 38.61% (2019: 0%)
91 – 120 days past due: 37.34% (2019: 0%)
Total

2020
Estimated
gross carrying
amount
at default
N$’000

2020
Loss allowance
(Lifetime
expected
credit loss)
N$’000

2019
Estimated
gross carrying
amount
at default
N$’000

2019
Loss allowance
(Lifetime
expected
credit loss)
N$’000

67 031
17 167
3 916
8 017
96 131

55
1 866
578
6 196
8 695

70 334
13 544
2 328
8 091
94 297

952
160
35
7 764
8 911

144 552

5 732

152 458

6 907

738
416
–
1 036
2 190

1
45
–
801
847

143
112
119
182
556

2
1
2
175
180

1 245
3 764
–
379
1
2 047
7 436

15
7
–
1
1
1 903
1 927

6 860
2 707
436
276
223
2 737
13 239

24
22
7
47
25
1 396
1 521

9 720
1 898
2 973
10 025
24 616
274 925

161
264
1 148
3 744
5 317
22 518

–
–
–
–
–
260 550

–
–
–
–
–
17 519
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18. Trade and other receivables (continued)
Exposure to credit risk (continued)

COMPANY
Expected credit loss rate:
Customers to the mobile network
Less than 30 days past due: 0.08% (2019: 1%)
31 – 60 days past due: 10.87% (2019: 1%)
61 – 90 days past due: 14.76% (2019: 2%)
More than 90 days past due: 77.29% (2019: 96%)
Contract customers under IFRS 15 (see note 22)
Not past due: 3.97% (2019: 4.4%)

120

Fixed and cloud services
Less than 30 days past due: 0.08% (2019: 1%)
31 – 60 days past due: 10.87% (2019: 1%)
61 – 90 days past due: 14.76% (2019: 2%)
More than 90 days past due: 77.29% (2019: 2%)
Roaming debtors
Not past due: 1.24% (2019: 0.35%)
Less than 30 days past due: 0.18% (2019: 0.82%)
31 – 60 days past due: 1.58% (2019: 1.58%)
61 – 90 days past due: 0.38% (2019: 17.15%)
91 – 120 days past due: 100% (2019: 11.21%)
More than 120 days past due: 92.96% (2019: 51.02%)
Other debtors
Less than 30 days past due: 1.66% (2019: 0%)
31 – 60 days past due: 13.94% (2019: 0%)
61 – 90 days past due: 38.61% (2019: 0%)
91 – 120 days past due: 37.34% (2019: 0%)
Total

2020
Estimated
gross carrying
amount
at default
N$’000

2020
Loss allowance
(Lifetime
expected
credit loss)
N$’000

2019
Estimated
gross carrying
amount
at default
N$’000

2019
Loss allowance
(Lifetime
expected
credit loss)
N$’000

67 031
17 167
3 916
8 017
96 131

55
1 866
578
6 196
8 695

70 334
13 544
2 328
8 091
94 297

952
160
35
7 764
8 911

144 552

5 732

152 458

6 907

738
416
–
1 036
2 190

1
45
–
801
847

143
112
119
182
556

2
1
2
175
180

1 245
3 764
–
379
1
2 047
7 436

15
7
–
1
1
1 903
1 927

6 860
2 707
436
276
223
2 737
13 239

24
22
7
47
25
1 396
1 521

9 720
1 898
2 973
10 025
24 616
274 925

161
264
1 148
3 744
5 317
22 518

–
–
–
–
–
260 550

–
–
–
–
–
17 519
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18. Trade and other receivables (continued)
Reconciliation of loss allowances

The following table shows the movement in the loss allowance (lifetime expected credit losses) for trade and other receivables:
GROUP

Opening balance in accordance with IFRS 9
Provision raised for impairment on trade receivables
Provisions reversed/utilised
Closing balance
Trade receivables are generally on 30 – 60 day terms.

COMPANY

2020
N$’000
(17 519)
(27 472)
22 473
(22 518)

2019
N$’000
(12 130)
(27 244)
21 855
(17 519)

2020
N$’000
(17 519)
(27 472)
22 473
(22 518)

2019
N$’000
(12 130)
(27 244)
21 855
(17 519)

122 068
6 642
128 710

106 274
10 181
116 455

122 020
6 642
128 662

106 252
10 181
116 433

396

671

396

671

16.698

15.169

16.698

15.169

Exposure to currency risk
The net carrying amounts, in Namibia Dollar, of trade and other receivables, excluding non‑financial instruments, are
denominated in the following currencies. The amounts have been presented in Namibia Dollar by converting the foreign
currency amount at the closing rate at the reporting date.
Namibia Dollar amount
Namibia Dollar
US Dollar

Foreign currency amount
US Dollar
Namibia Dollar per unit of foreign currency:
US Dollar
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18. Trade and other receivables (continued)
Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

The following information presents the sensitivity of the group to an increase or decrease in the respective currencies it is exposed to with regards to trade and other receivables. The sensitivity rate is the rate used
when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes
only outstanding foreign currency denominated trade and other receivables and adjusts their translation at the reporting date. No changes were made to the methods and assumptions used in the preparation of the
sensitivity analysis compared to the previous reporting period.

GROUP
Increase or decrease in rate
Impact on profit or loss:
US Dollar 5% (2019: 5%)

Increase

2020
Decrease

(332)
(332)

332
332

Increase

2019
Decrease

(509)
(509)

509
509

Fair value of trade and other receivables
The fair value of trade and other receivables approximates their carrying amounts.

19. Cash and cash equivalents
122
Cash and cash equivalents consist of:
Bank balances
Short‑term deposits

GROUP

COMPANY

2020
N$’000

2019
N$’000

2020
N$’000

2019
N$’000

89 471
688 110
777 581

97 067
947 791
1 044 858

89 427
688 110
777 537

97 018
947 791
1 044 809

769 523
7 361
697
777 581

1 026 487
17 811
560
1 044 858

769 479
7 361
697
777 537

1 026 438
17 811
560
1 044 809

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Cash and cash equivalents comprises cash
held by the group and short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three months or less. The carrying amount of
these assets approximate their fair value.
Exposure to currency risk
The group is exposed to currency risk related to certain bank accounts which are denominated in a foreign currency.
Namibia Dollar amount
Namibia Dollar
US Dollar
Euro
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19. Cash and cash equivalents (continued)
GROUP

COMPANY

2020
N$’000

2019
N$’000

2020
N$’000

2019
N$’000

441
36

1 174
34

441
36

1 174
34

16.698
19.576

15.169
16.545

16.698
19.576

15.169
16.545

The net carrying amounts, in foreign currency of the above exposure was as follows:
Foreign currency amount
US Dollar
Euro
Namibia Dollar per unit of foreign currency:
US Dollar
Euro

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis
The following analysis presents the sensitivity of the group to an increase or decrease in the respective currencies it is exposed to with regards to cash and cash equivalents. The sensitivity rate is the rate used when
reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding foreign currency denominated cash and cash equivalents and adjusts their translation at the reporting date. No changes were made to the methods and assumptions used in the preparation of the
sensitivity analysis compared to the previous reporting period.

GROUP AND COMPANY
Increase or decrease in rate
Impact on profit or loss:
US Dollar 5% (2019: 5%)
Euro 5% (2019: 5%)

Increase

(368)
(35)
(403)

2020
Decrease

368
35
403

Increase

(891)
(28)
(919)

2019
Decrease

891
28
919
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20. Share capital

GROUP
2019
N$’000

2020
N$’000

2019
N$’000

Authorised
25 000 000 ordinary shares of N$1.00 each

25 000

25 000

25 000

25 000

Issued
25 000 000 ordinary shares of N$1.00 each

25 000

25 000

25 000

25 000

2020
N$’000

2019
N$’000

2020
N$’000

2019
N$’000

(274 456)
(10 172)
(12 080)
(296 708)

(278 504)
6 815
(2 767)
(274 456)

(275 101)
(10 172)
(12 010)
(297 283)

(279 157)
6 815
(2 759)
(275 101)

54 448
–
10 296
–
64 744
64 744

50 354
10 172
8 269
5 558
74 353
74 353

54 448
–
10 296
–
64 744
64 744

50 354
10 172
8 269
5 558
74 353
74 353

21. Deferred taxation
The movement on the deferred taxation account is as follows:
Balance at beginning of year
Implementation of IFRS 16 through retained earnings (2019: IFRS 15)
Taxation recognised in profit or loss
At end of year

124

COMPANY

2020
N$’000

GROUP

COMPANY

Comprising
Deferred income tax assets
Income received in advance
Straight-lining of leases
Leave pay and severance pay accrual
IFRS 15 Contracts with Customers
Deferred taxation balance from temporary differences other than unused tax losses
Total deferred taxation asset
Capital allowances
Inventories
Prepayments
Unrealised forex loss
Expected credit loss allowance
IFRS 15 Contracts with Customers
IFRS 16 Leases
Total deferred taxation liability

(305 775)
(1 640)
(11 283)
(3 885)
(2 364)
(29 659)
(6 846)
(361 452)

(335 357)
(476)
(10 230)
(812)
(1 934)
–
–
(348 809)

(306 350)
(1 640)
(11 283)
(3 885)
(2 364)
(29 659)
(6 846)
(362 027)

(336 002)
(476)
(10 230)
(812)
(1 934)
5 558
5 558
(349 454)

Deferred taxation liability
Deferred taxation asset
Total net deferred taxation liability

(361 452)
64 744
(296 708)

(348 809)
74 353
(274 456)

(362 027)
64 744
(297 283)

(349 454)
74 353
(275 101)
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22. Contract assets
GROUP

Total contract assets
Summary of contract assets
Products with bundled devices and services
Products with devices only

Reconciliation of contract assets
Opening balance
Effect of cumulative effect method on adoption of IFRS 15
Net renewals, activations and terminations during the year
Expected credit loss allowance (see note 18)

Split between non‑current and current portions
Non‑current assets
Current assets

COMPANY

2020
N$’000
135 480

2019
N$’000
145 551

2020
N$’000
135 480

2019
N$’000
145 551

89 306
46 174
135 480

97 832
47 719
145 551

89 306
46 174
135 480

97 832
47 719
145 551

145 551
–
(4 339)
(5 732)
135 480

–
119 861
32 597
(6 907)
145 551

145 551
–
(4 339)
(5 732)
135 480

–
119 861
32 597
(6 907)
145 551

8 909
126 571
135 480

20 753
124 798
145 551

8 909
126 571
135 480

20 753
124 798
145 551

125

Contract assets are recognised to the extent that performance obligations have been met by the group and revenue has been recognised in accordance with IFRS 15 Revenue, but for which the consideration is not yet
receivable in terms of contractual agreement. Contract assets also include N$46 174 000 (2019: N$47 719 000) related to 24-month phone financing contracts. When the right to consideration becomes unconditional
in terms of the contractual agreement, the contract asset is transferred to trade receivables.

Exposure to credit risk
Contract assets inherently expose the group to credit risk, being the risk that the group will incur financial loss if customers fail to make payments as they fall due.
Refer to note 18 for the expected credit loss allowance disclosure.
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23. Provisions

Reconciliation of provisions

GROUP AND COMPANY – 2020
Severance pay provision

Opening
balance
N$’000
4 532

Service cost
N$’000
480

GROUP AND COMPANY – 2019
Severance pay provision

Benefit
payments
N$’000
(561)

Interest cost
N$’000
368

Total
N$’000
4 819

Opening
balance
N$’000
–

First-time
recognition
N$’000
4 532

Total
N$’000
4 532

An actuarial valuation of the severance pay liability for two years was done for 30 September 2019. The assumption was made that there were minimum movements affecting the assumptions between 30 September
2019 and 30 September 2020 and therefore no new actuarial valuation was performed.
The liability raised relates to severance pay in case of death of employees, due to the fact that the retirement age for employees of the company is 60, severance pay on retirement is not applicable unless an employee
retires on or after the age of 65.
The main assumptions used by the actuaries are as follow:

126

• Key financial assumptions are the rate of discount and the salary inflation rate
• It is the relationship between these two financial assumptions that is critically important, not the absolute value of either assumption
• Assumptions are made with a medium to long-term outlook in mind
• Rate of discount of 8.2% per annum
• Salary inflation rate of 5.4% per annum. In addition, we assume a promotional salary scale applies
• The key demographic assumptions are mortality, withdrawal, retirement and the promotional salary scale
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24. Trade and other payables
Financial instruments:
Trade payables
Interconnect payables
Accruals
Other payables
Non‑financial instruments:
Employee bonus accruals
VAT
Lease smoothlining IAS 17

GROUP

COMPANY

2020
N$’000

2019
N$’000

2020
N$’000

2019
N$’000

198 990
7
171 869
3 496

101 657
–
103 717
3 268

198 946
7
171 821
3 496

101 615
–
103 665
3 268

38 308
21 493
–
434 163

33 966
38 670
31 788
313 066

38 308
21 562
–
434 140

33 966
38 744
31 788
313 046

Payables are non‑interest-bearing and are normally settled on 30‑day terms.
Retention bonus scheme
The company accumulates 13% of an employee’s average cost-to-company package over five years of service and pays 70%
and 30% of the accumulated value out to that employee after the fifth and seventh year of service respectively, provided
the employee reached a performance score of 70% or higher in each of the five years. As this expense is dependent upon an
uncertain future occurrence, the accrual made reflects only an estimate.
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The retention bonus cycle repeats itself from year six.
The reconciliation between the opening balance and closing balance of the retention bonus included in accruals is as follows:
Opening balance at beginning of the year
Paid during the year
Accrued for current year

3 322
(3 322)
4 069
4 069

2 397
(2 397)
3 322
3 322

3 322
(3 322)
4 069
4 069

2 397
(2 397)
3 322
3 322
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24. Trade and other payables (continued)
Exposure to currency risk

The group is exposed to currency risk related to trade payables because certain transactions are denominated in foreign currencies. Exchange rate exposures are managed within approved policy parameters utilising
foreign forward exchange contracts where necessary. The currencies in which the group deals primarily are US Dollars, Euros and Pound Sterling. The net carrying amounts, in Namibia Dollar of trade and other
payables, excluding non‑financial instruments, are denominated in the following currencies. The amounts have been presented in Namibia Dollar by converting the foreign currency amount at the closing rate at the
reporting date.
GROUP
COMPANY
2020
2019
2020
2019
N$’000
N$’000
N$’000
N$’000
Namibia Dollar amount
Namibia Dollar
304 553
266 826
304 461
266 732
US Dollar
25 507
9 182
25 507
9 182
Euro
7 931
2 893
7 931
2 893
CHF
4 907
–
4 907
–
GBP
–
27
–
27
CNY
69 772
–
69 772
–
412 670
278 928
412 578
278 834
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The net carrying amounts, in foreign currency of the above exposure was as follows:
Foreign currency amount
US Dollar
Euro
CHF
GBP
CNY

1 528
405
270
–
28 375

605
174
–
1
–

1 528
405
270
–
28 375

605
174
–
1
–

15.698
19.576
18.175
18.660
2.459

15.169
16.545
14.506
18.477
–

15.698
19.576
18.175
18.660
2.459

15.169
16.545
14.506
18.477
–

The following closing exchange rates were applied to translate trade receivables at reporting date:
Namibia Dollar per unit of foreign currency:
US Dollar
Euro
CHF
GBP
CNY

NAVIGATING OUR OPERATING ENVIRONMENT

OUR 2020 PERFORMANCE UNPACKED

GOING FORWARD

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CORPORATE INFORMATION

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
24. Trade and other payables (continued)
Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

The following information presents the sensitivity of the group to an increase or decrease in the respective currencies it is exposed to with regards to trade and other payables. The sensitivity rate is the rate used
when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes
only outstanding foreign currency denominated trade and other payables and adjusts their translation at the reporting date. No changes were made to the methods and assumptions used in the preparation of the
sensitivity analysis compared to the previous reporting period.

GROUP
Increase or decrease in rate
Impact on profit or loss:
US Dollar 5% (2019: 5%)
Euro 5% (2019: 5%)
CHF 5% (2019: 5%)
GBP 5% (2019: 5%)
CNY 5% (2019: 5%)

2020
Increase
N$’000

2020
Decrease
N$’000

(1 275)
(397)
(245)
–
(3 489)
(5 406)

1 275
397
245
–
3 489
5 406

2019
Increase
N$’000

2019
Decrease
N$’000

(459)
(145)
–
(1)
–
(605)

459
145
–
1
–
605

Fair value of trade and other payables
The fair value of trade and other payables approximates their carrying amounts.

25. Deferred income
GROUP

At the beginning of the year
Airtime sold during the year
Airtime utilised during the year
At the end of the year
Current liabilities
Total

2020
N$’000
142 835
1 967 911
(1 955 651)
155 095
155 095
155 095

2019
N$’000
145 672
1 831 642
(1 834 479)
142 835
142 835
142 835

COMPANY
2020
N$’000
142 835
1 967 911
(1 955 651)
155 095
155 095
155 095

2019
N$’000
145 672
1 831 642
(1 834 479)
142 835
142 835
142 835
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26. Cash generated from operations
GROUP
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Profit before taxation
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation
Net loss/(profit) on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Loss/(profit) on realised foreign exchange
Interest income
Finance costs
Fair value adjustments
Movements in provisions
Operating expenditure transferred from work in progress
Other non-cash movements
Changes in working capital:
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Contract assets
Trade and other payables
Deferred income
Trade and other payables – IFRS 16 implementation

2020
N$’000
1 118 306

COMPANY
2019
N$’000
1 127 206

2020
N$’000
1 118 086

2019
N$’000
1 129 282

319 727
518
13 755
(63 560)
22 592
–
287
–
183

285 355
(916)
(131)
(69 563)
–
2 099
4 532
15
–

319 719
518
13 755
(63 560)
22 592
–
287
–
184

285 347
(916)
(131)
(69 556)
–
–
4 532
15
–

(12 436)
(15 942)
10 071
121 097
12 260
31 788
1 558 646

1 167
28 331
(25 690)
(17 218)
(2 837)
–
1 332 350

(12 436)
(15 916)
10 071
121 094
12 260
31 788
1 558 444

1 167
28 329
(25 690)
(17 208)
(2 837)
–
1 332 334

(13 170)
(333 826)
17 923
(329 073)

2 365
(327 399)
13 170
(311 864)

(13 170)
(333 826)
17 923
(329 073)

2 345
(327 399)
13 190
(311 864)

27. Tax paid
Balance at beginning of the year
Current tax for the year recognised in profit or loss
Balance at the end of the year
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28. Commitments
GROUP

COMPANY

2020
N$’000

2019
N$’000

2020
N$’000

2019
N$’000

353 951
4 378
–
358 329

44 751
15 225
203 787
263 763

353 951
4 378
–
358 329

44 751
15 225
203 787
263 763

396 486
266 154
57 403
720 043

676 272
256 480
98 605
1 031 357

396 486
266 154
57 403
720 043

676 272
256 480
98 605
1 031 357

Capital commitments
Approved and contracted for
Network expansions
Retail stock
Other – property, plant and equipment

Approved and not contracted for
Network expansions
Retail stock
Other – property, plant and equipment
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This expenditure will be financed from cash generated from normal business operations.
Operating leases – as lessee (expense)
Future minimum rentals payable under non‑cancellable operating leases are as follows as of 30 September:
GROUP AND COMPANY – 2020
Within one year
After one year but not more than five years
More than five years

GROUP AND COMPANY – 2019 (IAS 17 comparitives)
Within one year
After one year but not more than five years
More than five years

Premises
Radio sites
Offices/shops
N$’000
N$’000
804
–
2 769
–
12 827
–
16 400
–

30 594
111 909
125 883
268 386

22 455
38 354
6 420
67 229

Total
N$’000
804
2 769
12 827
16 400

53 049
150 263
132 303
335 615
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28. Commitments

Other commitments
Construction deposits
At 30 September 2020 the group had entered into commitments relating to phase 2 of the 081Every1 project. Deposits paid before 30 September 2020 relating to work-in-progress on this project amounted to
N$1 594 million. The final payments for the project will be made upon completion of the project during the 2021 financial year.
The construction deposit balance at 30 September 2019 of N$48 692 related to payments for the SS7 Firewall project. The phase of the projects to which these payments related were completed in the 2020 financial year
and the full deposits were transferred to the relevant capital account before 30 September 2020.

29. Contingencies
Licence fees

The directors note that the supreme court has ruled the current license fee regime unconstitutional and not enforceable from the date of the concurring high court ruling on the matter. The regulator has subsequent to
the ruling by the supreme court, lodged yet a fresh action on the same matter in the high court. Until such time that the high court has made a ruling in terms of the fresh action, the current ruling of the supreme court
stands. The directors fully expect the regulator to implement the license fee regime, once final ruling is made, to be implemented in the financial year when this matter is concluded.
The directors note that the company has also lodged a dispute with the regulator regarding the invoicing for license fees for the numbering plan in use by the company as the invoicing was not done in terms of the
current regulations. Due to the dispute with the regulator, license fees to the value of N$34.01 million was not provided for in the current year financial statements.
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Other contingencies
The directors note that the CRAN ruling requiring the group to list by 5 September 2020 has been amended, with an effective listing date of 5 September 2022. Management anticipate that this revised timeline will
be sufficient to comply with the CRAN ruling.

30. Retirement benefit information
The company operates a defined contribution scheme, the MTC Pension Fund (registration number 25/7/7/390), providing benefits based on the contributions of an employee and is administered by Alexander Forbes.
This fund is registered under and governed by the Namibian Pension Funds Act, 1956, as amended. The fund will be valued every two years. The members of the fund can elect to contribute 7% or the maximum of 14%,
which will be matched by the employer by the percentage elected of the members’ pensionable salaries. All contributions of the company are charged to profit and loss in the statement of comprehensive income as
incurred. Employer contributions for the year are disclosed in note 4. The fair value of the fund’s investments as at the funds’ year-end at 31 March 2020 were N$233 391 955 (2019: N$229 077 875).
In addition to the pension fund, the company also operates a group life scheme covering 100% of the total number of employees in cases of death and/ or permanent disability.
The group does not currently bear and is in no way contractually liable for the cost of funding post-retirement medical aid benefits. The contribution to the Medical Aid Fund should an employee choose to continue
membership of the scheme on retirement, is payable by the retiree.
A statutory actuarial valuation was performed on 31 March 2019 and the valuation reported that the fund was in a sound financial position. Actuarial valuations are performed in in intervals not exceeding three years.
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31. Bank overdraft
The company has unsecured overdraft facilities at First National Bank Namibia totaling N$ 1 million (2019: N$1 million). The EFT (same-day service) at Standard Bank Namibia is N$5 million (2019: N$5 million), while the
Debit and Credit Run facility is N$40 million (2019: N$40 million) from First National Bank Namibia.
The group has an presettlement FEC facility at First National Bank Namibia of N$20 million (2019: N$20 million) and a FEC Trading facility at Standard Bank Namibia of N$40 million (2019: N$40 million).

32. Financial instruments and risk management
Financial risk management
Overview

The group is exposed mainly to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:
• credit risk;
• liquidity risk; and
• market risk (currency risk).
The group’s principal financial liabilities, comprise of trade payables. The group has no interest-bearing borrowings. The main purpose of these financial liabilities is to raise finance for the group’s operations. The group
has various financial assets such as trade receivables and cash and short-term deposits, which arise directly from its operations.
There has been no significant change during the financial year, or since the end of the financial year, to the types of financial risks faced by the group, the approach to measurement of these financial risks or the objectives,
policies and processes for managing these financial risks.
The Board of Directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks which are summarised below.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations.
The group trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. It is the group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. Refer to note 18 for the maximum
exposure to credit risk within the group.
With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets of the company, which comprise cash and cash equivalents and short-term deposits with well-known reputable Namibian banks, the company’s exposure
to credit risk arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these balances. Refer to note 18 for the maximum exposure of the group.
There has been no significant change during the financial year, or since the end of the financial year, to the group’s exposure to credit risk, the approach to the measurement or the objectives, policies and processes for
managing this risk.

Liquidity risk
These risks may occur if the sources of funding, including operating cash flows, credit lines and cash flows obtained from financing operations, do not match with the group’s financing needs, such as operating and
financing outflows, investments, shareholder remuneration and debt repayments.
The group has minimised its risk of illiquidity by ensuring that it has adequate banking facilities and reserve borrowing capacity as well as forecasting and managing available cash reserves.
The group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using monthly management accounts and general cash flow projections.
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32. Financial instruments and risk management (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the group’s financial liabilities at 30 September based on undiscounted contractual amounts.

Note(s)

Less than
1 year
N$’000

1 to 2 years
N$’000

2 to 5 years
N$’000

Over 5 years
N$’000

Total
N$’000

Carrying
amount
N$’000

42 301
–
42 301

98 711
–
98 711

204 817
–
204 817

391 319
374 362
765 681

227 918
374 362
602 280

208 642

208 642

391 319
374 270
765 589

227 918
374 270
602 188

208 548

208 548

Group – 2020
Lease liabilities
Trade and other payables

24

45 490
374 362
419 858

Group – 2019
Trade and other payables

24

208 642

Company – 2020
Lease liabilities
Trade and other payables

24

45 490
374 270
419 763

Company – 2019
Trade and other payables

24

208 548

134

42 301
–
42 301

98 711
–
98 711

204 817
–
204 817
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32. Financial instruments and risk management (continued)
Financial risk management (continued)
Foreign currency risk
Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.
The group incurs currency risk as a result of the following transactions which are denominated in a currency other than Namibia Dollar or South African Rand: purchases of equipment, consulting fees and borrowings.
The currencies which primarily give rise to currency risk are the US Dollar (USD); Euro (EU); Swiss Francs (CHF), Chinese Yuan (CNY) and British Pound (GBP). At 30 September 2020, the group has not hedged any (2019:
none) of its foreign currency creditors for which firm commitments existed at the reporting date.
Details of foreign currency risk exposure are contained in the relevant notes throughout these financial statements.
For Trade and other receivables, refer to note 18.
For Cash and cash equivalents, refer to note 19.
For Trade and other payables, refer to note 24.

Capital risk management
The primary objective of the company’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value.
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The capital structure of the group consists of debt, cash and cash equivalents and equity.
The group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the group may issue new shares or obtain additional funding
from its shareholders.
No changes were made in the objectives, policies and processes during the years ended 30 September 2020 and 30 September 2019.
The group is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
The capital structure and gearing ratio of the group at the reporting date was as follows:
GROUP
Note(s)
Lease liabilities
Trade and other payables
Provisions
Total borrowings
Cash and cash equivalents
Net borrowings
Equity
Gearing ratio

24
23

19

COMPANY

2020
N$’000
227 918
434 163
4 819
666 900

2019
N$’000
–
313 066
4 532
317 598

2020
N$’000
227 918
434 140
4 819
666 877

2019
N$’000
–
313 046
4 532
317 578

777 581
110 681

1 044 858
727 260

777 537
110 660

1 044 809
727 231

2 126 149

2 309 888

2 123 510

2 307 398

(5)%

(31)%

(5)%

(32)%

Integrated Annual Report 2020

AN OVERVIEW OF MTC’S 2020 INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT

A SNAPSHOT OF MTC

HOW WE GOVERN MTC

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S STRATEGIC OVERVIEW

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
32. Financial instruments and risk management (continued)
Capital risk management (continued)
Categories of financial instruments
Categories of financial assets

Note(s)
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Amortised
cost
N$’000

Total
N$’000

Group – 2020
Loans to employees
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Contract assets

17
18
19
22

2 849
128 710
777 581
135 480
1 044 620

2 849
128 710
777 581
135 480
1 044 620

Group – 2019
Loans to employees
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Contract assets

17
18
19
22

2 841
116 455
1 044 858
145 551
1 309 705

2 841
116 455
1 044 858
145 551
1 309 705

15

458
3 240
2 849
128 662
777 537
135 480
1 048 226

458
3 240
2 849
128 662
777 537
135 480
1 048 226

458
3 449
2 841
116 433
1 044 809
145 551
1 313 541

458
3 449
2 841
116 433
1 044 809
145 551
1 313 541

Company – 2020
Investments in subsidiaries
Loans to subsidiaries
Loans to employees
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Contract assets

Company – 2019
Investments in subsidiaries
Loans to subsidiaries
Loans to employees
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Contract assets

17
18
19
22

15
17
18
19
22
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32. Financial instruments and risk management (continued)
Capital risk management (continued)
Categories of financial instruments (continued)
Categories of financial liabilities

Note(s)

Amortised
cost
N$’000

Group – 2020
Trade and other payables
Finance lease obligations

24
11

374 362
227 918
602 280

Group – 2019
Trade and other payables

24

208 642

Company – 2020
Trade and other payables
Finance lease obligations

24
11

374 270
227 918
602 188

Leases
N$’000

Total
N$’000
374 362
227 918
602 280

31 788

240 430

374 270
227 918
602 188

Company – 2019
Trade and other payables

24

208 548

31 788

240 336
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33. Fair value information
The fair values of all financial instruments are substantially the same as the carrying values reflected in the statements of financial positions, for both the group and the company.

Fair value hierarchy
The group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by valuation technique:
Level 1: Quoted unadjusted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the group can access at measurement date.
Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included in level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability either directly or indirectly.
Level 3: Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Valuation techniques
Forward contracts are valued by marking to market the forward contract with the exchange rate prevalent on each day in an active market.
Trade and other receivables are valued at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, which substantially equals their fair value.
Trade and other payables are valued at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, which substantially equals their fair value.
Long-term liabilities are discounted at the effective discount rate applicable to the risks associated with the financial instruments.
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As at 30 September 2020, the group did not hold any financial instruments measured at fair value (2019: Nil).
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34. Related parties
Related party relationships exist between the company and its subsidiaries, fellow subsidiary, shareholders and key management. All transactions with related parties occurred under terms no less favourable than those
arranged with third parties.

Subsidiaries
Details of income and expenditure relating to subsidiaries and investments in subsidiaries are disclosed in notes 4 and 15 respectively. No interest is charged on loans to subsidiaries.

Key management
The key management personnel of the company comprise the Executive Committee and the General Managers. Amounts paid to key management are disclosed under directors’ emoluments and key management
remuneration in note 7.

Shareholder
The shareholder of the company is noted in the directors’ report. The only significant transactions related to the shareholder is rentals paid to the shareholder and dividends. The shareholder of the company is noted in
the directors’ report. The only significant transactions related to the shareholder is rentals paid to the shareholder and dividends.

Fellow subsidiaries
The group has an inter-connect agreement with fellow subsidiaries regarding call traffic between the two companies and rent fibre optic lines for its operations from a fellow subsidiary.
Additional transactions include courier, telephone and fax services, sale of prepaid products and maintenance of the WACS cable.
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Ultimate controlling party
The group is required to disclose, in terms of IAS 24 – Related Parties, the ultimate controlling party and any transactions with such ultimate controlling party and any other entities which are also controlled by the same
ultimate controlling party, but which is not a subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the group.
During the current year as a result of the promulgation of the PEGA, the ultimate controlling entity changed from the Ministry of Information, Communication and Technology to the Ministry of Public Enterprise.
Transactions with entities under the purview of Ministry of Information, Communication and Technology include licensing fees for the provision of telecommunication services to CRAN, site leases as well as a lease
agreement for broadcasting equipment in exchange for advertising airtime with Namibia Broadcasting Corporation (NBC).
Transactions with the Ministry of Public Enterprise and any other state-owned enterprises controlled by the Ministry of Public Enterprise involves site leases and standard service agreements. Both these types of
transactions are concluded on commercial terms on the same grounds as it would be concluded with any other supplier and customer and for this purpose is not defined and disclosed separately per entity.
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34. Related parties (continued)
Relationships
Ultimate controlling party at 30 September 2020
Holding company
Subsidiaries
Members of key management

Related party balances
Loan accounts – Owing (to)/by related parties
Jurgens Thirty Four Proprietary Limited
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Balance receivable from fellow subsidiaries:
Telecom Namibia
NamPost Courier
Balance receivable from shareholder:
Namibia Post and Telecommunications Holdings
Balance payable to fellow subsidiaries:
NamPost Courier
Telecom Namibia
Powercom
Related-party transactions
Property, plant and equipment purchased from fellow subsidiaries:
Telecom Namibia
Namibia Post and Telecommunications Holdings
Rent paid to related parties:
Namibia Post and Telecommunications Holdings
Lease lines paid to/(received from) fellow subsidiaries:
Telecom Namibia

Ministry of Public Enterprises of the Republic of Namibia
Namibia Post and Telecommunications Holdings Limited
Refer to note 15
LR Erastus
MJ Smit
PN Kanalelo
T Ekandjo
M Angula
M Nehemia
A de Jager (resigned 31 October 2020)
L Tjitandi
P Mushimba
C Mouton
V Tuneeko (Acting appointment)
R Cloete (Acting appointment)

2020
N$’000

2019
N$’000

2020
N$’000

2019
N$’000

–

–

3 240

3 449

13 605
18 053

6 936
54

13 605
18 053

6 936
54

–

2

–

2

(7 977)
(2 043)
(30)

(2 817)
(10 208)
(267)

(7 977)
(2 043)
(30)

(2 817)
(10 208)
(267)

–
–

4 376
161 560

–
–

4 376
161 560

5 967

17 170

5 967

17 170

19 668

23 211

19 668

23 211
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34. Related parties (continued)
GROUP

Postage and courier charges paid to fellow subsidiaries:
Nampost Namibia
Telephone and fax paid to fellow subsidiaries:
Telecom Namibia
Prepaid airtime sales to Nampost Namibia:
Sales
Dealer discount
Net sales
Net site rentals received from fellow subsidiaries:
Telecom Namibia
Powercom
Net inter-connect fees (received from) paid to fellow subsidiaries:
Telecom Namibia
Other transactions:
WACS payment – Telecom Namibia
Consultation fees – NPTH
Subsistence and travel allowance – Ministry of Information Communication Technology

COMPANY

2020
N$’000

2019
N$’000

2020
N$’000

2019
N$’000

4 051

5 038

4 051

5 038

675

228

675

228

(317 381)
47 671
(269 710)

(327 783)
51 289
(276 494)

(317 381)
47 671
(269 710)

(327 783)
51 289
(276 494)

(20 142)
13 665

(11 018)
12 575

(20 142)
13 665

(11 018)
12 575

(6 654)

(7 901)

(6 654)

(7 901)

4 751
–
–

3 723
306
163

4 751
–
–

3 723
306
163

35. Approval of annual financial statements
These annual financial statements have been approved by the Board of Directors on 7 December 2020.
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Company Secretary and registered address

Bank Windhoek Limited

Legal advisors

Mobile Telecommunications Limited

Third Floor, Capricorn House

Shikongo Law Chambers

MTC House, corner Mosé Tjitendero and

119 Independence Avenue, Windhoek

4 Banting Street, Windhoek West, Windhoek

Hamutenya Wanahepo Ndadi Streets

PO Box 15, Windhoek, Namibia

PO Box 96350, Windhoek, Namibia

Olympia, Windhoek, Namibia

Tel +264 61 299 1111

Att Mr Elias Shikongo

PO Box 23051, Windhoek, Namibia
Registration number: 94/458
Att Ms Stephanie Elago
Tel +264 61 280 2000
Fax +264 61 280 2696
Email selago@mtc.com.na
Web www.mtc.com.na
Holding company
Namibia Post and Telecommunications Holdings
Proprietary Limited
Jucticia Building, Block D, First Floor
Independence Avenue
PO Box 3913, Windhoek, Namibia
Registration number: 92/283
Att Kristofine Itembu
Tel +264 61 201 2646
Email ltembuk@telecom.na
Commercial bankers to MTC
Standard Bank Namibia Holdings Limited
Corner Werner List and Post Street Mall, Second Floor,
Town Square Building, Windhoek
Private Bag 13177, Windhoek, Namibia
Tel +264 61 294 2322

Tel +264 61 254 644/5

Nedbank Namibia
55 Rehobother Road, Snyman Circle
Ausspanplatz, Windhoek

Cell +264 81 124 9298
Email ens@mweb.com.na

PO Box 1, Windhoek, Namibia

Auditors and reporting accountants

Tel +264 61 295 2432

Deloitte Namibia

Joint sponsors and placement agents
IJG Securities Proprietary Limited
Member of the NSX
Registration number: 95/505
Fourth Floor, 1@Steps
Corner Grove and Chassie Streets, Windhoek
PO Box 186, Windhoek, Namibia

Deloitte Building, Maerua Mall, Jan Jonker Road, Windhoek
PO Box 47, Windhoek, Namibia
Att Mssrs Piquet Fisher/Johann Cronje
Tel +264 61 285 5009/+264 61 285 5002
Cell +264 81 633 8876/+264 81 146 3663
Email pfisher@deloitte.co.za
Email jocronje@deloitte.co.za

Att Mark Spath

Transfer secretaries

Tel +264 61 383 500

Transfer Secretaries Proprietary Limited

Fax +264 61 304 671

Registration number: 93/713

Email mark@ijg.net

4 Robert Mugabe Avenue

PSG Wealth Management (Namibia) Proprietary Limited
Member of the NSX
Registration number: 98/528
First Floor, PSG Building
5 Conradie Street, Windhoek
PO Box 196, Windhoek, Namibia
Att Brian van Rensburg

FirstRand Namibia Limited

Tel +264 61 378 900

Parkside, 130 Independence Avenue, Windhoek

Fax +264 61 285 901

Private Bag 13239, Windhoek, Namibia

Email brian@psg.com.na

Tel +264 61 299 8105

GREYMATTERFINCH # 14758

(entrance Dr Theo Ben Gurirab Street), Windhoek
PO Box 2401, Windhoek, Namibia
Att Alexandrea Ullrich
Tel +264 61 227 647
Fax +264 61 248 531
Email alexandreah@nsx.com.na

